
 
 

UNITED STATES 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549 
  

FORM 10-K
  

☒ ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 

OR 
 

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from ___________ to ___________.

Commission File Number 001-37979
  

VERRA MOBILITY CORPORATION
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) 

  
  

Delaware   81-3563824
(State of Incorporation)   (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

     
     

1150 North Alma School Road 
Mesa, Arizona

 
85201

(Address of Principal Executive Offices)   (Zip Code)

(480) 443-7000
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
 

(Title of Each Class)   (Trading Symbol)   (Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered)
Class A Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share   VRRM   Nasdaq Capital Market

Warrants to purchase Class A Common Stock   VRRMW   OTC Pink Marketplace
  
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:  None

 

 

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.  Yes   ☒  No    ☐  
 

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.  Yes  ☐  No   ☒
 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for 
such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes  ☒    No  ☐ 
 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) 
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files).    Yes  ☒      No  ☐ 
 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company or an emerging growth company. See the 
definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. 
  
Large accelerated filer ☒ Accelerated filer ☐

Non-accelerated filer ☐ Smaller reporting company ☐

    Emerging growth company ☐
 

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting 
standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.  ☐ 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting under Section 
404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report.  ☒
 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).    Yes  ☐    No  ☒ 
 

The aggregate market value of the voting and non‑voting common equity held by non‑affiliates of the registrant on June 30, 2021, computed by reference to the closing price reported on the 
Nasdaq Capital Market on such date was $2,103,974,431 (136,888,382 shares at a closing price per share of $15.37). 
 

As of April 20, 2022, the registrant had 156,225,265 shares of Class A Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share, issued and outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of the registrant’s proxy statement to be filed in connection with its annual meeting of stockholders to be held May 24, 2022 are incorporated by reference into Part III of this Form 10-K.
 

 
 



 
VERRA MOBILITY CORPORATION

FORM 10-K
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2021

INDEX
PART I 4

Item 1. Business 4

Item 1A. Risk Factors 13

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments 38

Item 2. Properties 38

Item 3. Legal Proceedings 39

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 39

PART II 40

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 40

Item 6. Selected Financial Data 42

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 43

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 61

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 62

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 109

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 109

Item 9B. Other Information 111

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections 111

PART III 112

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 112

Item 11. Executive Compensation 112

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 112

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence 112

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 112

PART IV 113

Item 15. Exhibit and Financial Statement Schedules 113

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary 119

SIGNATURES 120

POWER OF ATTORNEY 121

Appendix A, Schedule II 122

 

2



 
Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of federal securities laws. All statements contained in 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K other than statements of historical fact, including statements regarding our future operating results and financial position, 
our business strategy and plans, products, services, and technology offerings, future impacts or disruption to our business as a result of the novel 
coronavirus (“COVID-19”), market conditions, growth and trends, expected cost reductions, synergies related to our recent or future acquisitions, 
expansion plans and opportunities and our objectives for future operations, are forward-looking statements. The words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,” 
“continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,” “could,” “would,” “project,” “plan,” “potentially,” “preliminary,” “likely,” and similar expressions are 
intended to identify forward-looking statements. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about 
future events and trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy, short-term and long-term business 
operations and objectives, and financial needs. 

These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties, and assumptions, including those described under Part I, Item 1A, 
“Risk Factors.” Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible for 
our management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the effect of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, 
may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. In light of these risks, uncertainties, 
and assumptions, the future events and trends discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may not occur and actual results could differ materially and 
adversely from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements.

You should not rely on forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. The events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking 
statements may not occur. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee that 
the future results, performance, or events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur. We undertake no 
obligation to update any of these forward-looking statements for any reason after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or to conform these 
statements to actual results or revised expectations.

Unless the context indicates otherwise, as used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the terms “Verra Mobility,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and 
“our” refer to Verra Mobility Corporation, a Delaware corporation, and its subsidiaries taken as a whole.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

Overview
We are a leading provider of smart mobility technology solutions and services throughout the United States, Australia, Europe and Canada. We 

provide integrated technology solutions and services which include toll and violations management, title and registration, automated safety solutions, 
parking enforcement and citation and other data driven solutions to our customers, which include rental car companies (“RACs”), fleet management 
companies (“FMCs”), other large fleet owners, municipalities, school districts, universities, parking operators, healthcare facilities, transportation hubs and 
other violation-issuing authorities. Our solutions simplify the smart mobility ecosystem by utilizing what we believe are industry-leading capabilities, 
information and technology expertise, and integrated hardware and software to efficiently facilitate the automated processing of tolls and violations, 
automated safety, and parking solutions for hundreds of agencies and millions of end users annually, while also making cities and roadways safer for 
everyone.

Based in Mesa, Arizona, we operate through three primary segments – Commercial Services, Government Solutions and Parking Solutions. 
Through our Commercial Services segment, we believe we are the market-leading provider of automated toll and violations management and title and 
registration solutions to RACs, FMCs and other large fleet owners in the United States and Canada. In Europe, we provide violations processing through 
Euro Parking Collection plc (“EPC”) and consumer tolling services through Pagatelia S.L (“Pagatelia”). Through our Government Solutions segment, we 
believe we are the market-leading provider of automated safety solutions to municipalities, counties, school districts and law enforcement agencies (which 
are collectively referred to herein as “local government agencies”), including services and technology that enable photo enforcement via road safety 
camera programs related to red-light, speed, school bus, and city bus lanes. Through our Parking Solutions segment, we provide end-to-end parking 
management solutions to universities, parking operators, healthcare facilities and municipalities in North America.

Segments 

Commercial Services 
 

Our Commercial Services segment generated approximately $260.9 million in revenue for 2021, or approximately 47.4% of our total revenue. The 
Commercial Services segment is the market-leading provider of automated toll and violations management and title and registration solutions to RACs, 
FMCs and other large fleet owners in North America and Europe. Through our established relationships with more than 50 individual tolling authorities 
throughout the United States, we provide an automated and outsourced administrative solution for our customers while also providing a value-added 
convenience for vehicle drivers and benefits to the tolling and issuing authorities. Without our toll and violations management solutions, our customers 
would bear the expense and administrative burden of matching tolls or violations to the responsible vehicle and driver, and then either transferring liability 
or paying the fee or fine directly (for which it may then need to bill the driver) – in either case within specified time periods to avoid the potential 
imposition of penalties. We mitigate these risks by ensuring timely payment for tolls and violations incurred by our customers’ vehicles or by performing 
timely transfers of liability on our customers’ behalf, and then billing and collecting from the driver as applicable. We also manage regional toll 
transponder installation and vehicle association, an especially critical and highly complex component for RAC and FMC customers, to ensure that the 
transponder (and corresponding toll transactions) are associated with the correct vehicle.
 

We have long-standing relationships with the three largest RACs in the United States, Avis Budget Group, Enterprise Holdings, Inc. and The Hertz 
Corporation, among others. We also have relationships with key European RACs and the six largest FMCs in the United States, which are Element, ARI, 
Enterprise Fleet Management, Wheels, LeasePlan and Donlen. We provide coverage for more than 95% of all toll roads in the United States, one toll road 
in Canada, and multiple toll roads in France, Ireland and Spain, processing more than 224 million toll transactions and 1.4 million traffic violations in 2021. 
In Europe, our customer base includes violation-issuing authorities and we offer services including identification, notification, and collection of unpaid 
traffic, parking, and public transportation-related violations incurred by drivers not originating in the country where the violation occurred. 
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Government Solutions 

Our Government Solutions segment generated approximately $283.2 million in revenue for 2021, or approximately 51.4% of our total revenue. This 
segment works with local government agencies to help make cities and roadways safer for everyone through automated safety solutions. In the United 
States, we provide local government agencies with road safety cameras to detect and process traffic violations for red-light, speed, school bus, and city bus 
lanes. Our proprietary hardware and software technologies provide local government agencies the information, data, and automated end-to-end 
administrative capabilities to enforce traffic violations through photo enforcement. On behalf of our customers, we install, maintain, and manage automated 
safety solution hardware and software that processes event data, applies customer specific rules and connects a traffic violation to the responsible driver or 
vehicle owner. Additionally, upon law enforcement’s determination that a violation has occurred, we manage the citation mailing, billing, and other 
administrative tasks on behalf of many of our customers. For customers outside of the United States, we design, engineer, and maintain roadside photo 
enforcement technology, which is sold to local municipalities and maintained with maintenance contracts to support the technology.

We are a critical partner to local government agencies around the world, helping to facilitate and increase public safety, improve public 
transportation, enhance law enforcement officer safety and act as a police force multiplier by allowing law enforcement to focus on serious crimes rather 
than routine traffic violations. In North America, we currently have more than 9,000 red-light, speed, school bus and city bus lane road safety cameras 
installed across approximately 265 jurisdictions and school districts in 23 states, the District of Columbia and four provinces. On an annual basis, we 
process approximately 13.8 million violations on behalf of our municipality and school district customers, including New York City, Nassau County (New 
York), Chicago, Baltimore, New Orleans, Orange County (Florida) and Seattle. Outside of the United States, we have partnered with 15 agencies, including 
state governments and police departments, to provide photo enforcement programs. Our current combined international client base includes over 1,300 
systems, with products including red light, fixed speed, mobile speed, point-to-point speed, railroad crossing, bus lane enforcement and weigh-in-motion 
solutions. In June 2021, we completed our acquisition of Redflex Holdings Limited (“Redflex”), which expanded our presence in North America, Europe 
and Australia.  
 
Parking Solutions
 

We formed our Parking Solutions business unit after our acquisition of T2 Systems Parent Corporation (“T2 Systems”) in the fourth quarter of 2021. 
Our Parking Solutions segment generated $6.5 million in revenue for the post-acquisition period of December 7 to December 31, 2021. Our Parking 
Solutions segment is a North American leader of end-to-end commercial parking management solutions in the markets we serve. This segment serves over 
2,000 customers in the university, municipal, healthcare and commercial operator markets. Our proprietary software and hardware technologies provides 
our customers with solutions needed to manage and monetize parking and enforcement operations. In 2021, we processed over 115,000 transactions using 
our various parking solutions systems. Each need requires technology solutions for parking access and revenue control, single- and multi-space pay 
stations, integrated physical and mobile payments, back-office parking rate management, permit issuance and management, online citation payment, event 
parking, occupancy, and back-office management of violations, amongst other requirements.
 

The Parking Solutions segment has over 2,000 customers throughout the United States and Canada. Customers include top-tier university customers, 
such as Arizona State University and Texas A&M University, as well as major municipalities and commercial parking operators, such as City of Houston, 
EasyPark Vancouver, MD Anderson Cancer Center, Reef Technologies, SP+ and Diamond Parking. In December 2021, we completed an acquisition of 
NuPark (“NuPark”) which expanded our presence in the United States.

The Industries in Which We Operate 

Tolling 
Tolling is an important feature of the United States transportation landscape, with United States tolling authorities collecting over $20 billion in toll 

revenues in 2020. As a result, tolling is one of the most effective and equitable ways to pay for highway infrastructure. In addition to the overall growth in 
tolling reflected in the U.S. Department of Transportation Federal Highway Administration’s tracking of total toll bridge, tunnel and road mileage, there is 
also a growing movement towards cashless and all-electronic tolling, which allows for more 
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convenient, accurate and reliable processing and collection of toll incurrence fees and mitigates congestion on toll roads. The tolling industry is highly 
fragmented and complex as it is comprised of more than 50 individual tolling authorities, each operating as independent organizations with specific 
coverage regions and disparate technology platforms. 

Commercial Fleet 

Our Commercial Services customers consist of RACs, FMCs and other large fleet owners. RAC industry revenue in the United States are estimated 
to have grown 21% in 2021 compared to 2020, due to a partial recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic. The approximately $28 billion United States RAC 
industry is highly consolidated, with three companies accounting for a significant majority of United States RAC revenues in 2021. In addition to the larger 
nationwide RACs, smaller independent companies operate regionally throughout the United States. While the COVID-19 pandemic negatively affected 
RAC industry trends in fiscal 2020, the length of rentals returned to previous seasonality patterns beginning in the second half of 2020 and the RAC 
industry was positively impacted by increases in the average number of days vehicles were rented in 2021. The industry is also being impacted by the 
growth in usage cases for rental cars in urban areas and partnerships with rideshare providers to rent vehicles to their independent drivers, leading to 
additional rental transactions. The fleet industry in North America is primarily centered on vocational vehicles utilized for transporting people along with 
the tools, parts and equipment required to perform their jobs, largely insulating the industry from disruptions caused by today’s rideshare and carshare 
services. Management believes the European RAC market, while more fragmented than the U.S. market, is large in size. 

Automated Safety 

As the number of vehicle miles traveled continues to increase and cities and municipalities wrestle with the evolving challenges of managing traffic 
congestion, road safety and accessible transportation networks, automated enforcement solutions continue to serve as an effective tool for comprehensive 
safety and mobility initiatives. According to United States Department of Transportation statistics, almost 95% of people who die using U.S. transportation 
networks are killed on our streets, roads and highways, resulting in more than 350,000 deaths between 2011 and 2020. In 2020, the Congressional Research 
Service found cameras to be an effective tool for law enforcement and other agencies to reduce the number of traffic-related violations, collisions, injuries 
and fatalities, and the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials has called on states to support greater use of automated speed 
enforcement. New York City’s Automated Speed Enforcement Program 2014-2020 Report,  noted a 72% average reduction in dangerous speeding at its 
fixed camera locations. Additionally, programs like Vision Zero, a collaborative campaign helping communities reach their goals of eliminating all traffic 
fatalities and severe injuries, across most major U.S. cities and around the world, are driving capital investment to make meaningful strides in traffic safety.

Parking
The parking industry consists of a highly fragmented mix of end customers, including universities, municipalities, private operators, healthcare 

providers and airports, among other industries. These customers each have different parking needs such as off-street parking, on-street parking, permits, 
enforcement and consumer engagement. T2 Systems has customer relationships with more than 21% of higher education institutions in its target tiers, and 
about 5% of municipal customers in its target tiers according to internal analysis. The broader parking market in which T2 System’s operates – North 
American municipalities, universities and healthcare providers – represents up to a $4 billion market according to a 2020 market estimate.

Growth Strategies 
Benefit from Strong Industry Tailwinds 

We believe there is significant opportunity in Commercial Services, Government Solutions and Parking Solutions as states, counties, municipalities, 
universities, parking operators, healthcare facilities and transportation hubs seek creative solutions to address safety initiatives, reduced tax revenues and 
budgets for roads and other transportation infrastructure.

In Commercial Services, we believe that as state and local governments fund a growing list of infrastructure, maintenance and construction projects, 
there will be an increase in the number of toll roads, including new express 
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and high occupancy lanes in urban areas. We expect this trend will also increase utilization of dynamic tolling, which allows toll rates to fluctuate based on 
traffic trends and real-time congestion. In addition, over 60% of the toll roads in the United States have transitioned to cashless or all-electronic payment. 
These trends create significant opportunities for us to expand our market presence while developing relationships with both new and existing RACs, FMCs, 
consumers and tolling authorities. 

In Government Solutions, public attention given to traffic safety issues for drivers, pedestrians, children, bicyclists and law enforcement is 
intensifying and state and local governments are facing shortfalls in transportation revenue. In this context, smart technology solutions have emerged as an 
effective and revenue-positive method to address traffic safety issues. We believe that as public focus intensifies, the demand for our Government Solutions 
offerings will grow as well, and that we are positioned to take advantage of these opportunities. 

In Parking Solutions, all market segments are focused on strategies to offset costs in reaction to downturns caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and 
market participants are struggling to attract and retain labor.  At the same time, consumers are increasingly willing to adopt mobile solutions to simplify 
their transportation needs, creating market opportunities to advance self-service options. We believe that technology solutions that provide mobile-first, 
self-service offerings, improve operational efficiency, reduce reliance on parking-related labor, and commercial models that reduce up-front costs provide 
solutions for market needs and establish a long-term operating model.

Expand Platform with New Products and New and Growing End Markets 
We are an industry leader in the deployment of products and services that meet the increasingly complex and continuously evolving requirements of 

both existing and new customers. We are continuously looking toward the future, ensuring the development of relevant solutions today that will work 
tomorrow. We seek to understand developing customer, consumer, and government trends that will shape tomorrow’s smart mobility experiences both in 
the United States and internationally, all in an effort to ensure more people around the world reach their destination safely and efficiently. 

 
We believe leveraging our differentiated capabilities into new and growing end markets, such as ridesharing, carsharing and autonomous vehicles, 

provides attractive growth opportunities. The ridesharing and carsharing market, which includes vehicles leased to individual drivers, gives us a low-risk 
opportunity to grow Commercial Services revenues while at the same time insulating us from any market shift between ridesharing, carsharing and RACs. 
Further, this growth prospect comes at little additional investment as we are able to leverage the same technologies and solutions we have already 
developed for our RAC and FMC customers. As an already established leader, we believe we are well-positioned to be a first mover and to become a 
provider of choice in these new end markets. 

Urban enforcement, curb management and citation processing solutions in the smart city movement also present significant opportunities for us. Our 
existing technologies and solutions could be adapted to take advantage of this market, providing an additional avenue for growth. 

As state and local governments seek solutions to increase mobility and safety solutions in a challenging revenue environment, our Government 
Solutions business unit represents an opportunity to leverage our long-standing relationships with state and local governments in order to provide other 
smart mobility technology solutions, such as automatic license plate recognition, parking payment and enforcement, and new developing urban mobility 
technologies.

Expand Global Footprint 

We believe there is significant opportunity to expand into attractive markets across Europe and beyond, and to that end, we have established our 
European headquarters in Amsterdam, the Netherlands, from which we have launched our RAC and FMC tolling solution business in Europe. Our 
European tolling business has established relationships with tolling authorities throughout Spain, Portugal, France, Italy and Ireland, through which we 
offer interoperable electronic tolling directly to consumers, through white-label partnerships and to RAC customers, depending on location. We also gained 
certification as a European Electronic Toll Service (“EETS”) provider in Spain in June 2021. EETS regulation applies to all European Union member states 
with current or future toll infrastructure development plans. Additionally, our European violations business can provide services in more than 20 languages 
and more than 10 currencies and to leverage existing connections with approximately 30 vehicle licensing authorities and over 600 toll and ticket-issuing 
authorities for whom we bill violators in more than 135 
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countries. Furthermore, in June 2021, we closed an agreement to acquire Redflex, which expanded our Government Solutions business into Australia and 
Europe, and enhances our existing presence in the United States and Canada.

Pursue Accretive Acquisitions 

In addition to organic growth initiatives, we have significant opportunities to increase our competitive positioning and strengthen our portfolio of 
products and solutions through strategic acquisitions. We have demonstrated the ability to identify and execute strategic acquisitions, as we did with 
Redflex and T2 Systems in 2021. We constantly monitor the market for potential acquisition targets, which are evaluated based on their potential strategic 
impact, including growth potential, synergies, end-market development, customer relationships, technology, and cash flow. Our management team has a 
strong record of pursing accretive acquisitions, and, where applicable, integrating acquisitions and driving synergies, and has identified a strong pipeline for 
future acquisitions. 

Products 

Commercial Services 

Toll management solutions
We provide fully outsourced toll management solutions for our RAC and FMC customers while also providing a value-added convenience for 

vehicle drivers via our established relationships and integrations with more than 50 individual tolling authorities throughout the United States. This 
comprehensive network allows RAC and FMC drivers the convenience of using cashless and all-electronic tolls. Additionally, this service helps prevent the 
liability and business disruption of costly toll violations incurred by vehicles owned by RAC and FMC customers and eliminates their need to manage a 
nationwide program internally. Our proprietary software technology and hardware allow us to effectively match a toll to the specific RAC or FMC vehicle 
and driver so that the toll can accurately and reliably be billed and collected on behalf of, or directly from, the RAC or FMC. Toll management solutions 
accounted for approximately 40% of our 2021 revenues. 

Violations management solutions

Our violations management solutions process violations incurred by the drivers of RAC and FMC vehicles by working with more than 8,000 
domestic violation-issuing authorities (more than 400 of which we are directly integrated with) to either pay the fine on behalf of the vehicle owner (for 
which we are able to bill the driver) or to transfer liability directly to the vehicle driver. Vehicle-issued violations include parking and photo enforcement 
violations. In Europe, we specialize in the identification, notification, and collection of unpaid traffic, parking and public transport related fees, charges, 
and penalties issued to foreign registered vehicles or persons on behalf of issuing authorities in more than 17 European countries. Violation management 
solutions accounted for approximately 5% of our 2021 revenues. 

Title and registration solutions

Our title and registration solutions provide RAC and FMC customers with an integrated, end-to-end solution for managing vehicle titles and 
registrations and annual renewals. We provide automated title and registration solutions by leveraging connections with individual departments of motor 
vehicles for electronic title and registration processing in 20 states. Title and registration solutions accounted for approximately 2% of our 2021 revenues. 

Government Solutions 

We serve as a value-add partner to local government agencies by providing photo enforcement solutions that promote traffic safety and reduce 
traffic violations. We work with our customers to identify problematic traffic areas and install, maintain, and manage the technology platform needed to 
capture images or videos of drivers committing traffic violations. Red-light cameras are placed at intersections to capture vehicles running red lights. 
Similarly, speed safety cameras are used to capture vehicles exceeding speed limits, either on a fixed basis or in a mobile platform, and often in school 
zones. School bus cameras are fixed to the side of buses to capture vehicles passing school buses with extended stop arms. Finally, bus lane cameras are 
designed to capture vehicles illegally driving in restricted bus lanes. 

Applying rules specified by each customer, we automatically send the captured event to the designated enforcement agency of the customer, where 
an authorized individual determines if a violation occurred. Direct 
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service revenue from red-light cameras, speed cameras, school bus cameras, and city bus lane cameras accounted for approximately 38% of our 2021 
revenues. Other segment service revenue consists primarily of ancillary revenue streams, which comprised 3% of total revenue. Product sales to customers 
are not recurring and are dependent on our customers’ needs, and account for 10% of total revenue.
 
Parking Solutions
Parking Access and Revenue Control

Our Parking Access and Revenue Control (“PARCS”) technology solutions include both software and hardware offerings which work in concert to 
help our customers manage their gated, gateless and license plate recognition-based parking lot and parking garage needs. We have installed over 2,000 
PARCS lanes to date. Our related software is the industry’s original hosted parking management software, which allows management of our customers’ 
PARCS solutions from a computer or mobile device. 

Pay Stations

Our pay stations hardware technology has interoperability with over 50 third-party systems, as well as our PARCS and parking enforcement 
solutions. They are powered by a highly configurable and data driven software technology which supports the enforcement, mobile payments, and back-
office and accounting needs of our customers. Our fleet of Pay Stations hardware exceeded 16,000 units at December 31, 2021.

Permits & Enforcement

Our Permits & Enforcement (“PE”) software technology solutions allow our customers to control who is parking in their facilities and when and 
where drivers can park using physical or virtual permits, allowing customers to control traffic and maximize their parking-related revenues. This 
technology also provides enforcement officers with real-time information and custom notifications on their enforcement devices. Citations management 
features also help to organize fine escalations and notification letters to parking violators.

Customers 

We have a diverse customer base across the United States, Europe, Australia and Canada. We are a top provider of toll management solutions, 
violations management solutions, and title and registration solutions for nearly every major RAC and FMC provider nationwide, including the Hertz 
Corporation, Avis Budget Group, Enterprise Holdings, Inc., Fox Rent a Car, Sixt Rent A Car, Element, ARI, Donlen and Wheels. In addition, we provide 
automated safety solutions to local government agencies including New York City, Nassau County (New York), Chicago, Baltimore, New Orleans, Orange 
County (Florida), Seattle, Highways England, New South Wales (Australia) and the Department of Justice and Community Safety in Victoria (Australia). 
We also provide end-to-end parking management solutions to universities, municipalities, parking operators, healthcare facilities and transportation hubs in 
North America. For many of our customers, we provide more than one product or service offering, addressing the diverse and varied needs of our clients. 

Competition 

There is no single competitor that provides a similarly broad suite of solutions. However, in our Government Solutions segment, we face 
competition in certain automated safety solutions from other vendors in the areas of red-light, school bus and speed photo enforcement. In our Commercial 
Services segment, we face competition from both our own customers, as they may choose to invest in their own internal solutions, and vendors offering or 
seeking to offer new technologies or financial models, and we must continue to innovate for our offerings to remain competitive. In Parking Solutions, we 
face competition from a variety of segment-specific competitors in our markets in the United States and Canada. 

Intellectual Property 
We rely on a combination of patents, trademarks, trade secrets, copyrights and confidentiality agreements to protect our intellectual property. We 

take steps to protect new intellectual property to safeguard our ongoing technological innovations and strengthen our brand, and believe we take 
appropriate action against infringement or misappropriation of our intellectual property rights by others. We review third-party intellectual property rights 
to help avoid infringement, and to identify strategic opportunities. 
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Our general policy is to seek patent protection for our inventions likely to be incorporated into our products and services or where obtaining such 
proprietary rights will improve our competitive position. We own approximately 92 U.S.- and foreign-issued patents and pending patent applications, 
including patents and rights to patent applications acquired through strategic transactions, which relate to various aspects of our products and technology. 
Our patent portfolio evolves as new patents are awarded to us and as older patents expire. Patents expire at various dates, generally 20 years from their 
original filing dates. While we believe that our portfolio of patents and applications has value, in general no single patent is essential to our business or any 
individual segment. In addition, any of our proprietary rights could be challenged, invalidated or circumvented, or may not provide significant competitive 
advantages. 

Our business relies on both internally developed and externally licensed software, as well as internally, externally and co-developed hardware, to 
operate and provide our systems and deliver our services. We claim copyright on all internally developed software. We generally rely on common law 
protection for our copyrighted works. In addition, we rely on maintaining source code confidentiality to assure our market competitiveness. With respect to 
externally sourced software and hardware, we rely on contracts to retain our continued access for our business usage. From time to time, these agreements 
may expire or be subject to renegotiation.

We have approximately 195 registrations and pending applications in the United States and foreign jurisdictions for trademarks and service marks, 
reflecting our many products and services. These registrations and applications include our historic and acquired brands, as well as Verra Mobility. These 
marks may have a perpetual life, subject to periodic renewal and may be subject to cancellation or invalidation based on certain use requirements and third-
party challenges, or on other grounds. We vigorously enforce and protect our marks. 

Government Regulation 

We are subject to various local, state and federal laws, regulations and administrative practices regulating matters such as data privacy, photo 
enforcement, consumer protection, procurement, licensing requirements, anti-kickback, equal employment, minimum wages and the environment, among 
others. Our operations are subject to regulation by various U.S. federal agencies, including the U.S. Department of Transportation, (“USDOT”), the Federal 
Trade Commission, (“FTC”), the Federal Communications Commission, the Consumer Product Safety Commission and the Environmental Protection 
Agency, as well as comparable state and local agencies, including the departments of transportation, departments of motor vehicles, and offices of 
inspectors general, and laws related to financial and banking regulations. Following the acquisition of EPC and Pagatelia, and in connection with our 
European expansion efforts, we are subject to laws, regulations and administrative practices addressing many of these same matters in Europe, including 
those specifically relating to accessing and use of information obtained from vehicle licensing authorities, as well as European regulations to traffic 
enforcement and collections and other financial and banking regulations. 

As part of our business, we collect, receive, process, use, transmit, disclose, and retain information relating to identifiable individuals (“personal 
information”) and, therefore, are subject to various laws protecting privacy and security of personal information, including the U.S. Driver Privacy 
Protection Act, the General Data Protection Regulation (the “GDPR”) in the European Union (the “E.U.”), the Data Protection Act of 2018 in the United 
Kingdom (the “UK Data Protection Act”), the California Consumer Privacy Act (the “CCPA”) and other state privacy laws in the United States. We are 
also subject to similar restrictions and audit requirements pursuant to our contracts with the organizations from which we gain access to personal 
information, such as departments of motor vehicles and the National Law Enforcement Telecommunications System. Privacy laws and regulations are 
constantly evolving and changing, are subject to differing interpretations and may be inconsistent among countries and state and local jurisdictions, or 
conflict with other rules. As we expand our operations in foreign countries, or as U.S. federal or state law changes, our liability exposure and the 
complexity and cost of compliance with data and privacy requirements, including the GDPR, the UK Data Protection Act, the CCPA and other US state 
privacy laws, will increase. Laws and practices regarding handling and use of personal and other information by companies have also come under increased 
public scrutiny, and governmental authorities, consumer agencies and consumer advocacy groups have called for increased regulation and changes in 
industry practices. Our foreign photo enforcement programs are also subject to regulation in the various countries in which we operate.

Automated photo enforcement camera programs in the United States are typically regulated at the state and local level, not the federal level. Since 
2010, there have been over 1,500 pieces of legislation introduced nationwide related to the photo enforcement industry. In general, photo enforcement is 
administrated by local government agencies, under either state enabling legislation or under home rule authority established under the relevant state 
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constitution. Where enabling legislation is not required, local ordinances impose further restrictions within a given jurisdiction. Whether in a state requiring 
enabling legislation or in home-rule states where municipalities pass ordinances permitting photo enforcement, if the legislation or ordinance is 
subsequently repealed, not renewed if required, or if the authority for a local ordinance is revoked, photo enforcement activities would stop. At times, state 
Attorneys General have issued opinions interpreting photo enforcement laws and the permissibility of certain practices or other requirements of practice 
that further restrict private activities. For example, the Attorneys General of Arizona, Tennessee and Virginia have each issued opinions in recent years that 
impacted photo enforcement activities. 

State and local regulation affects our Commercial Services segment as well, particularly with respect to tolling. Over the past few years, bills have 
been introduced in multiple states to limit whether and how much RACs can charge their customers for the use of a toll transponder, limit the 
administrative penalties and fees that can be assessed for processing tolls, and/or impose increased disclosure requirements on RACs with respect to tolling 
or violation processing fees. In addition, there has been an increase in interest and greater focus on RAC tolling programs from state Attorneys General 
related to tolling issues from a consumer protection perspective.

Our Government Solutions customers are typically local government agencies, and our operations within this segment are therefore subject to 
various procurement laws pertaining to gifts and entertainment, payments of commissions and contingency fees, conflicts of interest, licensing and 
permitting requirements and other matters. These laws are overseen by different government agencies, depending on the jurisdiction, including departments 
of procurements services, contracting offices and offices of inspector general. In large municipalities, many of which have their own offices of the inspector 
general, these laws and regulations tend to be much more detailed and impose greater restrictions.

To successfully navigate this regulatory landscape, we have a dedicated government relations team that works with state and local policymakers, 
often with the help of lobbyists and consultants, to track and help support favorable camera-enforcement safety and toll-related legislation. Through this 
network, we have a presence in most states in which our Government Solutions and Commercial Services segments do business. These lobbying activities 
are subject to state and local lobbying regulations and registration requirements. 

In connection with the installation of photo enforcement systems, we or our customers routinely obtain permits from various state and local 
permitting authorities, and we monitor our compliance with the rules and regulations of the USDOT and state departments of transportation relating to 
matters such as training, policies and procedures. As a government contractor providing photo enforcement services directly or through subcontractors 
(including design, engineering, construction, installation, and maintenance) in various locations throughout the United States and internationally, we are at 
times required to obtain licenses regarding general contracting, performance of engineering services, performance of electrical work, performance of 
private investigative work and processing license plate and related personal information, and periodically receive notices from regulatory authorities 
regarding these matters and inquiring as to our compliance with the applicable state, local and foreign laws and regulations. 

We believe we are in substantial compliance with the laws and regulations that regulate our business. There are, however, significant uncertainties 
involving the application of various legal requirements, the violation of which could result in, among other things, fines, penalties, revocation of permits or 
licenses, cessation of operations in a given jurisdiction and other adverse consequences. See “Risk Factors” for a discussion of our regulatory risks.

Human Capital Management
 
Our employees are critical to our success as a leading provider of smart mobility solutions. To continue producing and delivering high-quality 

solutions and services to our customers, and to compete and succeed in our highly competitive and rapidly evolving market, it is critical that we continue to 
attract, retain and develop a diverse group of talented individuals at all levels of our organization.
 

As of December 31, 2021, we had 1,433 employees, comprised of 1,306 full-time employees and 127 part-time employees. Of our full-time 
employees, 933 were located in the United States and 373 were located internationally. None of our employees are represented by a labor union or covered 
by a collective bargaining 
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agreement, except for our 29 employees in Staten Island, New York. We believe our relations with our employees are good, and we have not experienced a 
strike or other significant work stoppage.
 
Talent Acquisition and Development
 

Our success depends upon attracting, retaining and developing a diverse group of talented individuals who possess the skills necessary to support 
our business objectives, assist in the achievement of our strategic goals, contribute their own unique perspective and skill set and create long-term value for 
our stockholders. We have implemented purposeful hiring strategies that include opportunities for internal mobility and promotion and an employee referral 
program, both of which we believe will further strengthen our growing employee base and promote retention at our Company. Of the 311 positions filled in 
fiscal 2021, 57 were internal candidates or referred by current Verra Mobility employees. We have a multifaceted talent development framework that 
includes functional training, management training and targeted development problems, such as our Six Sigma training that aims to further enhance 
operational skills in our Government Solutions business unit. We also develop our employees through an annual performance review and assessment 
process that incorporates a dual-performance rating system and provides each employee with concrete, actionable feedback that will enable them to 
succeed at our Company.  
 
Compensation and Benefits

 
Our compensation programs are designed to align the compensation of our employees with the Company’s and individual performance, and to 

provide a compensation package that will attract, retain, motivate and reward employees to achieve superior results. The structure of our compensation 
programs balances incentives for both short-term and long-term performance. In addition to cash compensation, we offer employees benefits such as health 
(medical, dental and vision) insurance, health savings accounts, flexible spending accounts, life insurance, accident insurance, paid time off, paid parental 
leave and a company-sponsored 401(k) plan, and related benefits for non-U.S. employees. For key leadership positions, we also provide compensation 
packages that include annual incentive bonuses and long-term equity awards.
 
Employee Engagement

 
We seek employees who collaborate and value differences, think and act globally, foster an engaging climate, and recognize and develop others. We 

engage and survey our employee population to gather insight, feedback, and data about employees’ engagement, workplace experiences, and manager 
effectiveness. Survey results inform and support corporate, business unit, department, and team action plans, with the goal of enhancing workplace 
satisfaction and overall employee well-being and effectiveness.

Corporate Information

We were originally incorporated in Delaware on August 15, 2016, under the name “Gores Holdings II, Inc.” (“Gores”) as a special purpose 
acquisition company, formed for the purpose of effecting a merger, capital stock exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase, reorganization, or other 
similar business combination with one or more target businesses. On January 19, 2017, Gores consummated its initial public offering (the “IPO”), 
following which its shares began trading on Nasdaq. On June 21, 2018, Gores entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (as amended, the “Merger 
Agreement”) with Greenlight Holding II Corporation, PE Greenlight Holdings, LLC (the “Platinum Stockholder”), AM Merger Sub I, Inc., a direct, 
wholly owned subsidiary of Gores, and AM Merger Sub II, LLC, a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Gores. On October 17, 2018, the transactions 
contemplated by the Merger Agreement (the “Business Combination”) were consummated. In conjunction with the Business Combination we changed our 
name to “Verra Mobility Corporation” and became the owner, directly or indirectly, of all the equity interests of Verra Mobility Holdings, LLC and its 
subsidiaries.

Our principal executive office is located at 1150 North Alma School Road, Mesa, AZ 85201. Our telephone number is (480) 443-7000. Our website 
address is www.verramobility.com. The information on, or accessible through, our website does not constitute part of, and is not incorporated into, this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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The trade names, trademarks, and service marks appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include registered marks and marks in which we 
claim common law rights, such as Verra Mobility and the Verra Mobility logo, all of which are our intellectual property. This Annual Report on Form 10-K 
contains additional trade names, trademarks, and service marks of other companies that are the property of their respective owners. We do not intend our 
use or display of other companies’ trade names, trademarks, or service marks to imply a relationship with, or endorsement or sponsorship of us, by these 
companies. We have omitted the ® and ™ designations, as applicable, for the trademarks used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to reports filed pursuant to 
Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), are filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (the “SEC”). We are subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange Act, and we file or furnish reports, proxy statements and other 
information with the SEC. Such reports and other information we file with the SEC are available free of charge at http://ir.verramobility.com/financial-
information/sec-filings when such reports become available on the SEC’s website. The SEC maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and 
information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov. We periodically provide other 
information for investors on our corporate website, www.verramobility.com, and our investor relations website, ir.verramobility.com. This includes press 
releases and other information about financial performance, information on corporate governance and details related to our annual meeting of stockholders. 
The information contained on the websites referenced in this Annual Report on Form 10-K is not incorporated by reference into this filing. Further, our 
references to website URLs are intended to be inactive textual references only. 

Item 1A. Risk Factors 
Risk Factor Summary

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together 
with all of the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and related notes. Our business, operating results, financial condition, financial 
performance or prospects could be materially and adversely affected by any of these risks and uncertainties, as well as by risks and uncertainties not 
currently known to us or that we currently do not believe are material. If any of these risks occurs, the trading price of our common stock could decline, 
and you might lose all or part of your investment. Our business, operating results, financial performance, or prospects could also be harmed. These risks 
and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the following:

Risks Related to the COVID-19 Pandemic
• Our business and results of operations may be adversely affected by COVID-19, including emerging variant strains. 

Risks Related to Our Customers, Industry and Competition
• Our Commercial Services and Government Solutions segments have customer concentration that could have a material adverse effect on 

our business.

• The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely affected our revenues from key customers in both our Commercial Services segment and our 
Government Solutions segment and may adversely affected our revenues in our Parking Solutions segment.

• Our government contracts are subject to unique risks and uncertainties, including termination rights, delays in payment, audits and 
investigations, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

• Any decreases in the prevalence or political acceptance of, or an increase in governmental restrictions regarding, automated and other 
similar methods of photo enforcement or the use of third-party tolling service providers could have a material adverse effect on our 
business. 
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• We face intense competition and any failure to keep up with technological developments and changing customer preferences could have a 

material adverse effect on our business. 

• Our new products and services and changes to existing products and services may not succeed.

Risks Related to Our Acquisitions
• Our inability to successfully implement our acquisition strategy could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Risks Related to Data Privacy and Cybersecurity
• A failure in or breach of our networks or systems, including as a result of cyber-attacks, could have a material adverse effect on our 

business.

• We are subject to laws of the United States and foreign jurisdictions relating to privacy, data security, data retention and individually 
identifiable information, and failure to comply with these laws, whether or not inadvertent, and changes to these laws, could have a material 
adverse effect on our business. 

Risks Related to Human Capital Management
• We depend on the services of key executives and any inability to attract and retain key management personnel could have a material adverse 

effect on our business. 

Risks Related to our International Operations
• Our international operations expose us to additional risks, and failure to manage those risks could have a material adverse effect on our 

business.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
• Failure to acquire necessary intellectual property or adequately protect our intellectual property could have a material adverse effect on our 

business.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness
• Our substantial level of indebtedness could cause our business to suffer and incurring additional debt could intensify debt-related risks.

Risks Related to Our Class A Common Stock, Warrants, Related Party Transactions and Organizational Documents
• Any failure to be current in our filings with the SEC could pose significant risks to our business.

Risks Related to Our Vendors
• Our reliance on third-party providers could have a material adverse effect on our business.

General Risk Factors
• If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results.

• Litigation and other disputes and regulatory investigations could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Due to the risk factors discussed below, as well as other factors affecting our business, operating results, financial condition, financial performance 
or prospects, our past financial performance should not be considered to be a reliable indicator of our future performance, and investors should not use 
historical trends to anticipate results or trends in future periods.
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Risks Related to the COVID-19 Pandemic
Our business and results of operations may be adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic.

The COVID-19 pandemic and related government actions taken to reduce the spread of the virus have caused severe disruption to the global 
economy. In order to comply with certain government restrictions and safeguard our employees, we have shifted most of our workforce to remote 
operations and have implemented changes in our physical locations to ensure social distancing. The Omicron variant of COVID-19, which is presently 
thought to be the most transmissible and contagious variant of COVID-19, has caused a surge in COVID-19 cases globally. The impact of the Omicron 
variant, or other variants that may emerge in the future, cannot be predicted at this time, and could depend on numerous factors, including the availability 
of vaccines in different parts of the world, vaccination rates, the effectiveness of COVID-19 vaccines against future variants, and the response by 
governmental bodies to reinstate mandated business closures, orders to “shelter in place” and travel and transportation restrictions. Additionally, we may 
experience labor constraints resulting from COVID-19-related quarantine measures or employee turnover due to resistance to vaccine mandates imposed by 
local, state or federal governments or our customers. Any labor constraints or staffing shortages suffered by us or our key suppliers could disrupt our 
operations, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operation.

COVID-19 may also cause us to temporarily suspend or ultimately forego strategic acquisitions, business initiatives or expansions into new markets. 
Also, our existing customers may seek to terminate or renegotiate their contracts with us or seek pricing concessions as a result of changes in their business 
needs or financial condition. The measures implemented to contain COVID-19 have had, and may continue to have, a significant negative effect on our 
business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and liquidity position.

Historical data regarding our business, results of operations, financial condition and liquidity may not reflect the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic 
and related containment measures and therefore does not purport to be representative of our future performance.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K and our other reports filed with the SEC include information regarding our business, properties, results of 
operations, financial condition and liquidity as of dates and for periods before the impact of COVID-19 and related containment measures (including 
quarantines, governmental orders requiring the closure of certain businesses, limiting travel, requiring that individuals stay at home or shelter in place and 
closing borders, and vaccines). This historical information therefore may not reflect the adverse impacts of COVID-19 and the related containment 
measures. Accordingly, investors are cautioned not to unduly rely on historical information regarding our business, results of operations, financial condition 
or liquidity, as that data does not reflect the adverse impact of COVID-19 and therefore does not purport to be representative of the future results of 
operations, financial condition, liquidity or other financial or operating results.

Risks Related to Our Customers, Industry and Competition

Our Commercial Services and Government Solutions segments have customer concentration that could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Our business experiences customer concentration from time to time. For example, our Commercial Services segment is dependent on certain key 

customers, including those in the RAC industry, such as Avis Budget Group, Inc., Enterprise Holdings, Inc. and The Hertz Corporation. The health of the 
RAC industry is impacted by a variety of factors, including seasonality, increases in energy prices, general international, national and local economic 
conditions and cycles, as well as other factors affecting travel levels, such as military conflicts, terrorist incidents, natural disasters and epidemic diseases. 
For example, as described elsewhere in these risk factors, the COVID-19 pandemic continues to adversely affect our key customers in the RAC industry 
and, correspondingly, revenues in our Commercial Services segment.

We also experience customer concentration in our Government Solutions segment. The New York City Department of Transportation (“NYCDOT”) 
represented approximately 26.6% of our total revenues during fiscal 2021, and our contract with NYCDOT, like many other contracts, is subject to unique 
risks and uncertainties, including termination rights, delays in payment and audits and investigations, any of which could have a material adverse effect on 
our business. In the future, a small number of customers in our Government Solutions segment may continue to represent a significant portion of our total 
revenues in any given period. The loss of any of our top Government Solutions customers could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.
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The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely affected our revenues from key customers in both our Commercial Services segment and our Government 
Solutions segment and may adversely affect our revenues in our Parking Solutions segment.

The COVID-19 pandemic continues to have an impact on both the RAC and FMC businesses.  Travel has declined compared to pre-pandemic levels, 
while supply chain disruptions have impacted RACs’ and FMCs’ ability to access vehicles for their fleets. Although these headwinds continue, our 
customers have improved utilization of their existing fleets and have shown improvements in their business performance. The full extent and duration of 
COVID-19’s impact on the RAC industry and the financial health of our key RAC customers cannot be predicted at this time. If our RAC customers 
continue to experience adversity in their businesses or file for bankruptcy, they may delay or default on their payment commitments to us or request to 
modify or renegotiate pre-existing contractual commitments on terms that are less favorable to us, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Revenue from our customers in our Government Solutions segment also continues to be impacted by COVID 19. The switch to remote operations 
for large amounts of the population, and other containment measures have additionally resulted in reductions in vehicle traffic, which in turn resulted in 
some of our Government Solutions customers temporarily taking enforcement camera systems offline. Additionally, school closures resulting from 
COVID-19 have resulted in limited operations of our school bus stop arm solutions. Continued or additional measures or changes in laws or regulations, 
whether in the United States or abroad, that further impair the ability or desire of individuals to gather or travel due to the risk of the spreading of COVID-
19, including laws or regulations banning travel or requiring the closure of schools, could have a material adverse effect on our Government Solutions 
segment, as well as our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Additionally, current trends toward remote work and learning environments, reduced activity in urban environments, the tendency for customers to 
shop and enjoy entertainment from home and a reduction in travel, may collectively reduce vehicle traffic at parking garages and parking lots and 
negatively impact our Parking Solutions segment. Continued or additional trends toward remote work, learning and leisure may have an adverse effect on 
our Parking Solutions segment, as well as our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our government contracts are subject to unique risks and uncertainties, including termination rights, delays in payment, audits and investigations, any 
of which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We enter into government contracts from time to time with customers in our Government Solutions and Parking Solutions segments that are subject 
to various uncertainties, restrictions and regulations, which could result in withholding or delay of payments to us. For example, as of December 31, 2021, 
NYCDOT had an open receivable balance of $63.2 million, which represented 39% of our accounts receivable, net, of which $26.0 million had aged 
beyond NYCDOT’s 45-day payment terms.

Government entities typically finance projects through appropriated funds. While these projects are often planned and executed as multi-year 
projects, government entities usually reserve the right to change the scope of or terminate these projects for lack of approved funding or at their 
convenience. Changes in government or political developments, including administrative hurdles, budget deficits, shortfalls or uncertainties, government 
spending reductions or other debt or funding constraints, could result in our government contracts being reduced in price or scope or terminated altogether, 
as well as limit our ability to win new government work in the future.

Moreover, if a government customer does not follow the requisite procurement or ordinance-specific administrative procedures, the contract may be 
subject to protest or voidable regardless of whether we bear any responsibility for the error. Our government contracts are subject to underlying laws and 
regulations related to government contractors, and often include other one-sided, customer-friendly provisions and certifications, including broad 
indemnification provisions and uncapped exposure or liquidated damages for certain liabilities, which can impose obligations, requirements and liabilities 
on us that are beyond those associated with a typical commercial arrangement.

In addition, government contracts are generally subject to audits and investigations by government agencies or higher-tier government contractors. If 
improper or illegal activities or contractual non-compliance are identified, including improper billing or vendor non-compliance, we may be subject to 
various civil and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions, which may include termination of contracts, forfeiture of profits, suspension of payments, 
the imposition of fines, penalties and sanctions, and suspensions or debarment from doing business for or on behalf of the government in the future. If 
penalties or other restrictions are imposed in one jurisdiction, they could also implicate similar provisions of contracts with other government customers in 
other jurisdictions. Further, the negative publicity related to these penalties, sanctions or findings in government audits or investigations could harm 
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our reputation and hinder our ability to compete for new contracts with government customers and in the private sector. Any of the foregoing or any other 
reduction in revenue from government customers could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Any decreases in the prevalence or political acceptance of, or an increase in governmental restrictions regarding, automated and other similar methods 
of photo enforcement or the use of third-party tolling service providers could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We provide automated safety solutions to national, state and local government agencies, generating revenues through automated photo enforcement 
of red-light, school bus, speed limit and bus lane laws. In 2021, revenues from this segment represented approximately 51.4% of our total revenues. 
Therefore, we depend on national, state and local governments authorizing the use of automated photo enforcement and not otherwise materially restricting 
its use. In states that have enabling legislation, if that legislation is not renewed or is otherwise repealed, use of automated enforcement technology can be 
suspended until new legislation is passed. For example, in June 2019, the state of Texas passed a law prohibiting red-light photo enforcement programs 
across the state, with certain carve-outs for some existing programs. The passage of this law resulted in a loss of revenue in the years ended December 31, 
2019, 2020 and 2021 and a related impairment of assets in the year ended December 31, 2019.

Ballot initiatives, referendums, opinions of attorneys general and legal challenges can also be used to restrict the use of automated enforcement or to 
impose additional licensing requirements on its use. For example, the Attorneys General in the states of Arizona, Tennessee and Virginia have issued 
opinions that had the effect of limiting the use of these enforcement technologies or impacting the manner in which photo enforcement programs operate. 
Usage may also be affected if there is an unfavorable shift in political support for, or public sentiment towards, automated enforcement, or as a result of one 
or more scandals related to its use. 

Similarly, our Commercial Services business may be materially impacted if there is an unfavorable shift in political support for or public sentiment 
towards tolling or its use is materially restricted or limited, including through the imposition of limits on the fees RAC companies can charge their 
customers for tolling or violation processing services. Any material restriction or limitation on the use of automated enforcement or material reduction in its 
use in the markets we serve, or any similar changes with respect to tolling, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations.

We face intense competition and any failure to keep up with technological developments and changing customer preferences could have a material 
adverse effect on our business.

The markets for our solutions are increasingly competitive, rapidly evolving and fragmented, and are subject to changing technology and shifting 
customer needs. A number of vendors develop and market products and services that compete to varying extents with our offerings, and we expect this 
competition to continue to intensify. The rapid rate of technological change in our industry could increase the chances that we will face competition from 
new products or services designed by companies that we do not currently compete with. Moreover, we face competition from our own customers as they 
may choose to invest in developing their own internal solutions.

Competition in our markets is primarily based on (a) the quality, reliability and efficacy of the solution; (b) customer awareness of offerings; (c) 
pricing; (d) functionality and features, including ease of use and broad application; (e) the customer or end-user experience; (f) the breadth and depth of 
products and services offered; (g) reputation and track record; (h) technical expertise; and (i) security.

Currently, we compete with several other companies, ranging from small, regional or specialized firms to large, diversified companies. Some of our 
existing competitors and potential new competitors have longer operating histories, greater name recognition, less debt, more established customer bases 
and significantly greater financial, technical, research and development, marketing and other resources than we do. As a result, our competitors may be able 
to respond more quickly and effectively than we can to new or changing opportunities, technologies, standards or customer requirements. In some cases, 
our competitors may be better positioned to initiate or withstand substantial price competition, and we may have to reduce our pricing to retain existing 
business or obtain new business. If we are not able to maintain favorable pricing for our solutions, our profit margin and profitability could suffer. In 
addition, if a prospective customer is currently using a competing solution, the customer may be unwilling to switch to our solution without setup support 
services or other incentives. Certain existing and new competitors may be better positioned to acquire competitive solutions, effectively negotiate third-
party licenses and other strategic relationships, and take advantage of acquisition or other similar expansion opportunities. Industry consolidation could 
further increase competition, and competitors may also establish relationships or form alliances. Any failure to achieve our target pricing levels, maintain 
existing customer relationships, generate additional customer wins or otherwise successfully compete would have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.
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Our new products and services and changes to existing products and services may not succeed.

Our ability to retain, increase and engage our customer base and to increase our revenue depends, in large part, on our ability to continue to evolve 
existing solutions and to create successful new solutions. We may introduce significant changes to our existing solutions or acquire or introduce new and 
unproven products and services, including using technologies or entering markets or industries in which we have little or no experience. For example, in 
September 2018, we launched Peasy, our cloud-based, pay-as-you-go tolling solution targeting consumers, a market segment that we had not previously 
targeted directly. Consumer adoption of Peasy was slower than anticipated, and the product did not generate meaningful revenue during the year ended 
December 31, 2020, and we therefore ceased actively marketing and new investment in Peasy in 2021. We have only indirect exposure to the consumer 
segment through our business with the RAC industry and parking operators, but in those instances, our customer controls the pricing, marketing, consumer 
disclosures and other aspects of the consumer relationship. As such, the consumers’ view of us and their willingness to try our solutions may be impacted 
by their experience with our tolling services delivered by our RAC customers and parking solutions offered by our parking customers. Additionally, our 
rollout of European RAC tolling has been slower than anticipated. The failure of any new or enhanced solution to achieve customer adoption or our failure 
to otherwise successfully monetize our development efforts could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

We regularly pursue contracts and contract renewals, particularly in our Government Solutions and Parking Solutions segments, that require 
competitive bidding, which can involve substantial costs and could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Many of the government contracts and renewals for which we bid, particularly those for certain larger government customers, are extremely 
complex and require the investment of significant resources in order to prepare accurate bids and proposals. Further, a significant percentage of new 
customer growth opportunities in our Government Solutions, Parking Solutions and EPC businesses are only accessible through competitive bidding. 
Competitive bidding imposes substantial costs and presents several risks, including significant time and effort and the commitment of resources, regardless 
of whether the job is ultimately won. We may also be unable to meet the requirements of a solicitation or may have to incur substantial costs to be able to 
do so. These and other unanticipated costs related to the competitive bidding process, including advancing or defending bid protests, and any failure to win 
renewals or new customer accounts through the competitive bidding process, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations.

Our inability to recover capital and other investments in connection with our contracts could have a material adverse effect on our business.
We sometimes make significant capital, and other investments, to attract and retain certain contracts, such as the cost of purchasing information 

technology equipment, constructing and installing photo enforcement systems and developing and implementing software and labor resources. The net 
book value of certain assets recorded, including a portion of our intangible assets, could be impaired in the event of the early termination of some or all of a 
contract or a reduction in volume and services under the contract for any number of reasons, including the failure or deterioration of the customer’s 
business, a customer’s exercise of contract termination or program cancellation rights or a change in law or interpretation thereof that suspends or 
terminates photo enforcement activities. Any failure to recover our investments’ underlying customer agreements could have a material adverse effect on 
our business, financial condition and results of operations. For example, in June 2019, the state of Texas passed a law prohibiting red-light photo 
enforcement programs across the state, with certain carve-outs for some existing programs. The passage of this law resulted in a loss of revenue in the years 
ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 and a related impairment of assets for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Risks Related to Our Acquisitions
Our inability to successfully implement our acquisition strategy could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We have grown in large part as a result of our acquisitions, and we anticipate continuing to grow in this manner. Although we expect to regularly 
consider additional strategic transactions in the future, we may not identify suitable opportunities or, if we do identify prospects, it may not be possible to 
consummate a transaction on acceptable terms. Antitrust or other competition laws may also limit our ability to acquire or work collaboratively with certain 
businesses or to fully realize the benefits of a prospective or completed acquisition. Furthermore, a significant change in our business or the economy, an 
unexpected decrease in our cash flows or any restrictions imposed by our indebtedness may limit our ability to obtain the necessary capital or otherwise 
impede our ability to 

18



 
complete a transaction. Regularly considering strategic transactions can also divert management’s attention and lead to significant due diligence and other 
expenses regardless of whether we pursue or consummate any transaction. Failure to identify suitable transaction partners and to consummate transactions 
on acceptable terms, as well as the commitment of time and resources in connection with such transactions, could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations.

The inability to successfully integrate our recent or future acquisitions could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We have integrated, and may in the future integrate, certain acquired businesses into our existing operations, which requires significant time and 
exposes us to significant risks and additional costs, and integrating such acquired businesses may strain our resources. Further, we may have difficulty 
integrating the operations, systems, controls, procedures or products of such acquired businesses and may not be able to do so in a timely, efficient and 
cost-effective manner. 

These difficulties could include:

• combining management teams, strategies and philosophies;

• merging or linking different accounting and financial reporting systems and systems of internal controls;

• assimilating personnel, human resources and other administrative departments and potentially contrasting corporate cultures;

• merging computer, technology and other information networks and systems;

• disrupting our relationship with or losing key customers, suppliers or personnel; and

• interference with, or loss of momentum in, our ongoing business or that of the acquired business.

Any integration-related issues could cause significant disruption to our business, divert the attention of management and lead to substantial 
additional costs and delays. Our inability to successfully integrate acquired businesses could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.
 
The agreements governing our acquisition of businesses may not contain indemnification provisions that fully protect us and as a result we may face 
unexpected liabilities.
 

Certain of the agreements by which we have acquired companies require the former owners to indemnify us against certain liabilities related to the 
operation of the acquired business before we acquired it. In most of these agreements, however, the liability of the former owners is limited and certain 
former owners may be unable to meet their indemnification responsibilities. We have further obtained representation and warranty insurance related to 
some acquisitions in lieu of, or in addition to, the indemnification by the previous owners. These indemnification provisions or insurance policies may not 
protect us fully or at all, and as a result we may face unexpected liabilities that adversely affect our business and financial statements.
 

Any failure to realize the anticipated benefits of an acquisition, including unanticipated expenses and liabilities related to acquisitions, could have a 
material adverse effect on our business.

We pursue each acquisition with the expectation that the transaction will result in various benefits, including growth opportunities and synergies 
from increased efficiencies. However, we may not realize some or all of the anticipated benefits of our acquisitions within our anticipated timeframes or at 
all. Furthermore, we may experience increased competition that limits our ability to expand our business, we may not be able to capitalize on expected 
business opportunities, and general industry and business conditions may deteriorate. Acquisitions also expose us to significant risks and costs, and 
business and operational overlaps may lead to hidden costs. These costs can include unforeseen pre-acquisition liabilities, the impairment of customer 
relationships or acquired assets such as goodwill, or exposure to oversight, operational and business control risks associated with a newly acquired 
business. We may also incur costs and inefficiencies to the extent an acquisition expands the industries, markets or geographies in which we operate due to 
our limited exposure to and experience in a given industry, market or region. Significant acquisitions may also require us to incur additional debt to finance 
the transactions, which could limit our flexibility in using our cash flow from operations for other purposes. For example, we financed our December 2021 
acquisition 
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of T2 Systems by accessing additional debt financing under our credit agreement. Acquisitions often involve post-transaction disputes with the 
counterparty regarding a number of matters, including disagreements over the amount of a purchase price or other working capital adjustment or disputes 
regarding whether certain liabilities are covered by the indemnification provisions of the transaction agreement. We may underestimate the level of certain 
costs or the exposure we may face as a result of acquired liabilities. If any of these or other factors limit our ability to achieve the anticipated benefits of a 
transaction, or we encounter other unexpected transaction-related costs and liabilities, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be 
materially and adversely affected.

Risks Related to Data Privacy and Cybersecurity
A failure in or breach of our networks or systems, including as a result of cyber-attacks, could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We act as a trusted business partner in both front office and back office platforms, interacting with our customers and other third parties. Our 
customers include large, multinational corporations and government agencies who depend upon our operational efficiency, non-interruption of service, and 
accuracy and security of information. We receive, process, transmit and store substantial volumes of information relating to identifiable individuals, both in 
our role as a back-end or direct-to-consumer service provider and as an employer, and receive, process and implement financial transactions, and disburse 
funds, which requires us to receive debit and credit card information. We also use third-party providers such as subcontractors, software vendors, utility 
providers and network providers, upon whom we rely to offer our products, services and solutions. As a result of these and other aspects of our business, 
the integrity, security and accuracy of our systems and information technology, and that of the third parties with which we interact, including our customers 
and other government agencies with which we work, are extremely important.

Our cybersecurity and processing systems, as well as those of the third parties with which we interact, may be damaged, disrupted or otherwise 
breached for a number of reasons, including power outages, computer and telecommunication failures, computer viruses, malware or other destructive 
software, internal design, manual or usage errors, cyber-attacks, terrorism, workplace violence or wrongdoing, catastrophic events, natural disasters and 
severe weather conditions. Our visibility and role as a processor of transactions containing personally identifiable information may also put us at a greater 
risk of being targeted by hackers. In the normal course of our business, we have been the target of malicious cyber-attack attempts. Additionally, trends 
toward remote work as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic has made companies’ information technology systems more vulnerable through increased 
cyber-attack attempts.

In addition, numerous and evolving cybersecurity threats, including advanced and persistent cyber-attacks, phishing and social engineering schemes 
could compromise the confidentiality, availability and integrity of data in our systems as well as those of the third parties with which we interact. The 
security measures and procedures we and the third parties with which we interact have in place to protect sensitive consumer data and other information 
may not be successful or sufficient to counter all data breaches, cyber-attacks, or system failures. Further, employee error or malfeasance, faulty password 
management or other irregularities may result in a defeat of security measures or a system breach. Although we devote significant resources to our 
cybersecurity programs and have implemented security measures to protect our systems and data, and to prevent, detect and respond to data security 
incidents, in each case that we believe are reasonable and appropriate, these efforts, and the efforts of third parties with which we interact, may not prevent 
these or other threats.

Moreover, because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access, or to disable or degrade systems change frequently, have become increasingly 
more complex and sophisticated, and may be difficult to detect for periods of time, we and the third parties with which we interact may not anticipate these 
acts or respond adequately or timely. As these threats continue to evolve and increase, we may be required to devote significant additional resources in 
order to modify and enhance our security controls and to identify and remediate any security vulnerabilities or diligencing those of third parties.

If we are sued in connection with any data security breach or system failure, we could be involved in protracted litigation. In addition, a breach could 
lead to unfavorable publicity and significant damage to our brand, the loss of existing and potential customers, allegations by customers that we have not 
performed or breached our contractual obligations, or decreased use and acceptance of our solutions. A breach or failure may also subject us to additional 
regulations or governmental or regulatory scrutiny, which could result in significant compliance costs, fines or enforcement actions, or potential restrictions 
imposed by regulators on our ability to operate our business. A security breach would also likely require us to devote significant management and other 
resources to address the 
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problems created by the security breach. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

We are subject to laws and regulations of the United States and foreign jurisdictions relating to personal information, privacy and data security, and 
failure to comply with these laws and regulations, whether or not inadvertent, could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Personal information is used both as part of our business and in our role as an employer. In addition, as part of our Government Solutions, 
Commercial Services and Parking Solutions programs, we process other data which may be considered personal information or sensitive personal 
information in certain jurisdictions, such as photographs and video recordings. As a result, we are subject to various laws and regulations regarding 
personal information, privacy and data security, including those promulgated by the United States federal government and its agencies, and state, local and 
foreign governments, agencies, and public authorities. Our personal information handling also is subject to contractual obligations and industry standards.
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Laws, regulations and industry standards relating to privacy are rapidly evolving, can be subject to significant change and may result in ever-

increasing regulatory and public scrutiny and escalating levels of enforcement and sanctions. These laws and regulations may also be subject to new or 
different interpretations. For example, in June 2018, California enacted the CCPA, which took effect in January 1, 2020. The CCPA creates several new 
obligations for companies which process personal information. It also gives California residents expanded rights to access, delete and obtain a copy of their 
personal information; opt out of certain personal information sharing and receive detailed information about how their personal data is processed. The law 
provides for civil penalties against companies that fail to comply. The California Attorney General’s regulations governing compliance with the CCPA went 
into effect in August 2020, with additional amendments effective as of March 2021. A violation of these regulations constitutes a violation of the CCPA. A 
new California privacy law, the California Privacy Rights Act (“CPRA”), creates obligations relating to personal information beginning on January 1, 2022, 
with implementing regulations expected on or before July 1, 2022, and enforcement beginning July 1, 2023. It substantially amends and amplifies the 
requirements of the CCPA, as well as creates a new agency responsible for enforcing California’s privacy laws. Unlike the CCPA, the CPRA applies to 
employee personal information in addition to consumer personal information. In 2021, Virginia and Colorado also enacted comprehensive state privacy 
laws, which become operative on January 1, 2023, and July 1, 2023, respectively. Additionally, dozens of other state legislatures have introduced privacy 
bills, and Congress is considering several privacy bills at the federal level.

Foreign laws concerning personal information, privacy and data security may be more restrictive and burdensome than those of the United States. 
Given that data is highly mobile and transferable, many data protection and privacy laws of foreign nations seek to have wide extraterritorial jurisdiction 
over conduct occurring outside geographical boundaries of the relevant jurisdiction. For example, on May 25, 2018, the E.U. General Data Protection 
Regulation GDPR replaced the 1995 Data Protection Directive. The GDPR extends the scope of E.U. data protection law to non-E.U. companies 
processing data of E.U. residents when certain conditions are satisfied. The GDPR contains numerous, more stringent requirements and changes from prior 
E.U. law, including more robust privacy and compliance obligations for both companies and their service providers, greater rights for individuals, heavier 
documentation requirements for data protection compliance programs and restrictions on transfers of personal data to non-E.U. countries. The GDPR 
provides for fines of the greater of up to €20 million or 4% of the noncompliant company’s annual global revenue. Further, our customers, through 
contractual requirements, could require us to comply with certain of these stringent requirements regardless of whether our business is actually subject to 
the GDPR.

From a security perspective, federal, state and foreign laws and regulations create requirements to take reasonable technical, physical and 
organizational measures to protect the security of personal information. Laws and regulations also include obligations to notify individuals and government 
regulators of an actual or perceived data security breach involving particular personal information, whether that breach was experienced by us or our third-
party service providers. Penalties for failure to adequately protect personal information, or provide timely notice of such failure, vary by jurisdiction. In the 
United States, most state data breach notification laws consider violations to be unfair or deceptive trade practices and give the relevant state attorneys 
general (“AGs”) the authority to levy fines or bring enforcement actions. Such AG investigations, which are often time consuming, expensive and 
burdensome, may lead to civil penalties. Some laws, such as the CCPA and CPRA, also grant affected individuals a private right of action for certain data 
breaches under which they may sue for money damages. In the United States, lawyers specialized in pursuing cases on behalf of individuals who are 
affected by a data breach regularly bring suit against companies that have suffered data breaches. In the E.U., failure to comply with the GDPR’s security or 
notification requirements could result in significant monetary fines.  Additionally, our failure to maintain adequate levels of data security and privacy may 
negatively impact our ability to secure customer contracts.

The costs of compliance with these privacy-related laws, regulations and industry standards are high and may limit the use or adoption of our smart 
mobility technology solutions and services, reduce overall demand for our solutions and services, or slow the pace at which we generate revenue. 
Moreover, if our policies, procedures or measures relating to these issues fail to comply, or regulators assert we have failed to comply, with applicable laws, 
regulations or industry standards, we may be subject to governmental enforcement actions, litigation, regulatory investigations, fines, penalties and 
negative publicity, and our application providers, customers and partners may lose trust in or stop doing business with us entirely. We expect that there will 
continue to be new proposed laws, regulations and industry standards concerning personal information, privacy and data retention in the United States, the 
E.U. and other jurisdictions, and we cannot yet determine the impact such future laws, regulations and industry standards may have on our business. Any of 
the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We are subject to domestic and foreign laws relating to processing certain financial transactions, including debit or credit card transactions, and 
failure to comply with those laws, even if inadvertent, could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We process, support and execute financial transactions as part of our business and disburse funds on behalf of certain of our customers. This activity 
includes receiving debit and credit card information, processing payments for and due to our customers and disbursing funds on payment or debit cards to 
payees of our customers. As a result, we may be subject to numerous U.S. federal and state and foreign jurisdiction laws and regulations, including the 
Electronic Fund Transfer Act, the Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act of 1970 (commonly known as the Bank Secrecy Act) and the Uniting 
and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 (the “Patriot Act”).

We are also subject to or voluntarily comply with a number of other laws and regulations relating to privacy and information security, electronic fund 
transfers, payment services and convenience fees. If we were found to be in violation of applicable laws and regulations, we could be subject to additional 
liability, including governmental fines or other sanctions, and we could be forced to otherwise change our business practices in certain jurisdictions, or be 
required to obtain additional licenses or regulatory approvals. 

We have implemented policies and procedures to preserve and protect credit card and other payment data against loss, corruption, misappropriation 
caused by systems failures, unauthorized access or misuse. Notwithstanding these policies and procedures, we could be subject to liability claims by 
individuals and customers whose data resides in our databases for the misuse of that information. If we fail to meet appropriate compliance levels, this 
could negatively impact our ability to utilize credit cards as a method of payment, or collect and store credit card information, which could disrupt our 
business. Failure to comply with these laws may subject us to, among other things, additional costs or changes to our business practices, liability for 
monetary damages, fines or criminal prosecution, unfavorable publicity, restrictions on our ability to process and support financial transactions and 
allegations by customers that we have not performed our contractual obligations, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Human Capital Management
We depend on the services of key executives and any inability to attract and retain key management personnel could have a material adverse effect on 
our business.

Our future success depends upon the continued services of our executive officers, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, 
who have critical experience and relationships that we rely on to implement our business plan and growth strategy. Additionally, as our business grows, we 
may need to attract and hire additional management personnel. We have employment agreements with some members of senior management that include 
non-competition provisions; however, we cannot prevent our executives from terminating their employment and may not be able to fully enforce non-
competition provisions limiting former executives or key personnel from competing with us following any departure. Moreover, we do not carry “key-
man” life insurance on the lives of our executive officers, employees or advisors. Our ability to retain our key management personnel or to identify and 
attract additional management personnel or suitable replacements should any members of the management team leave or be terminated is dependent on a 
number of factors, including the competitive nature of the employment market and our industry. Any failure to retain key management personnel or to 
attract additional or suitable replacement personnel could cause uncertainty among investors, employees, customers and others concerning our future 
direction and performance and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

A failure to attract and retain necessary skilled personnel and qualified subcontractors could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Our business depends on highly skilled technical, managerial, engineering, sales, marketing and customer support personnel and qualified and 

competent subcontractors. Competition for these personnel is intense, especially during times of low unemployment or economic recovery or growth. Any 
failure to attract, hire, assimilate in a timely manner and retain and motivate key qualified personnel, particularly software development, product 
development, analytics and other technical personnel, or inability to contract with qualified, competent subcontractors, could impair our success. 
Additionally, certain portions of our Government Solutions operations are dependent on employees and subcontractors who are subject to a collective 
bargaining agreement. When the collective bargaining agreement becomes subject to renegotiation or if we face union organizing drives, any 
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disagreement between us and the union on important issues may lead to a strike, work slowdown or other job actions in one or more locations we serve. A 
strike, work slowdown or other job action could disrupt our services, resulting in reduced revenues or contract cancellations. State or local law in some 
jurisdictions requires that subcontractors for our Government Solutions segment are certified by the jurisdiction, and the failure on the part of our 
subcontractors to obtain and maintain such certification could impact their ability to perform services for us. Further, our acquisition activity could increase 
the challenge of retaining our key employees and subcontractors and those of the acquired businesses. The loss of any key technical employee or the 
termination of a key subcontractor relationship, and any inability to identify suitable replacements or offer reasonable terms to these candidates, could have 
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to our International Operations

Our operations in international markets expose us to additional risks, and failure to manage those risks could have a material adverse effect on our 
business.

We have subsidiaries in various international markets around the world, including in the United Kingdom (“U.K.”), the Netherlands, France, Ireland, 
Spain, Australia, Canada and Hungary. The success of our business depends, in part, on our ability to successfully manage these foreign operations. Our 
international operations subject us to risks that could increase expenses, restrict our ability to operate, result in lost revenues or otherwise materially and 
adversely affect our business, including:

• political, social, and economic instability, including the on-going impact of the U.K.’s exit from the E.U. and European sovereign debt issues 
and tightening of government budgets; 

• wars, civil unrest, acts of terrorism and other conflicts;

• increased complexity and costs of managing or overseeing foreign operations, including adapting and localizing our services to specific 
regions and countries and relying on different third-party service providers;

• local business and cultural factors and customs that may differ from our normal standards and practices;

• complying with tariffs, trade restrictions, and trade agreements and any changes thereto;

• foreign exchange and other restrictions and limitations on the transfer or repatriation of funds;

• adverse tax consequences;

• fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

• complying with varying legal and regulatory environments in multiple foreign jurisdictions, including with respect to data and consumer 
privacy and payment processing, labor matters and VAT, and unexpected changes in these laws, regulatory requirements, and the enforcement 
thereof; and

• limited protection of our intellectual property and other assets as compared to the laws of the United States.

On January 31, 2020, the U.K. withdrew from the E.U., commonly referred to as “Brexit.” The U.K. and the E.U. agreed to a trade and cooperation 
agreement, which came into force on May 1, 2021 (the “Trade and Cooperation Agreement”).  The Trade and Cooperation Agreement provides for, 
among other things, zero-rate tariffs and zero quotas on the movement of goods between the U.K. and the E.U. In terms of trade in services and business 
travel between the U.K. and E.U., however, the Trade and Cooperation Agreement introduces rules that are more restrictive than those in place when the 
U.K. was a member of the E.U. The impact of these more restrictive rules, including additional inspections and documentation checks, on U.K.-E.U. cross-
border services may have an impact on our U.K. subsidiaries. Their effects have yet to become fully clear, particularly because COVID-19 restrictions have 
also interrupted cross-border services between the U.K. and E.U. Also, the inability for the U.K. and E.U. vehicle licensing authorities to transfer certain 
data using current methods may have an impact on EPC’s ability to obtain information that is necessary to its operations in certain parts of the E.U. These 
restrictions may have an impact on EPC’s ability to obtain information that is necessary to its operations in certain parts of the E.U. 

Brexit has created and may continue to create legal, political and economic risks and uncertainties for our U.K. operations. The main source of 
uncertainty arises from the difference of opinion between the U.K. and E.U. on how to implement the Brexit settlement in Northern Ireland. Both sides are 
in the process of negotiating 
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amendments to the Northern Ireland Protocol, but agreement remains elusive. If the impasse continues, there is a risk that either side could resort to 
retaliatory measures under the terms of the Trade and Cooperation Agreement. Retaliatory measures include the possibility of tariffs being applied to 
imports from the E.U. to the U.K. and from the U.K. to the E.U., and new barriers to cross-border services being erected.

Additionally, Brexit may cause fluctuations in the value of the U.K. pound sterling and E.U. euro. Fluctuations in exchange rates between the U.S. 
dollar and foreign currencies may adversely affect our expenses, earnings, cash flows, results of operations and revenues.

We have limited or no control over these and other factors related to international operations and our strategies to address these risks may not 
correctly anticipate any problems that arise or be successful in expanding our solutions from the United States into new European markets. Any failure to 
successfully manage these and other similar risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our growth strategy is, in part, dependent on successfully implementing our international expansion strategy.
Our growth strategy includes expanding our global footprint, which may involve moving into regions and countries beyond those in which we 

currently operate. In order to achieve widespread acceptance in new markets we may enter, we may need to develop new products and services or tailor our 
existing products and services to that market’s unique customs, cultures and standards. Management of these and any future international subsidiaries may 
divert our resources and require significant attention from management. In addition to the risks inherent in conducting international business, expanding 
internationally with new and existing customers poses additional risks, including: 

• lack of acceptance of our products and services;

• tax issues, including administration of value-added tax, restrictions on repatriating earnings, and with respect to our corporate operating 
structure and intercompany arrangements;

• our ability to adapt our marketing and selling efforts to different cultures and customers;

• a different competitive environment, including a number of smaller competitors and a more fragmented business model, as well as 
competition from other market participants; and

• an unfamiliar regulatory environment, including different local, provincial and national regulations.
If we are unable to effectively manage these risks, our relationships with our existing and prospective customers, strategic partners and employees 

and our operations outside the United States may be adversely affected.
In many cases, we will have limited or no experience in a particular region or country where we intend to launch operations. Moreover, learning the 

customs and cultures, particularly with respect to consumer preferences, differing technology standards and language barriers, is a difficult task. Our failure 
to do so effectively could slow our growth in those regions or countries. In many of these markets, long-standing relationships between potential customers 
and their local partners and protective regulations, including local content requirements and approvals, and disparate networks and systems used by each 
country, will create barriers to entry. Difficulties in foreign financial markets and economies and of foreign financial institutions, particularly in emerging 
markets, could also adversely affect demand in the affected areas. For this strategy to be successful, we must generate sufficient revenues and margins from 
the new markets to offset the expense of the expansion. Moreover, as the scale of our international operations increases, we will be more susceptible to the 
general risks related to our existing international operations discussed above. If we are unable to further expand internationally or if we are unable to 
effectively and efficiently manage the complexity of our expanded operations and compete in these new regions and countries, our business, financial 
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Failure to comply with anticorruption and anti-money laundering laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar laws associated 
with our activities outside of the United States, could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our operations subject us to anticorruption and other similar laws and regulations of multiple jurisdictions, both within the United States and 
internationally, which are often evolving, including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the “FCPA”), the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18 
U.S.C. § 201, the U.S. Travel Act, the Patriot Act, and comparable foreign anti-bribery and anti-money laundering laws and regulations, including the 
United Kingdom Bribery Act of 2010. Our Government Solutions business is subject to a number of international, federal, state and local laws and 
regulations regarding similar matters. These laws and regulations prohibit companies and their employees and third-party intermediaries from authorizing, 
offering or providing, directly or indirectly, 
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improper payments or other benefits to government officials, political parties and private-sector recipients for the purpose of obtaining or retaining 
business, directing business to any person or securing any advantage. 

We use various third parties to conduct our business, both domestically and abroad, and we can be held liable for the corrupt or illegal activities of 
our employees, representatives, contractors or subcontractors, partners, and agents, those of the third parties with which we do business or those of any 
businesses we acquire, even if we do not explicitly authorize such activities or if they occurred prior to our acquisition of the relevant business. Safeguards 
we implement to discourage these practices may prove to be ineffective and any internal investigations may not uncover any such practices that may exist. 
Violations of the FCPA or other applicable anti-bribery, anti-corruption, and anti-money laundering laws by us or any of these third parties can result in 
severe criminal or civil sanctions, or other liabilities or proceedings against us, including class action lawsuits, whistleblower complaints, enforcement 
actions by the SEC, Department of Justice, and U.S. state and local and foreign regulators, adverse media coverage, non-responsibility determinations by 
procuring agencies, and suspension or debarment from government contracts, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
Failure to acquire necessary intellectual property or adequately protect our intellectual property could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to protect and defend our intellectual property against infringement, misappropriation and dilution. To 
protect our intellectual property rights, we rely on a combination of patent, trademark, copyright, trade secret and unfair competition laws of the United 
States and other countries, as well as contract provisions. We have registered certain patents and trademarks and have applications pending in the United 
States and foreign jurisdictions for some inventions and trademarks, including the Verra Mobility word mark and logo, for which some registrations have 
been granted and some applications are pending. However, not all of the trademarks and inventions we currently use have been registered in all of the 
countries in which we do business, and they may never be registered in all of those countries, and the applications we submit for these protections may not 
be granted. While we make efforts to acquire rights to intellectual property necessary for our operations, these measures may not adequately protect our 
rights in any given case, particularly in those countries where the laws do not protect proprietary rights as fully as in the United States.

If we fail to acquire necessary intellectual property rights or adequately protect or assert our intellectual property rights, competitors may 
manufacture and market similar products and services, or dilute our brands, which could adversely affect our market share. It may be possible for third 
parties to reverse engineer, otherwise obtain, copy, and use software or information that we regard as proprietary. In addition, our competitors may avoid 
application of our existing or future intellectual property rights. Further, patent rights, copyrights and contractual provisions may not prevent our 
competitors from developing, using or selling products or services that are similar to or address the same market as, our products and services. Failure to 
obtain registrations for the Verra Mobility word mark or logo may have a significant adverse impact on our brand. Moreover, some of our trademarks and 
services are descriptive or include descriptive elements, which may make it difficult to enforce our rights or prevent others from adopting and using similar 
marks. Competitive products and services could reduce the market value of our brands, products and services, inhibit attracting new customers or 
maintaining existing customers, lower our profits, and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our measures to monitor and protect our intellectual property may not be adequate to maintain or enforce our patents, trademarks or other intellectual 
property rights. 

Despite our efforts to monitor and protect our intellectual property, we may not be able to maintain or enforce our patents, trademarks or other 
intellectual property rights. Unauthorized third parties may use our trademarks and service marks, or marks that are similar thereto, to impinge on our 
goodwill, cause consumer confusion or dilute our rights in the marks. We are aware of products, software and marks similar to our intellectual property 
being used by other persons. Although we believe that such uses will not adversely affect us, further or currently unknown unauthorized uses or other 
infringement of our trademarks or service marks could diminish the value of our intellectual property and may adversely affect our business. Even where 
we have effectively secured protection for our intellectual property, our competitors may challenge, infringe, misappropriate or dilute our intellectual 
property and our employees, consultants, contractors, customers and suppliers may breach their contractual obligations not to reveal or use our confidential 
information, including trade secrets. Additionally, defending or enforcing our intellectual property rights and agreements, and seeking an injunction or 
compensation for infringements or misappropriations, could result in expending significant resources and diverting management attention, which in turn 
may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

26



 
We have been and may become subject to third-party infringement claims or challenges to the validity of our intellectual property that could have a 
material adverse effect on our business.

We have faced, and may in the future face, claims for infringement, misappropriation or other violations of intellectual property rights from 
intellectual property owners in areas where we operate or intend to operate, including in foreign jurisdictions. Such claims may or may not be unfounded. 
Regardless of whether such claims have merit, our image, brands, competitive position and ability to expand our operations into other jurisdictions may be 
harmed and we may incur significant costs related to defense or settlement. If such claims were decided against us or a third party we indemnify pursuant 
to license terms, we could be required to pay damages, develop or adopt non-infringing products or services, or acquire a license to the intellectual property 
that is the subject of the asserted claim, which license may not be available on acceptable terms or at all. 

Defending or settling claims would require the expenditure of additional capital, and negative publicity could arise, even if the matter was ultimately 
decided in our favor. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Growth into new territories and technologies may be hindered or blocked by pre-existing third-party rights.
We act to obtain and protect intellectual property rights to operate successfully in those territories where we operate and intend to expand. Certain 

intellectual property rights including rights in trademarks and patents are national in character, and are obtained on a country-by-country basis by the first 
person to obtain protection through use or registration in that country in connection with specified products and services. As our business grows, we 
continuously evaluate the potential for expansion into new territories and new products and services. There is a risk with each expansion, including for 
pending applications, that growth will be limited or unavailable due to pre-existing third-party intellectual property rights.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness
Our substantial level of indebtedness could cause our business to suffer and incurring additional debt could intensify debt-related risks. 

We have a substantial amount of debt, including approximately $895 million outstanding under our first lien term loan facility as of December 31, 
2021, which includes the additional $250 million available under our incremental term loan facility, borrowed in December 2021 in connection with the 
acquisition of T2 Systems. Additionally, pursuant to an indenture, VM Consolidated, Inc. issued an aggregate principal amount of $350 million in Senior 
Unsecured Notes (the “Senior Notes”) due 2029. We may also incur substantial additional debt in the future to, among other things, finance our acquisition 
strategy. We have the option to increase commitments under our revolving credit agreement by up to $50.0 million, all of which will be secured. We also 
have the ability to draw an unlimited amount from our first lien term loan facility, subject to the satisfaction of a maximum total net leverage ratio or 
minimum fixed charge coverage ratio, on a pro forma basis, all of which will be secured. Our substantial debt could have important consequences, any of 
which could be intensified if new debt is added to our current debt levels. For example, it could:

• increase our vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions;
• limit our ability to obtain additional financing for future working capital, capital expenditures, strategic acquisitions and other general 

corporate requirements;

• expose us to interest rate fluctuations because the interest rate on certain of our debt is variable;
• require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our debt, thereby reducing the availability of our 

cash flow for operations and other purposes;
• make it more difficult for us to satisfy our general business obligations, including our obligations to our lenders, resulting in possible defaults 

on and acceleration of such indebtedness;
• limit our ability to refinance indebtedness or increase the associated costs;
• require us to sell assets to reduce debt or influence our decision about whether to do so;

• limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate or prevent us from carrying 
out capital spending that is necessary or important to our growth strategy and efforts to improve operating margins; and
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• place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to any competitors that have less debt or comparable debt at more favorable interest rates 

and that, as a result, may be better positioned to withstand economic downturns.
Our failure to comply with covenants under our debt instruments could adversely affect our business and financial condition.

The agreements governing our indebtedness contain restrictive covenants that will limit our and our subsidiaries’ ability to engage in activities that 
may be in our and their long-term best interests and informational covenants, requiring the delivery of, including other items, our quarterly and annual 
financial statements within a specified time following the end of the respective quarter or fiscal year. The creditors who hold our debt could accelerate 
amounts due in the event that we default on these covenants, which could potentially trigger a default or acceleration of the maturity of our other debt. If 
we are unable to comply with any covenant, such as our ability to timely prepare and furnish our financial statements, we may need to obtain waivers from 
the required creditors under our indebtedness instruments to avoid being in default.

Restrictive covenants in the agreements governing our indebtedness could restrict our operating flexibility.
The agreements governing our indebtedness limit our ability to take certain actions. These restrictions may limit our ability to operate our 

businesses, prohibit or limit our ability to enhance our operations or take advantage of potential business opportunities as they arise and cause us to take 
actions that are not favorable to stockholders.

The agreements governing our indebtedness restrict, among other things and subject to certain exceptions, our and our restricted subsidiaries’ ability 
to:

• incur additional indebtedness;
• pay dividends or other payments on capital stock;

• guarantee other obligations;
• grant liens on assets;
• make loans, acquisitions or other investments;
• transfer or dispose of assets;
• make optional payments or modify certain debt instruments;

• engage in transactions with affiliates;
• amend organizational documents;
• engage in mergers or consolidations;
• enter into arrangements that restrict the ability to pay dividends;
• engage in business activities that are materially different from existing business activities;

• change the nature of the business we conduct; and
• designate subsidiaries as unrestricted subsidiaries.

Under our first lien term loan facility, we could be required to make periodic prepayments based on excess cash flow (as defined by the first lien 
term loan agreement) thereby limiting the amount of cash flow that can be reinvested in our business. For example, under our revolving credit facility, if 
availability goes below a certain threshold, we will be required to comply with a minimum “consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio” financial covenant as 
calculated therein. Moreover, if availability falls below a certain threshold for a specified number of business days, we could be required to remit our cash 
funds to a dominion account maintained by the administrative agent to the revolving credit facility, which would require daily review and approval of 
operating disbursements by the administrative agent.

Our ability to comply with the covenants and restrictions contained in agreements governing our indebtedness may be affected by economic 
conditions and by financial, market and competitive factors, many of which are beyond our control. Our ability to comply with these covenants in future 
periods will also depend substantially on the pricing and sales volume of our products, our success at implementing cost reduction initiatives and our ability 
to successfully implement our overall business strategy. The breach of any of these covenants or restrictions could result in a default under one or more of 
the agreements governing our indebtedness that would permit the applicable 
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lenders to declare all amounts outstanding thereunder to be due and payable, together with accrued and unpaid interest. In that case, we may be unable to 
borrow under our revolving credit agreement or otherwise, may not be able to repay the amounts due under the agreements governing our indebtedness, 
and may not be able to make cash available by dividend, debt repayment or otherwise. In addition, our lenders could proceed against the collateral securing 
that indebtedness. Any of the foregoing could have serious consequences to our financial position, results of operations or cash flows and could cause us to 
become bankrupt or insolvent.

The agreements governing our indebtedness contain cross default or cross acceleration provisions that may cause all of the debt issued under those 
instruments to become immediately due and payable because of a default under an unrelated debt instrument.

The agreements governing our indebtedness contain numerous covenants and require us, if availability goes below a certain threshold, to comply 
with a minimum “consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio” financial covenant as calculated in the revolving credit agreement. Our failure to comply with 
the obligations contained in these agreements or other instruments governing our indebtedness could result in an event of default under the applicable 
instrument, which could result in the related debt and the debt issued under other instruments (together with accrued and unpaid interest and other fees) 
becoming immediately due and payable. In such event, we would need to raise funds from alternative sources, which funds may not be available to us on 
favorable terms, on a timely basis or at all. Alternatively, such a default could require us to sell assets and otherwise curtail our operations in order to pay 
our creditors. These alternative measures could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
 
If we do not generate sufficient cash flows, we may not be able to service all of our indebtedness.

To service our indebtedness, we will require a significant amount of cash. Our ability to generate cash, make scheduled payments or to refinance our 
debt obligations depends on our successful financial and operating performance, which will be affected by a range of economic, competitive and business 
factors, many of which are outside of our control.

If our cash flow and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations or to repay indebtedness when it matures, we may have to 
undertake alternative financing plans, such as refinancing or restructuring our debt, selling assets or operations, reducing or delaying capital investments or 
seeking to raise additional capital. We may not be able to refinance our debt and any refinancing of our debt could be at higher interest rates and may 
require us to comply with more restrictive covenants that could further restrict our business operations and our ability to make cash available for dividends 
and distributions and payments on our other debt obligations (if any). Our ability to implement successfully any such alternative financing plans will be 
dependent on a range of factors, including general economic conditions, the level of activity in mergers and acquisitions and capital markets generally, and 
the terms of our various debt instruments then in effect. In addition, a significant portion of our outstanding indebtedness is secured by substantially all of 
our assets including our subsidiaries’ assets, and any successor credit facilities are likely to be secured on a similar basis. As such, our ability to seek 
additional financing or our ability to make cash available for dividends and distributions and payments on our other debt obligations (if any) could be 
impaired as a result of such security interests and the agreements governing such security interests. Moreover, as a result of these security interests, the 
underlying assets would only be available to satisfy claims of our general creditors or holders of our equity securities if we were to become insolvent to the 
extent the value of such assets exceeded the amount of our indebtedness and other obligations.

 
Our inability to generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy our debt obligations or to refinance our obligations on commercially reasonable terms could 

have a material adverse effect on our business, including our financial condition and results of operations.
 

We may be unable to obtain additional financing to fund operations and growth.
We may require additional financing to fund our operations or growth, whether organic or through acquisitions. Our failure to secure additional 

financing could have a material adverse effect on our continued development or growth. None of our officers, directors or stockholders is required to 
provide any future financing to us.
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The phase-out of LIBOR may adversely affect our outstanding debt.

The London InterBank Offered Rate, or LIBOR, is scheduled to be phased out beginning in 2022. In the United States, the Alternative Reference 
Rates Committee, the working group formed to recommend an alternative rate to LIBOR, has identified the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) 
as its preferred alternative rate for USD LIBOR. Our debt instrument has an interest rate that is based on LIBOR, and subject to certain conditions, SOFR 
will replace it. Changes in the method of determining LIBOR, or the replacement of LIBOR with an alternative floating borrowing rate, including SOFR, 
may adversely affect our borrowing costs. Transitioning to a different borrowing rate, including SOFR, may result in less favorable pricing on our debt 
instruments and could have an adverse effect on our financial results and cash flows.

Risks Related to Our Class A Common Stock, Warrants, Related Party Transactions and Organizational Documents
Our failure to be current in our filings with the SEC could pose significant risks to our business, each of which could materially and adversely affect 
our financial condition and results of operations.

Under the Exchange Act, the Company (as reporting company) is required to provide investors on a regular basis with periodic reports that contain 
important financial and business information. Examples of these reports include the annually filed Form 10-K and the quarterly filed Form 10-Q. Periodic 
reports help investors to make informed investment decisions about the purchase or sale of a reporting company’s securities. The timely and complete 
submission of periodic reports provides investors with information to help them make informed investment decisions. The SEC’s Divisions of Enforcement 
and Corporation Finance jointly established the Delinquent Filings Program in 2004 to encourage reporting companies that are delinquent in filing their 
periodic reports to submit their periodic reports or rectify deficient periodic reports. The SEC’s Delinquent Filings Group in its Division of Enforcement 
conducts investigations into possible violations of the federal securities laws’ periodic reporting obligations and prosecutes administrative proceedings 
against companies when appropriate. The Division of Corporation Finance identifies reporting companies that are delinquent filers and usually provides 
them with notice of their failure to submit periodic reports. If a reporting company identified as a delinquent filer fails to submit its periodic reports, 
Section 12(k) of the Exchange Act gives the SEC the authority to suspend trading in a security for up to 10 trading days if the SEC believes that a 
suspension is required to protect investors and the public interest. A trading suspension by the SEC halts the trading in a security on all trading platforms 
(e.g., national securities exchanges, over-the-counter market, or alternative trading systems). In addition, Section 12(j) gives the SEC the authority to 
revoke, or suspend for up to twelve months, an issuer’s securities registration if, after an administrative hearing, the SEC finds that an issuer violated the 
Exchange Act by failing to file its periodic reports.

Our inability to timely file our periodic reports with the SEC could have an adverse impact on our ability to, among other things, (i) access our credit
facilities, (ii) attract and retain key employees, and (iii) raise funds in the public markets, and any of these events could materially and adversely affect our 
financial condition and results of operations. In addition, given our delay in timely filing this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have lost our status as a 
“well known seasoned issuer,” including the registration advantages associated with such status, for at least the next 12 months even after we become 
current with our delinquent filings with the SEC. As a result, we will not be able to register any new shares of our securities on certain short-form 
registration statements under the Securities Act, such as Forms S-3, until we have filed all reports required under the Exchange Act for a continuous period 
of 12 months. Should we wish to register the offer and sale of our securities to the public prior to the time we are eligible to use Form S-3, both our 
transaction costs and the amount of time required to complete the transaction could increase, making it more difficult to execute any such transaction 
successfully and potentially harming our financial condition.
We are required to pay PE Greenlight Holdings, LLC for a significant portion of the tax benefit relating to pre-Business Combination tax attributes of 
Verra Mobility.

At the closing of the Business Combination, we entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement with the PE Greenlight Holdings, LLC (the “Platinum 
Stockholder”) and the stockholder representative (as may be amended from time to time, the “Tax Receivable Agreement”). The Tax Receivable 
Agreement provides for the payment by us to the Platinum Stockholder of 50% of the net cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state and local income tax 
that we actually realize (or are deemed to realize in certain circumstances) in periods after the closing of the Business Combination as a result of the 
increase in the tax basis of the intangible assets of Highway Toll Administration, LLC (“HTA”) resulting from the acquisition of HTA by Verra Mobility 
prior to the Business Combination. We will generally retain the benefit of the remaining 50% of these cash savings.

Under certain circumstances (including an election by us, a material breach of our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement, or certain 
transactions constituting a change in control or divestiture of the HTA assets 
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under the Tax Receivable Agreement), payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement may accelerate, and we may be required to make such payments in a 
lump sum based on certain valuation assumptions, including that we and our subsidiaries will generate sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the 
applicable deductions generated by the intangible assets of HTA.

Anti-takeover provisions contained in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, could impair a takeover 
attempt.

Our certificate of incorporation contains provisions that may discourage unsolicited takeover proposals that stockholders may consider to be in their 
best interests. We are also subject to anti-takeover provisions under Delaware law, which could delay or prevent a change of control. Together, these 
provisions may make the removal of management more difficult and may discourage transactions that otherwise could involve payment of a premium over 
prevailing market prices for our securities. These provisions will include:

• no cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates;

• a classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms, which could delay the ability of stockholders to change the membership of a 
majority of our Board of Directors (our “Board”);

• the requirement that directors may only be removed from the Board for cause;

• the right of our Board to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of our Board or the resignation, death or removal of a 
director in certain circumstances, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our Board;

• a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special meeting of our 
stockholders; 

• a prohibition on stockholders calling a special meeting and the requirement that a meeting of stockholders may only be called by members of 
our Board or our Chief Executive Officer, which may delay the ability of our stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or to take 
action, including the removal of directors;

• the requirement that changes or amendments to certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation or bylaws must be approved by holders 
of at least two-thirds of our Common Stock; and

• advance notice procedures that stockholders must comply with in order to nominate candidates to our Board or to propose matters to be acted 
upon at a meeting of stockholders, which may discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the 
acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.

Our bylaws include a forum selection clause, which may impact the ability of our stockholders to bring actions against us.
Subject to certain limitations, our bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery in 

the State of Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for any stockholder (including a beneficial owner) to bring: (a) any derivative action or 
proceeding brought on our behalf; (b) any action asserting a claim of breach of fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employees or 
our stockholders; (c) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporate Law or our certificate of 
incorporation or bylaws; or (d) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine. In addition, our bylaws provide that unless we consent 
in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint 
asserting a cause of action arising under the federal securities laws of the United States against us, our officers, directors, employees or underwriters. These 
limitations on the forum in which stockholders may initiate action against us could create costs or, inconvenience or otherwise adversely affect our 
stockholders’ ability to seek legal redress. If a court were to find the forum-selection provisions contained in our bylaws to be unenforceable, we may incur 
additional costs associated with resolving proceedings in forums other than the Court of Chancery in the State of Delaware and the federal district courts of 
the United States.

Resales of the shares of our securities could depress the market price of our securities.
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We had 156,078,561 shares of Class A Common Stock, par value $0.0001 (our “Class A Common Stock”) outstanding as of December 31, 2021. 

We have registered the 10,864,000 shares of Class A Common Stock that we may issue under the Verra Mobility Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive Plan 
so that they may be freely sold in the public market upon issuance, subject to volume limitations applicable to affiliates.

There may be a large number of our securities sold in the market in the near future. These sales, or the perception in the market that the holders of a 
large number of securities intend to sell securities, could reduce the market price of our securities. Such sales of our securities or the perception of such 
sales may depress the market price of our securities.

Our only significant asset is our ownership interest in our operating subsidiaries and such ownership may not be sufficient to pay dividends or make 
distributions or loans to enable us to pay any dividends on our Class A Common Stock or satisfy our other financial obligations, including our 
obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement.

We have no direct operations and no significant assets other than our ownership interest in our operating subsidiaries. We depend on our operating 
subsidiaries for distributions, loans and other payments to generate the funds necessary to meet our financial obligations, including our expenses as a 
publicly traded company, to pay any dividends with respect to our Class A Common Stock, and to satisfy our obligations under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement. The financial condition and operating requirements of our operating subsidiaries may limit our ability to obtain cash from our operating 
subsidiaries. The earnings from, or other available assets of, our operating subsidiaries may not be sufficient to pay dividends or make distributions or loans 
to enable us to pay any dividends on our Common Stock or satisfy our other financial obligations, including our obligations under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement.

The ability of our operating subsidiaries (other than subsidiaries which have been designated as unrestricted pursuant to our ability to do so in 
certain limited circumstances) to make distributions, loans and other payments to us for the purposes described above and for any other purpose is 
governed by the terms of the Debt Agreements and will be subject to the negative covenants set forth therein. Any loans or other extensions of credit will 
be subject to the investment covenants under the Rollover Credit Agreements. The “Debt Agreements” means, collectively: (i) the Amendment and 
Restatement Agreement No. 1 to First Lien Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of March 26, 2021, among Greenlight Acquisition Corporation, a 
Delaware corporation; VM Consolidated, Inc. (formerly known as ATS Consolidated, Inc.), a Delaware corporation; American Traffic Solutions, Inc., a 
Kansas corporation; and Lasercraft, Inc., the subsidiary guarantors party thereto, a Georgia corporation; the lenders party thereto from time to time; and 
Bank of America, N.A. as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent; and (ii) the Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2018, among 
Greenlight Acquisition Corporation, a Delaware corporation; VM Consolidated, Inc., a Delaware corporation; the other Borrowers (for this purpose only, as 
defined therein) party thereto from time to time; the lenders party thereto from time to time; and Bank of America, as the administrative agent and the 
collateral agent; and (iii) the Indenture governing VM Consolidated, Inc.’s 5.50% Senior Notes Due 2029, among VM Consolidated, Inc., Wilmington 
Trust, National Association, and the Guarantors named therein, dated as of March 26, 2021, in the case of each of the foregoing (i) and (ii), as amended or 
otherwise modified from time to time..
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If our Class A Common Stock is delisted from Nasdaq, a market for our securities may not continue, which would adversely affect the liquidity and 
price of our securities.

The price of our securities may vary due to general economic conditions and forecasts, our general business condition and the release of our 
financial reports. Additionally, if our securities are not listed on, or become delisted from, Nasdaq for any reason, including for failure to maintain 
compliance with rules for continued listing on Nasdaq, and are quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board or OTC Pink, an inter-dealer automated quotation system 
for equity securities that is not a national securities exchange, the liquidity and price of our securities may be more limited than if we were quoted or listed 
on Nasdaq or another national securities exchange. On March 3, 2022, we received a notice from Nasdaq stating that because we had not yet filed this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K, we were no longer in compliance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5250(c)(1), which requires listed companies to timely file all 
required periodic financial reports with the SEC. On March 17, 2022, we submitted to Nasdaq a plan to regain compliance with Nasdaq’s requirements for 
continued listing and on March 31, 2022, Nasdaq granted us an extension until May 2, 2022, to regain compliance with Nasdaq’s requirements for 
continued listing. There can be no assurance that Nasdaq will consider us in compliance with the listing rules after the filing of this Annual Report on Form 
10-K, that we will be able to maintain compliance with Nasdaq’s rules for continued listing, including the requirements that we timely file our future 
periodic reports with the SEC, or that our Class A Common Stock will remain listed on Nasdaq. 

Our warrants using the trading symbol “VRRMW” were removed from listing by Nasdaq on December 14, 2018, due to an insufficient number of 
round lot holders following completion of the Business Combination. Those warrants are now quoted on OTC Pink under the symbol “VRRMW.” 
Accordingly, the liquidity of our warrants may be more limited than if they were quoted or listed on Nasdaq or another national securities exchange. Our 
securities holders may be unable to sell their securities unless a market can be sustained.

The valuation of our warrants could increase the volatility in our net income (loss) in our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive 
income (loss).

The warrants originally issued to Gores Sponsor II, LLC in a private placement in connection with the IPO (the "Private Placement Warrants") are 
remeasured at the end of each reporting period and any changes in the fair value of the liability are recorded as a gain or loss on the consolidated statements 
of operations. Significant changes in the fair value of the Private Placement Warrants may create volatility and adversely affect our net income (loss) from 
period to period.

The change in fair value of our warrants is the result of changes in stock price and warrants outstanding at each reporting period. The change in fair 
value of warrant liabilities represents the mark-to-market fair value adjustments to the outstanding warrants issued in connection with the IPO. Significant 
changes in our stock price or number of warrants outstanding may adversely affect our net income (loss) in our consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income (loss).

Our business could be negatively affected as a result of actions of activist stockholders or others.

We may be subject to actions or proposals from stockholders or others that may not align with our business strategies or the interests of our other 
stockholders. Responding to such actions can be costly and time-consuming, disrupt our business and operations, and divert the attention of our Board, 
management, and employees from the pursuit of our business strategies. Such activities could interfere with our ability to execute our strategic plan. 
Activist stockholders or others may create perceived uncertainties as to the future direction of our business or strategy which may be exploited by our 
competitors and may make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified personnel and potential guests, and may affect our relationships with current 
guests, vendors, investors, and other third parties. In addition, a proxy contest for the election of directors at our annual meeting would require us to incur 
significant legal fees and proxy solicitation expenses and require significant time and attention by management and our Board. The perceived uncertainties 
as to our future direction also could affect the market price and volatility of our securities.

Risks Related to Our Vendors
Our reliance on third-party providers could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We rely heavily on third-party providers, including subcontractors, manufacturers, software vendors, software application developers, and utility and 
network providers, to meet their obligations to us in a timely and high-quality manner. For example, we rely on third parties such as the National Law 
Enforcement Telecommunications System, 
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Polk, DMVDesk, CVR and Dealertrack to provide a direct connection to state departments of motor vehicles (and their European equivalents) and other 
governmental agencies with which we do not have direct relationships for the driver and other information we use in our business. Our ability to offer our 
solutions would be materially affected if this access was unavailable or materially restricted, or if the price we pay increased significantly. Our Government 
Solutions business also relies on a number of third-party manufacturers, including camera manufacturers and automated license plate recognition providers, 
and outsources some engineering, construction, maintenance, printing and mailing, call center, image review and violations processing work. Further, if one 
or more tolling authorities cancels our accounts, or stops providing transponders and we are unable to obtain transponders through other sources, our 
Commercial Services business would be affected. Our Parking Solutions business also relies on a number of domestic and foreign third-party 
manufacturers in the production of our Pay Station, PARCS and PE hardware solutions, and our inability to access third-party providers could have a 
material adverse effect on our business. 

We also outsource a meaningful percentage of our software development work to third parties. Some of our agreements with these third parties 
include termination rights, allowing the third party to terminate the arrangement in certain circumstances. For example, the agreements with our third-party 
payment processors give them the right to terminate the relationship if we fail to keep credit card chargeback and retrieval rates below certain thresholds. If 
any of our third-party providers are unable or unwilling to meet their obligations to us, fail to satisfy our expectations or those of our customers, including 
those imposed through flow-down provisions in prime contracts, or if they terminate or refuse to renew their relationships with us on substantially similar 
terms, we may be unable to find adequate replacements within a reasonable time frame, on favorable commercial terms or at all, and our business, financial 
condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

While we perform some due diligence on these third parties and take measures to ensure that they comply with applicable laws and regulations, we 
do not have an extensive screening or review process and ultimately cannot guarantee our third-party providers will comply with applicable laws, the terms 
of their agreements or flow-down requirements from our customers. Misconduct or performance deficiencies by any of our third-party providers may be 
perceived as misconduct or poor performance by us, cause us to fall short on our contractual obligations to our customers or harm our reputation, any of 
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We rely on communications networks and information systems and any interruption could have a material adverse effect on our business.
We rely heavily on the satisfactory performance and availability of our information technology infrastructure and systems, including our websites 

and network infrastructure, to conduct our business. We rely on third-party communications service and system providers to provide technology services 
and link our systems with our customers’ networks and systems, including a reliable network backbone with the necessary speed, data capacity and 
security. We also rely on third-party vendors, including data center, bandwidth and telecommunications equipment providers. A failure or interruption that 
results in the unavailability of any of our information systems or a major disruption of communications between a system and the customers we serve could 
disrupt the effective operation of our solutions and otherwise adversely impact our ability to manage our business effectively. We may experience system 
and service interruptions or disruptions for a variety of reasons, including as the result of network failures, power outages, cyber-attacks, employee errors, 
software errors, an unusually high volume of transactions, or localized conditions such as fire, explosions or power outages or broader geographic events 
such as earthquakes, storms, floods, epidemics, strikes, acts of war, civil unrest or terrorist acts. We have taken steps to mitigate our exposure to certain 
service disruptions by investing in redundant or blended circuits, although the redundant or blended circuits may also suffer disruption. Because we are 
dependent in part on independent third parties for the implementation and maintenance of certain aspects of our systems and because some of the causes of 
system interruptions may be outside of our control, we may not be able to remedy such interruptions in a timely manner, or at all. Any interruption or delay 
in or cessation of these services and systems could significantly disrupt operations, impact customers, damage our reputation, result in litigation, decrease 
the overall use and acceptance of our solutions, result in lost data and be costly, time consuming and difficult to remedy, any of which could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

General Risk Factors
If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results.

As a public company, we are required to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 (“SOX”), which requires, among other things, 
that companies maintain disclosure controls and procedures to ensure timely disclosure of material information, and that management reviews the 
effectiveness of those controls on a 
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quarterly basis.  During fiscal year 2021, we identified material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting related to: (i) the monitoring 
and control activities over the acquisition of Redflex Holdings Limited due to the lack of sufficient qualified accounting resources to timely identify and 
assess accounting implications of revenue arrangements assumed as part of the acquisition and to provide adequate controls over the completeness and 
accuracy of inputs used in accounting for the business combination; and (ii) the design and maintenance of certain revenue and reporting controls related to 
a third-party application utilized in performing certain control activities and used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. As a result of 
these material weaknesses, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2021.

During fiscal year 2021, we also identified a material weakness in our internal control over the operation of certain controls over the review of the 
accounting for our Private Placement Warrants related to the April 12, 2021 SEC Staff Statement on Accounting and Reporting Considerations for Warrants 
Issued by Special Purpose Acquisition Companies. This material weakness resulted in a material misstatement of our private placement warrant liability, 
change in fair value of private placement warrant liability, additional paid-in capital and accumulated deficit as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and for 
years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. We restated our consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and for the years 
ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 upon completing our management’s evaluation of the SEC Staff statement as a part of our remediation measures. 
As a result of these material weaknesses, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 
2020. We completed the remediation measures related to the material weakness during fiscal year 2021.

During fiscal year 2019, we identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting related to ineffective information 
technology general controls in the area of user access over certain systems that support our financial reporting process. This material weakness did not 
result in any misstatement of our financial statements for any period presented and during fiscal year 2020, we completed the remediation measures related 
to the material weakness.

We cannot be certain that we will be able to maintain adequate controls over our financial processes and reporting in the future or that we will be 
able to comply with our obligations under Section 404 of SOX. If we fail to maintain the adequacy of our internal controls, we cannot assure our 
stockholders that we will be able to conclude in the future that we have effective internal control over financial reporting, and/or we may encounter 
difficulties in implementing or improving our internal controls, which could harm our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. 
If we fail to maintain effective internal controls, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, the market price 
of our securities may be negatively affected, and we could be subject to sanctions or investigation by regulatory authorities, such as the SEC or Nasdaq.

Litigation and other disputes and regulatory investigations could have a material adverse effect on our business.
From time to time, we may be involved in litigation and other disputes or regulatory investigations that arise in and outside the ordinary course of 

business. We expect that the number, frequency and significance of these matters may increase as our business expands and we grow as a company. 
Litigation, disputes, or regulatory investigations may relate to, among other things, intellectual property, commercial arrangements, negligence and 
fiduciary duty claims, vicarious liability based upon conduct of individuals or entities outside of our control, including our third-party service providers, 
antitrust claims, deceptive trade practices, claims related to invoicing, personal injury claims, general fraud claims and employment law claims, including 
compliance with wage and hour regulations and contractual requirements. An adverse determination may result in liability to us for the claim and may also 
result in the imposition of penalties and/or fines. Like other companies that handle sensitive personal and payment information, we also face the possibility 
of allegations regarding employee fraud or misconduct. In addition to more general litigation, at times we are also a named party in claims made against 
our customers, including putative class actions challenging the legality and constitutionality of automated photo enforcement and other similar programs of 
our Government Solutions customers and consumer fraud claims brought against our RAC customers alleging faulty disclosures regarding our services. 

As a public company, we may also be subject to securities class action and stockholder derivative lawsuits. From time to time, we may also be 
reviewed or investigated by U.S. federal, state, or local regulators or regulators in the foreign jurisdictions in which we operate regarding similar and other 
matters, including tax assessments. 

These investigations can be commenced at the initiative of the governmental authority or as a result of complaints by private citizens, regardless of 
whether the complaint has any merit. At times, we are also required to 
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obtain licensing and permitting, including with respect to matters such as general contracting, performance of engineering services, performance of 
electrical work and performance of private investigative work. Although we carry general liability insurance coverage, our insurance may not cover all 
potential claims to which we are exposed, whether as a result of a dispute, litigation or governmental investigation, and it may not adequately indemnify us 
for all liability that may be imposed.

Any claims against us or investigation into our business and activities, whether meritorious or not, could be time consuming, result in significant 
legal and other expenses, require significant amounts of management time and result in the diversion of significant operational resources. Class action 
lawsuits can often be particularly burdensome given the breadth of claims, large potential damages and significant costs of defense. In the case of 
intellectual property litigation and proceedings, adverse outcomes could include the cancellation, invalidation or other loss of material intellectual property 
rights used in our business and injunctions prohibiting our use of business processes or technology that is subject to third-party patents or other third-party 
intellectual property rights. Legal or regulatory matters involving our directors, officers or employees in their individual capacities can also create exposure 
for us because we may be obligated or may choose to indemnify the affected individuals against liabilities and expenses they incur in connection with such 
matters. Regulatory investigations, including with respect to proper licensing, payment of wages, procurement practices or permitting, can also lead to 
enforcement actions, fines and penalties, the loss of a license or permit or the assertion of private litigation claims. Risks associated with these liabilities are 
often difficult to assess or quantify and their existence and magnitude can remain unknown for significant periods of time, making the amount of any legal 
reserves related to these legal liabilities difficult to determine and, if a reserve is established, subject to future revision. Future results of operations could be 
adversely affected if any reserve that we establish for a legal liability is increased or the underlying legal proceeding, investigation or other contingency is 
resolved for an amount in excess of established reserves. Because litigation and other disputes and regulatory investigations are inherently unpredictable, 
the results of any of these matters may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Any failure to keep up with technological developments and changing customer preferences could have a material adverse effect on our business.
We operate in dynamic industries that are characterized by rapid technological change, frequent product and service innovation and evolving 

industry standards. We may be required to implement new technologies or adapt to existing but different technologies from those currently used. Our future 
success will depend on our ability to adapt and innovate to keep up with technological developments and changes in third-party technologies, including 
those of our customers and tolling and issuing authorities, to the extent our integrations are interdependent. As a result, we expect we will need to invest 
significant resources in research and development, often before knowing whether these investments will eventually be successful. The success of new 
solutions and enhancements and new features for existing solutions depends on several factors, including adequate testing, timely completion, appropriate 
introduction and market acceptance. Further, we may be required to make changes due to an inability to secure necessary intellectual property protections 
or licenses. Our inability to anticipate or timely and successfully develop or acquire new products and services or enhance our existing products and 
services to keep pace with technological changes and meet evolving customer requirements could decrease demand for our solutions and otherwise have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks related to laws and regulations and any changes in those laws could have a material adverse effect on our business.
We are subject to multiple, and sometimes conflicting, laws and regulations in the countries, states and localities in which we operate. We are 

required to comply with certain SEC, Nasdaq and other legal or regulatory requirements. Compliance with, and monitoring of, applicable laws, regulations 
and rules may be difficult, time consuming and costly. For instance, we have incurred, and may continue to incur, significant expenses related to legal, 
accounting, and other professional services in connection with the internal investigation regarding potential revenue recognition matters at the Company’s 
subsidiary, Redflex. These expenses, the delay in timely filing this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and the diversion of the attention of the management 
team that has occurred, and is expected to continue, has adversely affected, and could continue to adversely affect, our business, financial condition, and 
cash flows.

In addition to the laws and regulations discussed elsewhere in these risk factors regarding data privacy, foreign operations and other matters, we are 
subject to laws regarding transportation safety, consumer protection, procurement, anti-kickback, labor and employment matters, competition and antitrust, 
payment processing, intellectual property, environmental matters, and other trade-related laws and regulations. Certain of our operations are also subject to 
oversight by the USDOT, the Federal Communications Commission, the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission, and the Environmental Protection 
Agency, as well as comparable state and local agencies, including departments of transportation, departments of motor vehicles, professional licensing 
authorities and offices of inspector general. Our Government Solutions segment is also subject to laws related to the use of 
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automated traffic enforcement, the capture, access and retention of data and matters related to government contracting. 

In connection with our European, Australian and Canadian operations, we are subject to laws, regulations and administrative practices addressing 
many of these and other matters in those jurisdictions. 

Recent years have seen a substantial increase in the number of new laws and regulations and the rate of change and enforcement of many of these 
types of laws and regulations. We cannot predict the nature, scope or impact of future laws, regulatory requirements or similar standards may have on our 
business, whether implemented through changes to existing laws or the way they are administered or interpreted, or through entirely new regulations. 
Future laws, regulations, and standards or any changed interpretation or administration of existing laws or regulations could limit the use or adoption of one 
or more of our solutions or require us to incur additional costs or impact our ability to develop and market new solutions. However, we may not be able to 
respond in a reasonable or cost-effective manner, or at all. Even if we make what we believe are appropriate changes, there is no certainty those actions will 
comply.

Any alleged or actual violations of any law or regulation, change in law or regulation or changes in the interpretation of existing laws or regulations 
may subject us to government scrutiny, including government or regulatory investigations and enforcement actions, civil and criminal fines and penalties, 
and negative publicly, or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our failure to properly perform under our contracts or otherwise satisfy our customers could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Our business model depends in large part on our ability to retain existing work and attract new work from existing customers. If a customer is not 

satisfied with our products, services or solutions or the timeliness or quality of our work, we may incur additional costs to address the problem, the 
profitability of that contract may be impaired, we may experience payment delays, it could do harm to our reputation and hinder our ability to win new 
work from prospective customers. Failure to properly transition new customers to our systems or existing customers to our different systems, properly 
budget transition costs or accurately estimate contract costs could also result in delays and general customer dissatisfaction. Many of our contracts may be 
terminated by the customer upon specified advance notice without cause. Any failure to properly perform under our contracts or meet our customers’ 
expectations could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Unanticipated changes in effective tax rates or adverse outcomes resulting from examination of our income or other tax returns could adversely affect 
our financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to income taxes in numerous countries, and our domestic tax liabilities are subject to the allocation of expenses in differing 
jurisdictions. Our future effective tax rates could be subject to volatility or adversely affected by a number of factors, including:

• changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities; 

• expected timing and amount of the release of any tax valuation allowances;

• tax effects of stock-based compensation;

• costs related to intercompany restructurings;

• changes in tax laws, regulations or interpretations thereof; or

• lower than anticipated future earnings in jurisdictions where we have lower statutory tax rates and higher than anticipated future earnings 
in jurisdictions where we have higher statutory tax rates.

In addition, we are subject to audits of our income, sales and other transaction taxes by U.S. federal and state authorities, as well as foreign tax 
authorities. Outcomes from these audits could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly and could fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors due to certain 
factors, some of which are beyond our control, resulting in a decline in our stock price.

Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly because of several factors, including: 
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• labor availability and costs for hourly and management personnel;

• profitability of our products and services, especially in new markets and due to seasonal fluctuations;

• changes in interest rates;

• impairment of long-lived assets;

• macroeconomic conditions, both nationally and locally;

• negative publicity relating to products and services we offer; 

• changes in consumer preferences and competitive conditions; 

• expansion to new markets; 

• legislative changes impacting automated safety solutions or RAC toll pricing models; 

• fluctuations in commodity prices; and 

• the impact of COVID-19.

If securities or industry analysts cease publishing research or reports about us, our business, or our market, or if they change their recommendations 
regarding our securities adversely, then the price and trading volume of our securities could decline.

The trading market for our securities will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts may publish about us, our 
business, our market, or our competitors. If any of the analysts that may cover us change their recommendation regarding our securities adversely, or 
provide more favorable relative recommendations about our competitors, the price of our securities would likely decline. If any analyst that may cover us 
ceases covering us or fails to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which could cause the price or trading 
volume of our securities to decline.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

We lease all of the properties used in our business, including 108,956 square feet of office space for our corporate headquarters in Mesa, Arizona. In 
addition to the corporate headquarters, we lease office space in various locations for corporate and administrative purposes and several small warehouse 
locations. We do not consider any of these properties to be material to our overall business.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are subject to legal and regulatory actions that arise from time to time in the ordinary course of business, and may be subject to similar or other 
claims in the future. Legal disputes and other claims and proceedings may relate to, among other things, intellectual property, commercial arrangements, 
negligence and fiduciary duty claims, vicarious liability based on conduct of individuals or entities outside of our control, including our third-party service 
providers, antitrust claims, deceptive trade practices, general fraud claims and employment law claims, including compliance with wage and hour 
regulations. In addition to more general litigation, at times we have also been a named party in claims made against our customers, including putative class 
actions challenging the legality and constitutionality of automated photo enforcement and other similar programs of our Government Solutions customers, 
and consumer fraud claims brought against us and our Commercial Services customers alleging faulty disclosures regarding our services. From time to 
time, we may also be reviewed or investigated by U.S. federal, state or local regulators or regulators in the foreign jurisdictions in which we operate 
regarding these and other matters, including proper licensing and tax assessments. All litigation is inherently unpredictable and we could incur judgments 
or enter into settlements or claims in the future that could materially impact our results. 

On November 2, 2020, PlusPass, Inc. (“PlusPass”) commenced an action in the United States District Court, Central District of California, against 
Verra Mobility, The Gores Group LLC, Platinum Equity LLC, and ATS Processing Services, Inc., alleging civil violations of federal antitrust statutes: 
Section 7 of the Clayton Act, and Sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act. On November 20, 2020, PlusPass filed a First Amended Complaint. On February 9, 
2021, the defendants filed motions to dismiss, and PlusPass subsequently abandoned various theories and claims and dismissed The Gores Group LLC, 
Platinum Equity LLC, and ATS Processing Services, Inc. On April 27, 2021, PlusPass filed a Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”), alleging that Verra 
Mobility violated Section 7 of the Clayton Act through the merger of HTA and American Traffic Solutions, Inc. in 2018, and that Verra Mobility violated 
Sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act by using exclusive agreements in restraint of trade and other allegedly anticompetitive means to acquire and maintain 
monopoly power in the market for the administration of electronic toll payment collection for rental cars. PlusPass seeks injunctive relief, divestiture by 
Verra Mobility of HTA, damages in an amount to be determined, and attorneys’ fees and costs. On May 28, 2021, Verra Mobility filed a motion to dismiss 
the SAC in its entirety, which was denied in August 2021. Discovery is ongoing. Verra Mobility believes that all of PlusPass’s claims are without merit and 
will defend itself vigorously in this litigation.




Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information

Our Class A Common Stock is currently quoted on Nasdaq under the symbol “VRRM” and our warrants are currently quoted on OTC Pink under 
the symbol “VRRMW.” Our warrants were previously quoted on Nasdaq under the symbol “VRRMW”; however, our warrants were removed from listing 
on December 14, 2018 due to an insufficient number of round lot holders following completion of our Business Combination. 

The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices per share of our Class A Common Stock as reported on Nasdaq for the two most recent 
fiscal years:
 

  Fiscal Year 2021     Fiscal Year 2020  
  High     Low     High     Low  
First Quarter $ 15.38     $ 12.54     $ 17.20     $ 5.63  
Second Quarter $ 15.94     $ 13.38     $ 13.17     $ 6.16  
Third Quarter $ 17.50     $ 14.26     $ 11.95     $ 9.14  
Fourth Quarter $ 17.01     $ 13.47     $ 14.07     $ 9.33  

 

Holders of Record

As of December 31, 2021, we had 8 holders of record of our Class A Common Stock. Because many of our shares of Class A Common Stock are 
held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of stockholders represented by these record 
holders.

Warrants

As of December 31, 2021, there were warrants outstanding to acquire 19,999,967 shares of our Class A Common Stock including: (i) 6,666,666 
Private Placement Warrants; and (ii) 13,333,301 warrants issued in connection with the IPO (the “Public Warrants” and, together with the Private 
Placement Warrants, the “Warrants”). The Warrants entitle the registered holder to purchase one share of our Class A Common Stock at a price of $11.50 
per share, subject to certain adjustments.

The Warrants became exercisable on November 16, 2018, 30 days following the completion of the Business Combination, and expire five years 
after that date, or earlier upon redemption or liquidation. We may redeem the outstanding Warrants at a price of $0.01 per warrant, if the last sale price of 
our Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share for any 20 trading days within a 30 trading-day period ending on the third business day 
before we send the notice of redemption to the Warrant holders. The Private Placement Warrants, however, are nonredeemable so long as they are held by 
Gores Sponsor II, LLC or its permitted transferees. 

Dividends

We have not paid any cash dividends on our Class A Common Stock to date. The payment of cash dividends in the future will be dependent upon 
our revenues and earnings, if any, capital requirements and general financial condition. The payment of any cash dividends is within the discretion of our 
Board. In addition, our Board is not currently contemplating and does not anticipate declaring any stock dividends in the foreseeable future. Further, our 
ability to declare dividends is limited by restrictive covenants in the agreements governing our indebtedness.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The information required by this item with respect to our equity compensation plans is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 
2022 annual meeting of stockholders.
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Stock Performance Graph 

 

 

The graph above compares the cumulative total return on our Class A Common Stock with that of the S&P 500 Index and the S&P Composite 1500 
Data Processing & Outsourced Services Index. The period shown commences on October 18, 2018 and ends on December 31, 2021, the end of our last 
fiscal year. The graph assumes an investment of $100 in each of the above on the close of market on October 18, 2018. We did not declare or pay any 
dividends on our Class A Common Stock during the comparison period. The stock performance graph is not necessarily indicative of future price 
performance. 

This performance graph is not deemed to be incorporated by reference into any of our other filings under the Exchange Act, or the Securities Act, 
except to the extent we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filings.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities and Use of Proceeds

None.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

Period
Total Number of Shares 

Purchased   Average Price Paid per Share  

Total Number of Shares 
Purchased as Part of Publicly 

Announced Plans or Programs  

Maximum Dollar Value of Shares 
that May Yet be Purchased Under 

the Plans or Programs  
August 1-31, 2021   6,849,315   $ 14.60     6,849,315   $ —  
Total   6,849,315   $ 14.60     6,849,315   $ —  

  
(1)  On August 9, 2021, we announced that our Board authorized a share repurchase program for up to an aggregate amount of $100 million of Class 

A Common Stock. On August 20, 2021, we repurchased and retired 6,849,315 shares of Class A Common Stock from the Platinum Stockholder at a price 
per share of $14.60, which was equal to the price at which the underwriter purchased shares of Class A Common Stock from the Platinum Stockholder in a 
concurrent underwritten secondary offering. We paid $100 million to fund the share repurchase using existing 
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cash on hand. As of December 31, 2021, zero dollars remained available for repurchase under our share repurchase program. 

Earn-Out Agreement

Under the Merger Agreement, the Platinum Stockholder is entitled to receive additional shares of Class A Common Stock (the “Earn-Out Shares”) 
if the volume weighted average closing sale price of one share of Class A Common Stock on the Nasdaq exceeds certain thresholds for a period of at least 
10 days out of 20 consecutive trading days at any time during the five-year period following the closing of the Business Combination (the “Common Stock 
Price”). 

The Earn-Out Shares are issued by the Company to the Platinum Stockholder as follows: 

Common Stock Price Thresholds   One-time Issuance of Shares
> $13.00   2,500,000
> $15.50   2,500,000
> $18.00   2,500,000
> $20.50   2,500,000

 
(a) The first and second tranches of Earn-Out Shares have been issued, as discussed below.

 
If any of the Common Stock Price thresholds above (each, a “Triggering Event”) are not achieved within the five-year period following the closing 

of the Business Combination, the Company will not be required to issue the Earn-Out Shares in respect of such Common Stock Price threshold. In no event 
shall the Platinum Stockholder be entitled to receive more than an aggregate of 10,000,000 Earn-Out Shares.

If, during the earn-out period, there is a change of control (as defined in the Merger Agreement) that will result in the holders of our Class A 
Common Stock receiving a per share price equal to or in excess of the applicable Common Stock Price required in connection with any Triggering Event 
(an “Acceleration Event”), then immediately prior to the consummation of such change of control: (a) any such Triggering Event that has not previously 
occurred shall be deemed to have occurred; and (b) the Company shall issue the applicable Earn-Out Shares to the cash consideration stockholders (as 
defined in the Merger Agreement) (in accordance with their respective pro rata cash share), and the recipients of the issued Earn-Out Shares shall be 
eligible to participate in such change of control.

 
The Company estimated the original fair value of the contingently issuable shares to be $73.15 million, of which $36.6 million remains contingently 

issuable as of December 31, 2021. The estimated value is not subject to future revisions during the five-year period discussed above. The Company used a 
Monte Carlo simulation option-pricing model to arrive at its original estimate. Each tranche was valued separately giving specific consideration to the 
tranche’s price target. The simulation considered volatility and risk-free rates utilizing a peer group based on a five-year term. This was initially recorded as 
a distribution to shareholders and was presented as common stock contingent consideration. Upon the occurrence of a Triggering Event, any issuable shares 
are transferred from common stock contingent consideration to common stock and additional paid-in capital accounts. Any contingently issuable shares not 
issued as a result of a Triggering Event not being attained by the end of the earn-out period will be canceled.

On April 26, 2019 and on January 27, 2020, the Triggering Events for the issuance of the first and second tranches of Earn-Out Shares occurred, as 
the volume weighted average closing sale price per share of the Company’s Class A Common Stock as of that date had been greater than $13.00 and 
$15.50, respectively, for 10 out of 20 consecutive trading days. These Triggering Events resulted in the issuance of an aggregate 5,000,000 shares of the 
Company’s Class A Common Stock to the Platinum Stockholder and an increase in the Company’s common stock and additional paid-in capital accounts 
of $36.6 million, with a corresponding decrease to the common stock contingent consideration account. At December 31, 2021, the potential future shares 
issuable pursuant to the earn-out are between zero and 5.0 million. 

Item 6. Selected Financial Data
 

Not applicable.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

 
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with the consolidated financial 

statements and the related notes that are included in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-looking 
statements based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these 
forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth under the section entitled “Risk Factors.” Please also refer to the 
section entitled “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”

Business Overview

We believe we are a leading provider of smart mobility technology solutions and services throughout the United States, Australia, Europe and 
Canada. These solutions and services include toll and violations management, title and registration, automated safety solutions, parking enforcement and 
citation, and other data-driven solutions, to our customers, which include RACs, FMCs, other large fleet owners, municipalities, school districts, 
universities, parking operators, healthcare facilities and transportation hubs and other violation-issuing authorities. Our solutions simplify the smart 
mobility ecosystem by utilizing what we believe are industry-leading capabilities, information and technology expertise, and integrated hardware and 
software to efficiently facilitate the automated processing of tolls and violations, automated safety and parking solutions for hundreds of agencies and 
millions of end users annually, while also making cities and roadways safer for everyone.
 

Executive Summary 
We operate with long-term contracts and a highly reoccurring service revenue model. We continue to execute on our strategy of growing revenues 

with existing customers, expanding offerings into adjacent markets through innovation or acquisition and reducing operating costs. During the periods 
presented, we:

• Executed on our growth strategy by completing strategic acquisitions: 

Redflex – During the second quarter of 2021, we acquired Redflex Holdings Limited (“Redflex”), which provides intelligent traffic 
management products and services to its customers. Through our acquisition of Redflex, we expanded our current footprint in the United 
States and gained access to international markets. 
T2 Systems – During the fourth quarter of 2021, we acquired T2 Systems Parent Corporation (“T2 Systems”), which provides an integrated 
suite of parking software and hardware solutions and supports our strategy to diversify into new markets and increase opportunities to cross 
sell to customers within our overall portfolio.

• Increased total revenue by $157.0 million, or 40%, from $393.6 million in fiscal year 2020 to $550.6 million in fiscal year 2021. Our 
acquisitions contributed $45.0 million to revenue growth, and the remaining increase was mainly from Commercial Services service 
revenue resulting from improved travel demand that positively impacted our RAC customers. During fiscal year 2020, total revenue 
declined by $55.1 million, from $448.7 million in fiscal year 2019 to $393.6 million in fiscal year 2020 due to the significant negative 
impact from COVID-19.
 

• Generated cash flows from operating activities of $193.2 million, $46.9 million, and $133.8 million for fiscal years 2021, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively. Our cash on hand was $101.3 million as of December 31, 2021. 

Significant Events Impacting Our Business

Impact from COVID-19

COVID-19 emerged in December 2019 and was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization in March 2020 as it significantly disrupted 
the global economy. In the United States and abroad, many federal, state and local governments have instituted travel restrictions, stay-at-home orders, 
social distancing orders, and border closures in order to minimize the spread of the virus. Revenues from RACs in our Commercial Services segment 
decreased significantly in 2020 as a result of reduced airline travel and other restrictions that impacted our customers’ volume and revenue. In our 
Government Solutions segment, school closures resulting from the 
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COVID-19 pandemic have negatively impacted revenues from our school bus stop arm camera and school zone speed camera products. Reductions in 
vehicle traffic in jurisdictions where we operate photo enforcement programs and payment rates for photo enforcement tickets have all negatively impacted 
service revenue in our Government Solutions segment. 

In 2021, our business results were positively impacted from an increase in travel activity and the availability of COVID-19 vaccines, especially in 
the United States. Many of the widespread restrictions have been lifted, and the travel industry experienced a strong recovery, especially leisure travel, 
which increased our revenue from our RAC customers. In addition, reopening of schools throughout the United States and increase in vehicle traffic has 
contributed to revenue growth from our Government Solutions products and services. However, there remains continued uncertainty about the pandemic 
and its ongoing impact on our operational and financial performance due to the potential spread of new variants and other developments outside our 
control, and any future restrictions in travel and the related impact on demand for our products and services. For instance, the Omicron variant of COVID-
19 has caused a surge in COVID-19 cases globally resulting in the reintroduction of travel restrictions in some countries.
 
T2 Systems Acquisition

On December 7, 2021, we acquired T2 Systems which offers an integrated suite of parking software and hardware solutions to its customers. This 
acquisition supports our strategy to expand and diversify into new markets within the mobility sector. We included the financial results of T2 Systems in 
the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition and reported within the newly created Parking Solutions segment. 

 
Pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “T2 Merger Agreement”) entered into on November 1, 2021 by VM Consolidated Inc., our 

indirect wholly owned subsidiary, Project Titan Merger Sub, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of VM Consolidated Inc. (“T2 Merger Sub”), T2 Systems, 
and Thoma Bravo Discover Fund, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, solely in its capacity as representative, T2 Merger Sub merged with and into T2 
Systems (the “T2 Merger”), with T2 Systems surviving as an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. The Company paid a purchase price of 
$353.2 million. Transaction costs for T2 Systems were $2.7 million which primarily related to professional fees and other expenses related to the 
acquisition, and were included within the selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. See Note 3, 
Acquisitions, in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, for additional details. 
 
Share Repurchase and Retirement

On August 9, 2021, we announced that our Board authorized a share repurchase program for up to an aggregate amount of $100 million of our 
outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock. On August 20, 2021, we repurchased and retired 6,849,315 shares of our Class A Common Stock from the 
Platinum Stockholder at a price per share of $14.60, which was equal to the price at which the underwriter purchased shares of Class A Common Stock 
from the Platinum Stockholder in a concurrent underwritten secondary offering. We paid $100 million to fund the share repurchase using cash on hand. See 
Note 16, Related Party Transactions, in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, for additional details on the secondary offering by the 
Platinum Stockholder. 
 
Redflex Acquisition

On June 17, 2021, we completed the acquisition of Redflex, a public company limited by shares, incorporated in Australia and formerly listed on the 
Australian Securities Exchange. Redflex is a provider of intelligent traffic management products and services that are sold and managed in the Asia Pacific, 
North America, Europe, and Middle East regions. Redflex designs, manufactures, and operates a wide range of platform-based solutions, utilizing 
advanced sensor and image capture technologies that enable active management of state and local motorways. We included the financial results of Redflex 
in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition and reported within the Government Solutions segment. 
 

Pursuant to the Scheme Implementation Agreement (the “Agreement”) entered into by us and Redflex on January 21, 2021, as amended by the Deed 
of Amendment and Consent, dated April 30, 2021, VM Consolidated, Inc., purchased one hundred percent of the outstanding equity of Redflex at A$0.96 
per share resulting in consideration of A$152.5 million, or approximately US$117.9 million. Transaction costs for Redflex were $9.7 million which 
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primarily related to professional fees and other expenses related to the acquisition, and were included within the selling, general and administrative 
expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. See Note 3. Acquisitions, in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, for additional 
details on the Redflex acquisition. 

Segments 

We have three operating and reportable segments, Commercial Services, Government Solutions and Parking Solutions:

• Our Commercial Services segment offers toll and violation management solutions and title and registration services for RACs and FMCs in 
North America. In Europe, we provide tolling and violations processing services.

 
• Our Government Solutions segment offers photo enforcement solutions and services to its customers. We provide complete, end-to-end 

speed, red-light, school bus stop arm and bus lane enforcement solutions within the United States and Canada. The international operations 
through Redflex primarily involve the sale of traffic enforcement products and related maintenance services. 

• Our newly created Parking Solutions segment provides an integrated suite of parking software and hardware solutions to universities, 
municipalities, parking operators, healthcare facilities and transportation hubs in the United States and Canada. 

Segment performance is based on revenues and income from operations before depreciation, amortization, gain (loss) on disposal of assets, net, 
impairment of property and equipment, and stock-based compensation. The measure also excludes interest expense, net, income taxes and certain other 
transactions and is inclusive of other income, net. 

Primary Components of Our Operating Results

Revenues

Service Revenue. Our Commercial Services segment generates service revenue primarily through the operation and management of tolling programs 
and processing violations for RACs, FMCs and other large fleet customers. These solutions are full-service offerings by which we enroll the license plates 
of our customers’ vehicles and transponders with tolling authority accounts, pay tolls and violations on the customers’ behalf and, through proprietary 
technology, integrate with customer data to match the toll or violation to the driver and then bill the driver (or our customer, as applicable) for use of the 
service. The cost of certain tolls, violations and our customers’ share of administration fees are netted against revenue. We also generate service revenue in 
our Commercial Services segment through processing titles and registrations for our customers.
 

Our Government Solutions segment generates service revenue through the operation and maintenance of photo enforcement systems. Revenue 
drivers in this segment include the number of systems installed and the monthly revenue per system. Ancillary service revenue is generated in our 
Government Solutions segment from payment processing, pass-through fees for collection expense, and other fees.

 
Our Parking Solutions segment generates service revenue mainly from offering software as a service, subscription fees, professional services and 

citation processing services related to parking management solutions to its customers.
 
Product Sales.  Product sales are generated by the sale of photo enforcement equipment in the Government Solutions segment and specialized 

hardware in the Parking Solutions segment. Customer buying patterns vary greatly from period to period related to product sales. 

Costs and Expenses

Cost of Service Revenue. Cost of service revenue consists of collection and other professional services provided by third parties associated with the 
delivery of certain ancillary services performed by our segments.
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Cost of Product Sales. Cost of product sales consists of the cost to acquire and install photo enforcement equipment purchased by Government 
Solutions customers and costs to develop and install hardware sold to Parking Solutions customers.

Operating Expenses. Operating expenses include payroll and payroll-related costs (including stock-based compensation), costs related to the 
operation of our call centers and other operational costs, including transaction processing, print, postage and communication costs.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses include payroll and payroll-related costs (including 
stock-based compensation), real estate lease expense, insurance costs, professional services fees, acquisition costs and general corporate expenses.

Depreciation, Amortization and (Gain) Loss on Disposal of Assets, Net. Depreciation, amortization and (gain) loss on disposal of assets, net includes 
depreciation on property, plant and equipment, and amortization of definite-lived intangible assets. This line item also includes any one-time gains or losses 
incurred in connection with the disposal of certain assets.

Impairment of Property and Equipment.  Impairment of property and equipment includes impairment charges for fixed assets which were held and 
used in our operations.

Interest Expense, Net. This includes interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs and discounts and is net of interest income.

Change in Fair Value of Private Placement Warrants. Change in fair value of private placement warrants consists of liability adjustments related to 
the 6,666,666 Private Placement Warrants originally issued to Gores Sponsor II, LLC  re-measured to fair value at the end of each reporting period.

Tax Receivable Agreement Liability Adjustment. Tax receivable agreement liability adjustment consists of adjustments made to our Tax Receivable 
Agreement due to changes in estimates.

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt.  Loss on extinguishment of debt generally consists of early payment penalties, the write-off of original issue 
discounts and deferred financing costs associated with debt extinguishment.

Other Income, Net. Other income, net primarily consists of volume rebates earned from total spend on purchasing cards and gain or loss on foreign 
currency transactions.
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Results of Operations

Fiscal Year 2021 Compared to Fiscal Year 2020

The following table sets forth our statements of operations data and expresses each item as a percentage of total revenue for the periods presented as 
well as the changes between periods. The tables and information provided in this section were derived from exact numbers and may have immaterial 
rounding differences.

 
    Year Ended December 31,  

                Percentage of Revenue    
Increase (Decrease)


 2021 vs 2020  
($ in thousands)   2021     2020     2021     2020     $     %  
Service revenue   $ 492,846     $ 336,274       89.5 %     85.4 %   $ 156,572       46.6 %
Product sales     57,744       57,319       10.5 %     14.6 %     425       0.7 %

Total revenue     550,590       393,593       100.0 %     100.0 %     156,997       39.9 %
Cost of service revenue     5,337       3,967       1.0 %     1.0 %     1,370       34.5 %
Cost of product sales     29,809       29,573       5.4 %     7.5 %     236       0.8 %
Operating expenses     163,370       115,729       29.7 %     29.4 %     47,641       41.2 %
Selling, general and administrative expenses     123,407       89,664       22.4 %     22.8 %     33,743       37.6 %
Depreciation, amortization and (gain) loss on 
disposal of assets, net     116,801       116,844       21.2 %     29.7 %     (43 )     (0.0 )%

Total costs and expenses     438,724       355,777       79.7 %     90.4 %     82,947       23.3 %
Income from operations     111,866       37,816       20.3 %     9.6 %     74,050       195.8 %

Interest expense, net     44,942       40,865       8.1 %     10.4 %     4,077       10.0 %
Change in fair value of private placement 
warrants     7,600       1,133       1.4 %     0.3 %     6,467       570.8 %
Tax receivable agreement liability adjustment     (1,016 )     6,850       -0.2 %     1.7 %     (7,866 )     (114.8 )%
Loss on extinguishment of debt     5,334       —       1.0 %     —       5,334     n/a  
Other income, net     (12,895 )     (11,885 )     (2.3 )%     (3.0 )%     (1,010 )     8.5 %

Total other expenses     43,965       36,963       8.0 %     9.4 %     7,002       18.9 %
Income before income taxes     67,901       853       12.3 %     0.2 %     67,048       7860.3 %
Income tax provision     26,452       5,431       4.8 %     1.4 %     21,021       387.1 %

Net income (loss)   $ 41,449     $ (4,578 )     7.5 %     (1.2 )%   $ 46,027       1005.4 %
 
Service Revenue.  Service revenue increased by $156.6 million, or 46.6%, to $492.8 million for fiscal year 2021 from $336.3 million in fiscal year 

2020, representing 89.5% and 85.4% of total revenue, respectively. The following table depicts service revenue by segment:
 

    Year Ended December 31,  

                Percentage of Revenue    
Increase (Decrease)


 2021 vs 2020  
($ in thousands)   2021     2020     2021     2020     $     %  
Service revenue                                    

Commercial Services   $ 260,899     $ 180,856       47.4 %     46.0 %   $ 80,043       44.3 %
Government Solutions     227,992       155,418       41.4 %     39.4 %     72,574       46.7 %
Parking Solutions     3,955       —       0.7 %     —       3,955     n/a  

Total service revenue   $ 492,846     $ 336,274       89.5 %     85.4 %   $ 156,572       46.6 %
 
Commercial Services service revenue includes toll and violation management revenues from RACs and FMCs. Commercial Services service 

revenue increased by $80.0 million, or 44.3%, from $180.9 million in fiscal year 2020 to $260.9 million in fiscal year 2021. This increase was primarily 
due to the wide distribution of COVID-19 vaccines and the lifting of travel restrictions that positively impacted the travel industry in 2021. Our RAC 
customers experienced a rebound in leisure travel that impacted our volume in 2021 compared to the prior year which was negatively impacted by the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 

Government Solutions service revenue includes revenue from speed, red-light, school bus stop arm and bus lane photo enforcement systems. Service 
revenue was $228.0 million and $155.4 million for the years ended 
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December 31, 2021, and 2020, respectively, and it increased by $72.6 million. The acquisition of Redflex on June 17, 2021 contributed $33.0 million to our 
year-over-year growth. Organic growth excluding Redflex was $39.6 million which was primarily driven by the expansion of school zone speed programs. 
Speed is our largest product in this segment and grew $33.5 million in the current year excluding Redflex. We added 805 speed cameras in 2020 which 
provided year-over-year growth in 2021 and 752 speed cameras in 2021 which provided growth in the current year and will continue to provide growth into 
2022. The remaining growth can be attributable to improvement in variable rate programs that returned to more normalized volume as COVID-19 
restrictions lifted throughout 2021.

 
Parking Solutions service revenue of $4.0 million resulted from the December 7, 2021 acquisition of T2 systems with no revenue in the comparable 

period. 

Product Sales.    Product sales increased slightly year over year and were $57.7 million and $57.3 million for fiscal years 2021 and 2020, 
respectively, which relate to revenue generated from Government Solutions and Parking Solutions customers who purchase their equipment. We generated 
product revenue of $8.1 million from the Redflex and T2 Systems acquisitions for which there was no revenue in the comparable period. Prior to these 
acquisitions, product revenue was limited to a few large customers whose buying patterns vary greatly from period to period. Product sales for these 
customers decreased by $7.7 million due to a decline of 60 units sold and to a lesser extent from product mix. 

Cost of Service Revenue.    Cost of service revenue increased from $4.0 million for fiscal year 2020 to $5.3 million for fiscal year 2021. The $1.3 
million increase resulted from increased costs from third-party professional services associated with the delivery of certain ancillary services, a portion of 
which related to the Parking Solutions segment with no comparable costs in the prior year.

Cost of Product Sales.    Cost of product sales increased slightly year over year and was $29.8 million and $29.6 million for fiscal years 2021 and 
2020, respectively. This was mainly due to a decrease from the timing of installations at a single customer that is expanding its school zone speed program, 
offset by an increase from the inclusion of Redflex and T2 Systems product sales in the 2021 period with no comparable amounts in the prior year.

Operating Expenses.    Operating expenses increased by $47.6 million, or 41.2%, from $115.7 million for fiscal year 2020 to $163.4 million in fiscal 
year 2021. The increase was primarily attributable to increases of $20.4 million in wages expense, $13.4 million for subcontractor expenses and $9.4 
million of recurring services resulting from increased operations in 2021, which were lower in the 2020 year due to the impact from the COVID-19 
pandemic. Operating expenses as a percentage of total revenue increased from 29.4% to 29.7% in fiscal years 2020 and 2021, respectively. This slight 
increase represents improved operating leverage corresponding to the revenue improvement in the Commercial Services segment and decreased operating 
leverage for the Government Solutions business with the addition of Redflex which historically had lower margins than the Verra Mobility business. The 
following table presents operating expenses by segment:

 
    Year Ended December 31,  

                Percentage of Revenue    
Increase (Decrease)


 2021 vs 2020  
($ in thousands)   2021     2020     2021     2020     $     %  
Operating expenses                                    

Commercial Services   $ 65,718     $ 52,505       12.0 %     13.3 %   $ 13,213       25.2 %
Government Solutions     96,284       62,387       17.5 %     15.9 %     33,897       54.3 %
Parking Solutions     553       —       0.1 %     —       553     n/a  

Total operating expenses before stock-
based compensation     162,555       114,892       29.6 %     29.2 %     47,663       41.5 %
Stock-based compensation     815       837       0.1 %     0.2 %     (22 )     (2.6 )%
Total operating expenses   $ 163,370     $ 115,729       29.7 %     29.4 %   $ 47,641       41.2 %

 
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses.   Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $33.7 million to $123.4 million for fiscal 

year 2021 compared to $89.7 million for fiscal year 2020. The increase is primarily due to $12.4 million in transaction costs incurred related to the Redflex 
and T2 systems acquisitions, increased wages expense due to the reinstatement of employee bonus accrual in 2021, and increased wages, rent, information 
technology and other professional expenses from the inclusion of Redflex operations for approximately 200 days in 2021 with no comparable amounts in 
prior year. These increases were partially offset by a $4.9 million reduction to the credit loss expense resulting from changes in loss rate estimates based on 
improved economic conditions. Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of total revenue decreased from 22.8% to 
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22.4% in fiscal years 2020 and 2021, respectively. The following table presents selling, general and administrative expenses by segment:
 

    Year Ended December 31,  

                Percentage of Revenue    
Increase (Decrease)


 2021 vs 2020  
($ in thousands)   2021     2020     2021     2020     $     %  
Selling, general and administrative 
expenses                                    

Commercial Services   $ 42,873     $ 40,978       7.8 %     10.4 %   $ 1,895       4.6 %
Government Solutions     52,380       34,465       9.5 %     8.8 %     17,915       52.0 %
Parking Solutions     1,488       —       0.3 %     —       1,488     n/a  
Corporate and other     13,697       2,469       2.5 %     0.6 %     11,228       454.8 %

Total selling, general and administrative 
expenses before stock-based compensation     110,438       77,912       20.1 %     19.8 %     32,526       41.7 %
Stock-based compensation     12,969       11,752       2.3 %     3.0 %     1,217       10.4 %
Total selling, general and administrative 
expenses   $ 123,407     $ 89,664       22.4 %     22.8 %   $ 33,743       37.6 %

 
Depreciation, Amortization and (Gain) Loss on Disposal of Assets, Net. Depreciation, amortization and (gain) loss on disposal of assets, net, 

remained consistent at $116.8 million for both fiscal years 2021 and 2020. This was mainly due to a decrease from certain trademark intangibles being fully 
amortized for ten months in fiscal year 2021, offset by increased depreciation and amortization expense resulting from the Redflex and T2 Systems 
acquisitions in 2021 with no comparable amounts in the prior year.

Interest Expense, Net. Interest expense, net increased by $4.0 million from $40.9 million in fiscal year 2020 to $44.9 million in fiscal year 2021. 
This increase was primarily a result of the additional borrowing of $350 million in unsecured notes at a higher fixed rate, offset by the reduction in the 
variable rate on our first lien term loan facility. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” below.

Change in Fair Value of Private Placement Warrants. We recorded losses of $7.6 million and $1.1 million in fiscal years 2021 and 2020, 
respectively, related to the changes in fair value of our Private Placement Warrants which are accounted for as liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets. 
The change in fair value is the result of re-measurement of the liability at the end of each reporting period. 

Tax Receivable Agreement Liability Adjustment. We recorded a $1.0 million tax benefit in fiscal year 2021 and a $6.8 million tax expense in fiscal 
year 2020. The liability adjustment in 2021 is a result of lower estimated state tax rates due to changes in apportionment, whereas in 2020 it is a result of 
higher state tax rates due to changes in apportionment. 

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt.  Loss on extinguishment of debt was $5.3 million for fiscal year 2021 consisting of a $4.0 million write-off of pre-
existing deferred financing costs and discounts and $1.3 million of lender and third-party costs associated with the issuance of the new 2021 Term Loan, as 
discussed and defined below.

Other Income, Net.  Other income, net was $12.9 million in fiscal year 2021 compared to $11.9 million in fiscal year 2020. The increase of $1.0 
million was primarily due to increased tolling activity as a result of COVID-19 recovery in the travel industry, offset by a total of $2.8 million in gains 
recorded in fiscal year 2020 from a settlement agreement and related insurance proceeds.
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Income Tax Provision.   Income tax provision was $26.5 million representing an effective tax rate of 39.0% for fiscal year 2021 compared to $5.4 
million, representing an effective tax rate of 636.7% for fiscal year 2020. The Company’s effective tax rate for 2021 was lower compared to 2020 primarily 
due to an increase in pretax income in 2021, resulting in the Company’s permanent book and tax differences having a proportionately lesser impact on the 
effective tax rate for 2021.

Net Income (Loss).  We had net income of $41.4 million for fiscal year 2021 compared to a net loss of $4.6 million for 2020. The $46.0 million 
increase in net income was primarily due to the significant recovery in the travel industry positively impacting our RAC customers and from the other 
statement of operations activity discussed above.

 
Fiscal Year 2020 Compared to Fiscal Year 2019
 

The following table sets forth our statements of operations data and expresses each item as a percentage of total revenue for the periods presented as 
well as the changes between periods. The tables and information provided in this section were derived from exact numbers and may have immaterial 
rounding differences.

 
    Year Ended December 31,  

                Percentage of Revenue    
Increase (Decrease)


 2020 vs 2019  
($ in thousands)   2020     2019     2020     2019     $     %  
Service revenue   $ 336,274     $ 416,723       85.4 %     92.9 %   $ (80,449 )     (19.3 )%
Product sales     57,319       32,014       14.6 %     7.1 %     25,305       79.0 %

Total revenue     393,593       448,737       100.0 %     100.0 %     (55,144 )     (12.3 )%
Cost of service revenue     3,967       5,561       1.0 %     1.2 %     (1,594 )     (28.7 )%
Cost of product sales     29,573       13,919       7.5 %     3.1 %     15,654       112.5 %
Operating expenses     115,729       125,640       29.4 %     28.0 %     (9,911 )     (7.9 )%
Selling, general and administrative 
expenses     89,664       85,493       22.8 %     19.1 %     4,171       4.9 %
Depreciation, amortization and (gain) loss 
on disposal of assets, net     116,844       115,771       29.7 %     25.8 %     1,073       0.9 %
Impairment of property and equipment     —       5,898       —       1.3 %     (5,898 )     (100.0 )%

Total costs and expenses     355,777       352,282       90.4 %     78.5 %     3,495       1.0 %
Income from operations     37,816       96,455       9.6 %     21.5 %     (58,639 )     (60.8 )%

Interest expense, net     40,865       60,729       10.4 %     13.5 %     (19,864 )     (32.7 )%
Change in fair value of private placement 
warrants     1,133       16,267       0.3 %     3.6 %     (15,134 )     (93.0 )%
Tax receivable agreement liability 
adjustment     6,850       (106 )     1.7 %     0.0 %     6,956       6562.3 %
Other income, net     (11,885 )     (11,092 )     (3.0 )%     (2.4 )%     (793 )     7.1 %

Total other expenses     36,963       65,798       9.4 %     14.7 %     (28,835 )     (43.8 )%
Income before income tax provision     853       30,657       0.2 %     6.8 %     (29,804 )     (97.2 )%
Income tax provision     5,431       13,581       1.4 %     3.0 %     (8,150 )     (60.0 )%

Net (loss) income   $ (4,578 )   $ 17,076       (1.2 )%     3.8 %   $ (21,654 )     (126.8 )%
 
Service Revenue.  Service revenue decreased by $80.4 million, or 19.3%, to $336.3 million for fiscal year 2020 from $416.7 million in fiscal year 

2019, representing 85.4% and 92.9% of total revenue, respectively. The following table depicts service revenue by segment:
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    Year Ended December 31,  

                Percentage of Revenue    
Increase (Decrease)


 2020 vs 2019  
($ in thousands)   2020     2019     2020     2019     $     %  
Service revenue                                    

Commercial Services   $ 180,856     $ 276,479       46.0 %     61.6 %   $ (95,623 )     (34.6 )%
Government Solutions     155,418       140,244       39.4 %     31.3 %     15,174       10.8 %

Total service revenue   $ 336,274     $ 416,723       85.4 %     92.9 %   $ (80,449 )     (19.3 )%
 
Commercial Services service revenue includes toll and violation management revenues from commercial fleet and rental car companies. 

Commercial Services service revenue decreased by $95.6 million, or 34.6%, from $276.5 million in fiscal year 2019 to $180.9 million in fiscal year 2020. 
This decrease was primarily due to the COVID-19 pandemic and related containment measures, which had a significant negative impact on the RAC 
industry beginning in March 2020. As a result, our revenue declined 55% from the first quarter of 2020 to $27.3 million in the second quarter of 2020 
which was the bulk of the decline. We had seen sequential improvement in service revenue to $44.2 million and $48.2 million in the third and fourth 
quarters of 2020, respectively which could be attributed to typical seasonality or to signs of recovery.

 
Government Solutions service revenue includes revenue from red-light, speed, school bus stop arm and bus lane photo enforcement systems. Service 

revenue increased by $15.2 million to $155.4 million for fiscal year 2020 from 140.2 million in fiscal year 2019. Our red-light photo enforcement service 
revenue declined $6.7 million during fiscal year 2020 compared to fiscal year 2019. This was primarily due to a $3.5 million decline from the loss of 
certain Texas programs on June 1, 2019, due to a legislative change that banned most red-light photo enforcement programs in the state. The remainder of 
the decline was primarily attributed to the impact from COVID-19 on variable rate clients. We also had a $4.3 million decrease in service revenue from the 
suspension of school bus stop arm cameras as most school buses were not operating for much of this period. These declines were mainly offset by speed 
program revenue, which grew approximately $25.7 million in fiscal year 2020, compared to the same period in 2019, due to an increase in the total number 
of camera systems installed. 
 

There was an average of 4,027 active camera systems during fiscal year 2020 compared to an average of 4,738 for fiscal year 2019. The decline in 
active camera systems was primarily due to 1,347 cameras that were temporarily inactive due to COVID-19, and the loss of Texas programs noted above. 
These declines were partially offset by the expansion of speed enforcement systems with existing customers.
 

Service revenue for the 2020 period was negatively impacted by COVID-19 beginning in March 2020 which led to reduction in vehicle traffic as a 
result of stay-at-home orders and early school closures and delayed re-openings in certain jurisdictions in which we operate.
 

Product Sales.    Product sales were $57.3 million and $32.0 million for fiscal years 2020 and 2019, respectively, which relate to revenue generated 
from Government Solutions customers who purchase their equipment. Product sales increased by $25.3 million which was primarily driven by sales to a 
single customer that is currently expanding its existing school zone speed program. A small number of customers purchase this equipment, and their buying 
patterns vary greatly from period to period. 
 

Cost of Service Revenue.    Cost of service revenue decreased year over year, from $5.6 million for fiscal year 2019 to $4.0 million for fiscal year 
2020. The decrease resulted from decreased costs of collection and other third-party professional services associated with the delivery of certain ancillary 
services performed by us.
 

Cost of Product Sales.    Cost of product sales increased by $15.7 million from $13.9 million in fiscal year 2019 to $29.6 million in fiscal year 2020 
and was driven by the increase in product sales volume.
 

Operating Expenses.    Operating expenses decreased by $9.9 million, or 7.9%, from $125.6 million for fiscal year 2019 to $115.7 million in fiscal 
year 2020. This decrease was primarily attributable to decreases of $4.6 million in employee wages due to furloughs, reduced headcount and bonus 
expense, and $9.1 million in transaction processing and other volume related costs, which were partially offset by increases in subcontractor expenses and 
operational equipment costs. Operating expenses as a percentage of total revenue increased from 28.0% to 29.4% in fiscal years 2019 and 2020, 
respectively. The following table presents operating expenses by segment:
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    Year Ended December 31,  

                Percentage of Revenue    
Increase (Decrease)


 2020 vs 2019  
($ in thousands)   2020     2019     2020     2019     $     %  
Operating expenses                                    

Commercial Services   $ 52,505     $ 66,916       13.3 %     14.9 %   $ (14,411 )     (21.5 )%
Government Solutions     62,387       57,905       15.9 %     12.9 %     4,482       7.7 %

Total operating expenses before stock-
based compensation     114,892       124,821       29.2 %     27.8 %     (9,929 )     (8.0 )%
Stock-based compensation     837       819       0.2 %     0.2 %     18       2.2 %
Total operating expenses   $ 115,729     $ 125,640       29.4 %     28.0 %   $ (9,911 )     (7.9 )%
 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses.   Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $4.2 million to $89.7 million for fiscal 
year 2020 compared to $85.5 million for fiscal year 2019. We recorded a $14.4 million credit loss expense during the year as a result of the new credit loss 
accounting standard, which contributed to a $6.3 million year over year increase. We also had increases to stock-based compensation and consulting fees of 
$2.6 million and $1.5 million, respectively. These increases were partially offset by an aggregate $7.6 million of cost-cutting measures including the 
elimination of the bonus payout and the related expense along with reductions to marketing and non-essential travel. Selling, general and administrative 
expenses as a percentage of total revenue increased from 19.1% to 22.8% in fiscal years 2019 and 2020, respectively. The following table presents selling, 
general and administrative expenses by segment:

 
    Year Ended December 31,  

                Percentage of Revenue    
Increase (Decrease)


 2020 vs 2019  
($ in thousands)   2020     2019     2020     2019     $     %  
Selling, general and administrative 
expenses                                    

Commercial Services   $ 40,978     $ 41,384       10.4 %     9.2 %   $ (406 )     (1.0 )%
Government Solutions     34,465       32,696       8.8 %     7.3 %     1,769       5.4 %
Corporate and other     2,469       2,220       0.6 %     0.5 %     249       11.2 %

Total selling, general and administrative 
expenses before stock-based compensation     77,912       76,300       19.8 %     17.0 %     1,612       2.1 %
Stock-based compensation     11,752       9,193       3.0 %     2.1 %     2,559       27.8 %
Total selling, general and administrative 
expenses   $ 89,664     $ 85,493       22.8 %     19.1 %   $ 4,171       4.9 %
 

Depreciation, Amortization and (Gain) Loss on Disposal of Assets, Net.    Depreciation, amortization and (gain) loss on disposal of assets, net, 
increased from $115.8 million in fiscal year 2019 to $116.8 million in fiscal year 2020. The increase is primarily due to the increased depreciation and 
amortization expense resulting from the Pagatelia acquisition included in the entire fiscal year 2020 compared to only two months in 2019. 
  

Impairment of Property and Equipment.  Impairment of property and equipment for the fiscal year 2019 included a $5.9 million impairment charge 
as a result of legislation that banned most red-light photo enforcement programs in Texas on June 1, 2019, which was in the Government Solutions 
segment.

 
Interest Expense, Net. Interest expense, net decreased by $19.9 million from $60.7 million in fiscal year 2019 to $40.9 million in fiscal year 2020. 

This decrease was primarily as a result of lower interest rates coupled with the refinancing of our 2018 Term Loan (as defined below) in February 2020, 
which reduced the applicable margin on the interest rate by 50 basis points.
 

Change in Fair Value of Private Placement Warrants. We recorded losses of $1.1 million and $16.3 million in fiscal years 2020 and 2019, 
respectively, related to the changes in fair value of our Private Placement Warrants 

52



 
which are accounted for as liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets. The change in fair value is the result of re-measurement of the liability at the end 
of each reporting period.

 
Tax Receivable Agreement Liability Adjustment. We recorded a $6.8 million charge in fiscal year 2020 and income of $0.1 million in fiscal year 

2019. The adjustment in 2020 reflects the impact of an increase to the Company’s deferred tax rate arising from higher state tax rates due to a change in 
apportionment.
 

Other Income, Net.  Other income, net was $11.9 million in fiscal year 2020 compared to $11.1 million in fiscal year 2019. The increase of $0.8 
million was primarily due to a total of $2.8 million in gains recorded in fiscal year 2020 from a settlement agreement and related insurance proceeds, 
partially offset by the decreased volume in purchasing card rebates resulting from COVID-19’s impact on toll usage.

 
Income Tax Provision.   Income tax provision was $5.4 million representing an effective tax rate of 636.7% for fiscal year 2020 compared to $13.6 

million, representing an effective tax rate of 44.3% for fiscal year 2019. The effective tax rate change was primarily due to lower pre-tax income in 2020, 
resulting in the Company’s permanent book and tax differences having a proportionately greater impact on the effective tax rate in the 2020 year.
 

Net (Loss) Income.  We had a net loss of $4.6 million for fiscal year 2020 compared to net income of $17.1 million for 2019. The $21.7 million 
decrease in net income was primarily due to the decline in revenue from the impact of COVID-19 on our RAC customers, and the other statement of 
operations activity discussed above.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our principal sources of liquidity are cash flow from operations and available borrowings under our Revolver (defined below).

We have incurred significant long-term debt as a result of acquisitions completed in prior years as well as the Redflex and T2 Systems acquisitions 
in the current year.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, cash flows provided by operating activities and our availability to borrow under our 
Revolver (as defined below) will be sufficient to meet operating cash requirements and service debt obligations for at least the next 12 months. Our ability 
to generate sufficient cash from our operating activities depends on our future performance, which is subject to general economic, political, financial, 
competitive and other factors beyond our control. In addition, our future capital expenditures and other cash requirements could be higher than currently 
expected due to various factors, including any expansion of our business or strategic acquisitions. Should we pursue strategic acquisitions, we may need to 
raise additional capital, which may be in the form of additional long-term debt, borrowings on our Revolver, or equity financings, all of which may not be 
available to us on favorable terms or at all.

At December 31, 2021, we had $25.0 million in outstanding borrowings on the Revolver, which was repaid in full in January 2022. The borrowings 
on the Revolver were used in the normal course of business to ensure sufficient cash balances globally.

Concentration of Credit Risk
 

The City of New York Department of Transportation (“NYCDOT”) represented 39% and 59% of total accounts receivable, net as of December 31, 
2021 and 2020, respectively. The total outstanding receivables balance decreased $35.7 million at December 31, 2021 compared to the outstanding balance 
at December 31, 2020 as the Company collected $182 million during 2021 from the customer. There is no material reserve related to NYCDOT open 
receivables as amounts are deemed collectible based on current conditions and expectations. 
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The following table sets forth certain captions on our statements of cash flows for the respective periods:
 

    For the Year Ended December 31,  
($ in thousands)   2021     2020     2019  
Net cash provided by operating activities   $ 193,171     $ 46,909     $ 133,802  
Net cash used in investing activities     (475,970 )     (24,153 )     (54,973 )
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities     268,722       (34,004 )     (14,520 )
 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities increased by $146.3 million, from $46.9 million in 2020 to $193.2 million in 2021. Net income increased 
$46.0 million from a $4.6 million loss in 2020 compared to $41.4 million income in 2021. The adjustments to net income (loss) included increases of $6.5 
million for the changes in the fair value of private placement warrants year over year and $5.3 million loss on extinguishment of debt, partially offset by 
decreases from lower credit loss expense, changes in deferred income taxes and the tax receivable agreement liability adjustments year over year. Changes 
in operating assets and liabilities were mainly driven by a significant reduction in the accounts receivable balance from $182 million in payments received 
from NYCDOT in 2021, and increases in accounts payable and accrued liabilities resulting from increases in accrued interest at the end of 2021, 
reinstatement of the bonus accrual in 2021 and increased liabilities related to Redflex which were not in the comparable prior period.

Cash provided by operating activities decreased by $86.9 million, from $133.8 million in 2019 to $46.9 million in 2020. Net income year over year 
decreased by $21.7 million, from $17.1 million income in 2019 to a $4.6 million loss in 2020. The adjustments to net income (loss) included a $6.3 million 
increase in credit loss expense from the adoption of the credit loss standard, the $7.0 million increase in the tax receivable agreement liability adjustment 
and a $6.1 million change in deferred income taxes. These increases were partially offset by a decrease of $15.1 million from the change in fair value of our 
private placement warrants, and a $5.9 million impairment of property and equipment in fiscal year 2019 with no comparable amount in 2020. There was 
an aggregate $65.5 million decrease in 2020 compared to 2019 in the changes in operating assets and liabilities, which was driven primarily by a $77.9 
million increase in accounts receivables primarily due to collection delays on the accounts receivable associated with our fixed speed camera product sales 
to NYCDOT, combined with a decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities due to the payout of the 2019 bonus accrual with no accrual for fiscal 
year 2020 and a decrease in other accruals which was consistent with our decrease in certain revenue streams. 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 

Cash used in investing activities in 2021 was mainly related to acquisitions of Redflex, T2 Systems and NuPark. We acquired one hundred percent 
of the outstanding equity of Redflex on June 17, 2021 at A$0.96 per share for total consideration of A$152.5 million, or approximately US$117.9 million. 
On December 7, 2021, we acquired all of the outstanding shares of T2 Systems for $353.2 million, net of $14.1 million of cash acquired. On December 13, 
2021, we acquired NuPark for $7.0 million, which included approximately $5.0 million of cash paid.

Cash used in investing activities was $24.2 million in 2020 mainly related to purchases of installation and service parts and property and equipment. 
Cash used in investing activities was $55.0 million in 2019 which was mainly due to the acquisition of Pagatelia for $26.6 million, net of $1.1 million of 
cash acquired, and $29.7 million from purchases of installation and service parts and property and equipment.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities was $268.7 million in 2021. We had aggregate borrowings of $1.3 billion during 2021 consisting of the 2021 
Term Loan (which included $250 million incremental borrowing), Senior Notes and the Revolver (defined below) and repayments of $884.5 million on 
outstanding debt related to the 2018 and 2021 Term Loans, and debt assumed as part of the Redflex and T2 acquisitions that was subsequently paid. The 
2018 Term Loan had been fully repaid in March 2021. The aggregate borrowings net of the repayments along with existing cash on hand were used to fund 
the close of the Redflex and T2 systems acquisitions in June 2021 and December 2021, respectively, and the share repurchase and retirement for $100 
million in August 2021 (discussed above). 

54



 

Cash used in financing activities was $34.0 million and $14.5 million for fiscal years 2020 and 2019, respectively. The cash used in 2020 increased 
primarily as a result of a $19.7 million mandatory prepayment of excess cash flows made pursuant to the terms of the 2018 Term Loan and costs associated 
with refinancing it.

Long-term Debt 
 
2021 Term Loan and Senior Notes  

In March 2021, VM Consolidated, Inc., the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, entered into an Amendment and Restatement Agreement No.1 to 
the First Lien Term Loan Credit Agreement (the “2021 Term Loan”) with a syndicate of lenders. The 2021 Term Loan has an aggregate borrowing of $650 
million, maturing on March 26, 2028, and an accordion feature providing for an additional $250 million of term loans, subject to satisfaction of certain 
requirements. In connection with the 2021 Term Loan, the Company had an offering discount cost of $3.3 million and $0.7 million of deferred financing 
costs, both of which were capitalized and are amortized over the remaining life of the 2021 Term Loan.

In addition, in March 2021, VM Consolidated, Inc. issued Senior Unsecured Notes (the “Senior Notes”) in an aggregate principal amount of $350 
million, due on April 15, 2029. In connection with the issuance of the Senior Notes, the Company incurred $5.7 million in lender and third-party costs, 
which were capitalized as deferred financing costs and are being amortized over the remaining life of the Senior Notes.

The net proceeds from both the 2021 Term Loan and the Senior Notes received in March 2021 were used to repay in full all outstanding debt which 
was represented by the First Lien Term Loan Credit Agreement (as amended, the “2018 Term Loan”) with a balance of $865.6 million. 

On December 7, 2021, VM Consolidated Inc, entered into an agreement to exercise the accordion feature under the 2021 Term Loan, borrowing 
$250 million in incremental term loans (“Incremental Term Loan”). The proceeds from the Incremental Term Loan were used, along with cash on hand, to 
fund the acquisition of T2 Systems, including repaying in full all outstanding debt for T2 Systems. In connection with the Incremental Term Loan, the 
Company had an offering discount cost of $1.3 million and $3.8 million of deferred financing costs, both of which were capitalized and are amortized over 
the remaining life of the 2021 Term Loan. The Incremental Term Loan accrued interest from the date of borrowing until December 31, 2021, at which time, 
it was combined with the 2021 Term Loan to be a single tranche of term loan borrowings. The total principal outstanding under the 2021 Term Loan, which 
includes the Incremental Term Loan, was $895.1 million at December 31, 2021.

The 2021 Term Loan is repayable at 1.0% per annum of the amount initially borrowed, paid in quarterly installments. It bears interest based, at the 
Company’s option, on either (1) LIBOR plus an applicable margin of 3.25% per annum, or (2) an alternate base rate plus an applicable margin of 2.25% per 
annum. As of December 31, 2021, the interest rate on the 2021 Term Loan was 3.6%.
 

In addition, the 2021 Term Loan requires mandatory prepayments equal to the product of the excess cash flows of the Company (as defined in the 
2021 Term Loan agreement) and the applicable prepayment percentages (calculated as of the last day of the fiscal year, beginning with the year ending 
December 31, 2022), as set forth in the following table:

 

Consolidated First Lien Net Leverage Ratio (As Defined by the 2021 Term Loan Agreement)  

Applicable
Prepayment


Percentage
> 3.70:1.00   50%

< 3.70:1.00 and > 3.20:1.00   25%
< 3.20:1.00   0%

 
Interest on the Senior Notes is fixed at 5.50% per annum and is payable on April 15 and October 15 of each year (beginning on October 15, 2021). 

On or after April 15, 2024, the Company may redeem all or a portion of the Senior Notes at the redemption prices set forth below in percentages by year, 
plus accrued and unpaid interest:
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Year    Percentage
2024    102.750%
2025    101.375%

2026 and thereafter    100.000%
 

In addition, the Company may redeem up to 40% of the Senior Notes before April 15, 2024, with the net cash proceeds from certain equity 
offerings.

The Company evaluated the March 2021 refinancing transactions on a lender-by-lender basis and accounted for the portion of the transaction that 
did not meet the accounting criteria for debt extinguishment as a debt modification. Accordingly, the Company recognized a loss on extinguishment of debt 
of $5.3 million on the 2018 Term Loan during the year ended December 31, 2021, consisting of a $4.0 million write-off of pre-existing deferred financing 
costs and discounts and $1.3 million of lender and third-party costs associated with the issuance of the new 2021 Term Loan.
 
PPP Loan

During fiscal year 2020, Redflex received a loan from the U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”) as part of the Paycheck Protection Program 
(“PPP Loan”) to offset certain employment and other allowable costs incurred as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. At December 31, 2021, the loan 
amount outstanding was $2.9 million and is payable within a year, and is included in the current portion of long-term debt. In early 2021, Redflex applied 
for forgiveness of this loan and, as of December 31, 2021, was still awaiting approval from the SBA.
 
The Revolver

The Company has a Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Revolver”) with a commitment of up to $75 million available for loans and letters of credit. 
The Revolver matures on December 20, 2026. Borrowing eligibility under the Revolver is subject to a monthly borrowing base calculation based on (i) 
certain percentages of eligible accounts receivable and inventory, less (ii) certain reserve items, including outstanding letters of credit and other reserves. 
The Revolver bears interest on either (1) LIBOR plus an applicable margin, or (2) an alternate base rate, plus an applicable margin. The margin percentage 
applied to (1) LIBOR is either 1.25%, 1.50%, or 1.75%, or (2) the base rate is either 0.25%, 0.50%, or 0.75%, depending on the Company’s average 
availability to borrow under the commitment. At December 31, 2021, the Company had $25.0 million in outstanding borrowings on the Revolver, which 
was repaid in full in January 2022.

Interest on the unused portion of the Revolver is payable quarterly at 0.375% and the Company is also required to pay participation and fronting fees 
at 1.38% on $6.2 million of outstanding letters of credit as of December 31, 2021.

All borrowings and other extensions of credits under the 2021 Term Loan, Senior Notes and the Revolver are subject to the satisfaction of customary 
conditions and restrictive covenants including absence of defaults and accuracy in material respects of representations and warranties. At December 31, 
2021, the Company was compliant with all debt covenants. Substantially all of the Company’s assets are pledged as collateral to secure the Company’s 
indebtedness under the 2021 Term Loan and the Revolver.
 
Interest Expense
 

We recorded interest expense, including amortization of deferred financing costs and discounts, of $44.9 million, $40.9 million and $60.7 million for 
the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 respectively.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America 
(“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and 
accompanying notes. Management believes 
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that its estimates and assumptions are reasonable in the circumstances; however, actual results could differ materially from those estimates.
 
Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary 

Data, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We believe that the critical accounting policies listed below involve our more significant judgments, 
assumptions, and estimates and, therefore, could have the greatest potential impact on the financial statements.

Revenue Recognition and Deferred Revenue

Nature of Goods and Services

The following is a description of principal activities – separated by reportable segments – from which the Company generates revenue:

Commercial Services.    The Commercial Services segment offers toll and violation management solutions for the commercial fleet and rental car 
industries. The Company determined its performance obligation is a distinct stand-ready obligation, as there is an unspecified quantity of services provided 
that does not diminish, and the customer is being charged only when it uses the Company’s services, such as toll payment, title and registration, etc. 
Payment terms for contracts with commercial fleet and rental car companies vary, but are usually billed as services are performed. 

Government Solutions.    The Government Solutions segment principally generates revenue by providing complete, end-to-end speed, red-light, 
school bus stop arm, and bus lane enforcement solutions. Products, when sold, are typically sold together with the services in a bundle for a majority of 
customers. The average initial term of a contract is 3 to 5 years. Payment terms for contracts with government agencies vary depending on whether the 
consideration is fixed or variable. Payment terms for contracts with fixed consideration are usually based on equal installments over the duration of the 
contract. Payment terms for contracts with variable consideration are usually billed and collected as citations are issued or paid. In instances when the 
consideration expected from the customer is subject to variation, any variable consideration affecting revenue recognition is allocated to the distinct period 
(the monthly period) that it relates to. 

For bundled packages, the Company accounts for individual products and services separately if they are distinct – i.e., if a product or service is 
separately identifiable from other items in the bundle and if a customer can benefit from it as a stand-alone item. The consideration is allocated between 
separate products and services in a bundle based on their stand-alone selling prices (“SSP”). The Company estimates the SSP for its services based upon 
observable evidence, market conditions and other relevant inputs. If products are sold without the related services, no allocation is required.

• Product sales (sale of camera systems and installation) – the Company recognizes revenue when the installation process is completed and the 
camera system is ready to perform the services as expected by the customer. Generally, this occurs at site acceptance or first citation. The 
Company recognizes revenue for the sale of the camera system and installation services at a point in time. 
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• Service revenue – the Company has determined its performance obligation is to provide a complete end-to-end safety and enforcement 
solution. Promises include providing a system to capture images, processing images taken by the camera, forwarding eligible images to the 
police department and processing payments on behalf of the municipality. The Company has determined that certain of the promises to its 
customers are capable of being distinct as they are capable of providing some measure of benefit to the customer either on their own or 
together with other resources that are readily available to the customer. However, the Company has determined the promises to its customers 
do not meet the criterion of being distinct within the context of its contracts. The Company would not be able to fulfill its promises 
individually as its customers could not obtain the intended benefit from the contract without the Company fulfilling all promises. 
Accordingly, the Company concluded that each contract represents one service offering and is a single performance obligation to the 
customer. Further, the Company accounts for all the services as a single continuous service. The Company applied the series guidance for 
those services as it stands ready to deliver those services over the contract period. The Company recognizes revenue from services over time, 
as they are performed.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2021, the Company had approximately $0.3 million and $8.9 million of deferred revenue in the Government 
Solutions segment. Deferred revenue represents amounts that have been invoiced in advance which are expected to be recognized as revenue in future 
periods. The majority of the remaining performance obligations as of December 31, 2021 are expected to be completed and recognized in 2022 and $3.2 
million is expected to be recognized ratably between 2023 through 2027. 

Parking Solutions.   The newly acquired T2 Systems business offers an integrated suite of parking software and hardware solutions to its customers. 
Revenue since the date of acquisition was derived primarily from the sale of software as a service (“SaaS”) and specialized hardware. For bundled 
packages, the Company accounts for individual products and services separately if they are distinct and allocate the transaction price based on the relative 
SSP. 

• Revenue derived from the Company’s SaaS products is recognized ratably over the contractual service period beginning on the date the 
service is made available to the customer.

• Revenue from hardware product sales is recognized at a point in time when ownership is transferred to the customer.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had approximately $20.9 million of deferred revenue which represents amounts that have been invoiced in 
advance to the Parking Solutions customers and are expected to be recognized as revenue in 2022.

Significant Judgments
Significant judgment is required in order to identify contracts with customers and estimate transaction prices. Additional judgments are required for 

identifying the performance obligations and determining whether the services provided are able to be distinct, determining the transaction price as it relates 
to the different variable consideration structures identified in our contracts, the estimation of the SSP and the allocation of the transaction price by relative 
SSPs. Assumptions regarding timing of when control transfers to the customer also requires significant judgment in order to recognize revenue.

Allowance for Credit Losses
 

We review historical credit losses and customer payment trends on receivables and develop loss rate estimates as of the balance sheet date, which 
includes adjustments for current and future expectations using probability-weighted assumptions about potential outcomes. Receivables are written off 
against the allowance for credit losses when it is probable that amounts will not be collected based on the terms of the customer contracts, and subsequent 
recoveries reverse the previous write-off and apply to the receivable in the period recovered. The Company periodically evaluates the adequacy of its 
allowance for expected credit losses by comparing its actual historical write-offs to its previously recorded estimates and adjusts appropriately. This 
includes evaluation by portfolio segment the changes in expectations based on the newest information available on customer payment trends and risk 
characteristics, and adjusting the probability-weighting either upward or downward that is most representative of the expected credit losses. We adjusted 
down our estimate for credit loss as of December 31, 2021 for the Commercial Services (All other) portfolio segment to reflect improved economic 
conditions based on customer payment trends in 
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the last 12 months, as compared to as of December 31, 2020 which was based on higher probabilities of loss given the uncertainty caused by COVID-19 on 
the travel industry.

Acquisitions
We have made a number of acquisitions to date and may continue to do so in the future. We apply the acquisition method to account for business 

combinations. We allocate the fair value of the purchase price consideration to assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. 
The excess of the purchase consideration over the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. 

The determination and allocation of fair values to the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed is based on various assumptions and 
valuation methodologies requiring considerable management judgment and includes the use of independent valuation specialists to assist us in estimating 
fair values of acquired tangible and intangible assets. Fair values of acquired assets and their respective useful lives are based on, among other factors, 
critical estimates of expected cash flows, customer turnover and anticipated growth from acquired customers, discount rates and royalty cost savings. 
Although we believe that the assumptions applied in the determination are reasonable based on information available at the date of acquisition, actual 
results may differ from estimates. Differences between estimates and actual results may result in adjustment to goodwill and acquisition date fair values of 
assets and liabilities during a measurement period or upon a final determination of asset and liability fair values, whichever occurs first. Adjustments to fair 
values of assets and liabilities made after the end of the measurement period are recognized within our consolidated statements of operations as a current 
period gain or loss. 

During the fourth quarter of 2021, we early adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805): 
Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers, which requires consistent recognition and measurement of 
contract assets and contract liabilities whether or not they are acquired in a business combination. As a result, we did not measure deferred revenue at fair 
value for business combinations completed in fiscal year 2021.

Impairment of Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets
 

We assess goodwill for impairment annually on October 1, or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not 
be fully recoverable. We first consider the option to assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the 
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If we conclude that it is more likely than not that the fair value is less than the carrying amount, we then 
perform a one-step quantitative impairment test by comparing the reporting unit’s fair value with its carrying value. An impairment loss is recognized for 
the amount by which the reporting units’ carrying value exceeds its fair value, up to the total amount of goodwill allocated to the reporting unit. No 
impairment is recognized if the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value.  
 

The process of evaluating goodwill requires significant judgment including the identification of reporting units and the determination of the fair 
value of each reporting unit. If necessary, we determine fair values of our reporting units based on an income approach or more specifically, a discounted 
cash flow method (“DCF Method”). The DCF Method is based on projected future cash flows and terminal value estimates discounted to their present 
values. Terminal value represents the present value an investor would pay on the valuation date for the rights to the cash flows of the business for the years 
subsequent to the discrete cash flow projection period. We consider the DCF Method to be the most appropriate valuation technique since it is based on our 
long-term financial projections. In addition to determining the fair value of our reporting units based on the DCF method, we also compare the aggregate 
values of our net corporate assets and the reporting unit fair values to our overall market capitalization and use certain market-based valuation techniques to 
assess the reasonableness of the reporting unit fair values determined in accordance with the DCF Method. The key inputs used in the DCF Method include 
revenue growth rates, gross margin percentage, selling, general and administrative expense percentage and discount rates that are at or above our weighted-
average cost of capital. We apply discount rates that are commensurate with the risks and uncertainties inherent in the respective reporting units and our 
internally developed projections of future cash flows.
Our qualitative analyses performed as of October 1 for fiscal years 2021, 2020 and 2019 did not have indicators of impairment.
 

We review our long-lived assets other than goodwill, for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset 
or asset group may not be fully recoverable. We assess recoverability by comparing the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated 
by the asset or asset group with its carrying value. If the carrying value of the asset or asset group exceeds the estimated undiscounted future cash flows, an 
impairment loss is recognized for the difference between the estimated fair value and the carrying value. Our estimates of cash flows are subjective 
judgments based on past experiences adjusted for trends and future 
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expectation, and can be significantly impacted by changes in our business or economic conditions. The determination of asset group fair value is also 
subject to significant judgment and utilizes valuation techniques including discounting estimated future cash flows and market-based analyses. If our 
estimates or underlying assumptions change in the future, our operating results may be materially impacted.
 

The state of Texas passed legislation as of June 1, 2019, to ban red-light photo enforcement programs across the state, with certain carve-outs for 
some existing programs. We considered this a triggering event for potential impairment and evaluated the recoverability of property and equipment used in 
the operations of red-light photo enforcement programs in Texas. As a result, we recognized an impairment charge in the Government Solutions segment of 
$5.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, which is included in impairment of property and equipment in the consolidated statements of 
operations. We did not have any indicators of impairment related to long-lived assets for the years ended December 31, 2020 or December 31, 2021. 

Income Taxes 
We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. This approach requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the 

expected future tax consequences of differences between the tax basis of assets or liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. 
Deferred tax assets generally represent items that can be used as a tax deduction or credit in our tax return in future years, while deferred tax liabilities 
generally represent items that generate a future tax liability for items where deductions have been accelerated for tax purposes. We provide a valuation 
allowance for deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the tax assets will not be realized. We calculate the valuation 
allowance in accordance with the authoritative guidance relating to income taxes, which requires an assessment of both positive and negative evidence 
regarding the realizability of these deferred tax assets when measuring the need for a valuation allowance. Significant judgment is required in determining 
any valuation allowance against deferred tax assets. The realization of deferred tax assets can be affected by, among other things, the nature, frequency, and 
severity of current and cumulative losses, forecasts of future profitability, the length of statutory carryforward periods, our experience with utilizing 
operating losses and tax credit carryforwards by jurisdiction, the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences and tax planning alternatives and 
strategies that may be available.

Our effective tax rate is based on income, statutory tax rates, differences in the deductibility of certain expenses and inclusion of certain income 
items between financial statement and tax return purposes, and tax planning opportunities available to us in the various jurisdictions in which we operate. 
Under GAAP, if we determine that a tax position is more likely than not of being sustained upon audit, based solely on the technical merits of the position, 
we recognize the benefit. Tax code and regulations require certain items to be included in the tax return at different times than when those items are 
required to be recorded in the consolidated financial statements. As a result, our effective tax rate reflected in our consolidated financial statements is 
different from that reported in our tax returns. Some of these differences are permanent, such as meals and entertainment expenses that are not fully 
deductible on our tax returns, and some are temporary differences, such as depreciation expense.  Temporary differences create deferred tax assets and 
liabilities.

Our policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to the underpayment of income taxes as a component of income tax provision or benefit.

Tax Receivable Agreement
 

At the closing of the Business Combination, we entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement with the Platinum Stockholder. The Tax Receivable 
Agreement generally provides for the payment to the Platinum Stockholder of 50% of the net cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state and local income 
tax that we actually realize (or are deemed to realize in certain circumstances) in periods after the closing of the Business Combination as a result of the 
increase in the tax basis of certain acquired intangibles prior to the Business Combination. We generally retain the benefit of the remaining 50% of these 
cash savings. We estimated the potential maximum benefit to be paid will be approximately $70.0 million and recorded an initial liability and 
corresponding charge to equity at the closing of the Business Combination. Subsequently, the Company adjusted this amount. 

 
At December 31, 2021, the Tax Receivable Agreement liability was approximately $61.7 million of which $5.1 million was the current portion and 

$56.6 million was the non-current portion, both of which are included in the respective payable to the related party pursuant to tax receivable agreement 
line items on the consolidated balance 
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sheets. The Company made a $4.8 million payment during the first quarter of 2021 and a $5.1 million payment during the fourth quarter of 2021 related to 
tax years 2019 and 2020, respectively.

We recorded a $1.0 million tax benefit in fiscal year 2021, a $6.8 million tax expense in fiscal year 2020 and a $0.1 million tax benefit in fiscal year 
2019. The Tax Receivable Agreement liability adjustment in 2021 is a result of lower estimated state tax rates due to changes in apportionment, whereas in 
2020 it is a result of higher state tax rates due to changes in apportionment. 

 
The remaining tax life of these intangible assets is approximately 12 years. The ultimate timing of payments of the Tax Receivable Agreement 

liability is uncertain due to the realization of the benefits from the related intangibles involving uncertainties in the amount and timing of our future taxable 
income. We expect to fund future payments through cash flow from operations.

Private Placement Warrant Liabilities
 

We account for warrants as either equity-classified or liability-classified instruments based on an assessment of the warrant’s specific terms and 
applicable authoritative guidance under the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity (“ASC 
480”) and ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”). The assessment considers whether the warrants are freestanding financial instruments pursuant 
to ASC 480, meet the definition of a liability pursuant to ASC 480, and whether the warrants meet all of the requirements for equity classification under 
ASC 815, including whether the warrants are indexed to our own common shares, among other conditions for equity classification. 

  
For warrants that meet all of the criteria for equity classification, the warrants are required to be recorded as a component of additional paid-in 

capital at the time of issuance. For warrants that do not meet all the criteria for equity classification, the warrants are required to be recorded at their fair 
value on the date of issuance, and each balance sheet date thereafter. Changes in the estimated fair value of the warrants are recognized as a non-cash gain 
or loss on the statements of operations. Our Public Warrants meet the criteria for equity classification and accordingly, are reported as a component of 
shareholders’ equity while our Private Placement Warrants do not meet the criteria for equity classification and are instead classified as a liability. The fair 
value of the Private Placement Warrants is estimated at period-end using a Black-Scholes option pricing model, which is a Level 3 fair value measurement 
exposed to valuation risk. The risk of exposure is estimated using a sensitivity analysis of potential changes in the significant unobservable inputs, 
primarily the volatility input that is the most susceptible to valuation risk. A 5% increase to the volatility input at December 31, 2021 would increase the 
estimated fair value of $5.77 by $0.30 per unit. A 5% decrease to the volatility input at December 31, 2021 would decrease the estimated fair value by 
$0.30 per unit. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
 

For a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements, refer to Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, in Item 8, Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data.
 

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We are exposed to interest rate market risk due to the variable interest rate on the 2021 Term Loan and revolving borrowings described in “Item 7. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources.”
Interest rate risk represents our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates associated with the variable rate debt represented by the 2021 Term Loan, 

which has an outstanding balance of $895 million at December 31, 2021. The 2021 Term Loan presently bears interest based, at our option, on either (1) 
LIBOR plus an applicable margin of 3.25% per annum, or (2) an alternate base rate plus an applicable margin of 2.25% per annum. At December 31, 2021, 
the interest rate on the 2021 Term Loan was 3.6%. Based on the December 31, 2021 balance outstanding, each 1% movement in interest rates will result in 
an approximately $9.2 million change in annual interest expense.

We have not engaged in any hedging activities during fiscal year 2021. We do not expect to engage in any hedging activities with respect to the 
market risk to which we are exposed.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Verra Mobility Corporation 
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Verra Mobility Corporation (the Company) as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the 
related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the 
period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes and the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a) (collectively referred to as the 
“financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company at 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 
2021, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 
  
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated April 22, 2022 expressed an adverse opinion 
thereon.
  
Basis for Opinion
 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial 
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the 
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the 
PCAOB. 
  
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing 
procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to 
those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits 
also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
  
Critical Audit Matters
  
The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or 
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) 
involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion 
on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions 
on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
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Commercial Services Revenue
 

Description of the 
Matter

As described in Notes 2 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company generated commercial services 
revenue of $260.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. 
  
The Company's commercial services revenue recognition process involves several applications and data sources needed for 
the initiation, processing, and recording of transactions from the Company’s various commercial services revenue sources, 
as well as the calculation of commercial services revenue in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy.  Auditing 
the Company's accounting for commercial services revenue from contracts with customers was challenging and complex 
primarily due to the high volume of transactions, as well as the multiple applications and data sources associated with the 
commercial services revenue recognition process.
  

How We Addressed the 
Matter in Our Audit

To test the Company’s accounting for commercial services revenue from contracts with customers, we performed 
substantive audit procedures that included, among others, testing on a sample basis the completeness and accuracy of the 
underlying data within the commercial services revenue systems, performing data analytics to test recorded revenue 
amounts, tracing a sample of sales transactions to supporting documentation, and testing a sample of cash to billings 
reconciliations.

 
Business Combinations
 

Description of the 
Matter

As described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, during 2021, the Company completed two business 
combinations, (1) T2 Systems Parent Corporation for total purchase consideration of $353.2 million and (2) Redflex 
Holdings Limited for total purchase consideration of $117.9 million. 
 
Auditing management’s accounting for the acquisition was complex due to the significant estimation uncertainty in 
determining the fair value of certain acquired finite-lived intangible assets, specifically the customer relationships related 
to T2 Systems Parent Corporation totaling $164.3 million and the customer relationships of Redflex Holdings Limited 
totaling $25.9 million. These customer relationship intangible assets were valued using an income-based approach. The 
fair value determination of the acquired customer relationship intangible assets required management to make estimates 
and significant assumptions regarding future cash flows, including revenue growth rates, earnings metrics, and discount 
rate. These significant assumptions were forward-looking and could be affected by future market and economic conditions.
 

How We Addressed the 
Matter in Our Audit

To test the estimated fair value of the customer relationship intangible assets, our audit procedures included, among others, 
assessing the fair value methodology used by the Company and testing the significant assumptions and the underlying data 
used by the Company in its analyses. For example, we compared the significant assumptions used to current industry, 
market and economic trends, to the historical results of the acquired businesses, and to other guideline companies. We also 
performed sensitivity analyses over the significant assumptions used to evaluate the changes in the fair value of each 
estimate that would result from changes in the assumptions. We tested the completeness and accuracy of the underlying 
data used in the valuation. We involved firm valuation specialists to assist us in our evaluation of the Company’s valuation 
model, related assumptions and outputs of the valuation model. 

  
 /s/ Ernst & Young LLP
 We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2013.  
 Phoenix, Arizona
April 22, 2022
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

  
  
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Verra Mobility Corporation
  
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 
We have audited Verra Mobility Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO 
criteria). In our opinion, because of the effect of the material weakness described below on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, Verra 
Mobility Corporation (the Company) has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on the COSO 
criteria.
  
As indicated in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management’s assessment of and conclusion on the 
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal controls of Redflex Holdings Limited and T2 Systems Parent 
Corporation, which is included in the 2021 consolidated financial statements of the Company and constituted approximately 7.4% of total assets as of 
December 31, 2021 and approximately 8.2% of revenues for the year then ended. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also 
did not include an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of Redflex Holdings Limited and T2 Systems Parent Corporation.
  
A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility 
that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The following 
material weaknesses have been identified and included in management’s assessment. Management identified a material weakness related to the Company’s 
monitoring activities over the acquisition of Redflex Holdings Limited, a material weakness related to control activities over the acquisition of Redflex 
Holdings Limited and a material weakness related to controls specific to a third-party application.
 
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated 
balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), 
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes and the financial statement 
schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a) and our report dated April 22, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
  
Basis for Opinion
 
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of 
internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.  We are a public accounting firm 
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the 
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. 
 
Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and 
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control 
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are 
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial 
statements. 
  
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of 
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
  
 /s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Phoenix, Arizona
April 22, 2022 
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VERRA MOBILITY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
 

(In thousands, except per share data)  
December 31,


2021    
December 31,


2020  
Assets            

Current assets:            
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 101,283     $ 120,259  
Restricted cash     3,149       633  
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for credit losses of $12.1 million and $11.5 million at December 31, 
2021 and 2020, respectively)     160,979       168,783  
Unbilled receivables     29,109       14,045  
Inventory, net     12,093       113  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     41,456       24,204  

Total current assets     348,069       328,037  
Installation and service parts, net     13,332       7,944  
Property and equipment, net     96,066       70,284  
Operating lease assets     38,862       29,787  
Intangible assets, net     487,299       342,139  
Goodwill     838,867       586,435  
Other non-current assets     14,561       2,699  

Total assets   $ 1,837,056     $ 1,367,325  
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity            

Current liabilities:            
Accounts payable   $ 67,556     $ 34,509  
Deferred revenue     27,141       749  
Accrued liabilities     38,435       14,887  
Payable to related party pursuant to tax receivable agreement, current portion     5,107       4,791  
Current portion of long-term debt     36,952       9,104  

Total current liabilities     175,191       64,040  
Long-term debt, net of current portion     1,206,802       832,941  
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion     34,984       27,986  
Payable to related party pursuant to tax receivable agreement, net of current portion     56,615       67,869  
Private placement warrant liabilities     38,466       30,866  
Asset retirement obligation     11,824       6,409  
Deferred tax liabilities, net     47,524       21,148  
Other long-term liabilities     5,686       494  

Total liabilities     1,577,092       1,051,753  
Commitments and contingencies (Note 17)            
Stockholders' equity            

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 1,000 shares authorized with no shares issued and outstanding at 
December 31, 2021 and 2020     —       —  
Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 260,000 shares authorized with 156,079 and 162,269 shares issued and 
outstanding at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively     16       16  
Common stock contingent consideration     36,575       36,575  
Additional paid-in capital     309,883       373,620  
Accumulated deficit     (81,416 )     (94,850 )
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income     (5,094 )     211  

Total stockholders' equity     259,964       315,572  
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity   $ 1,837,056     $ 1,367,325  

 
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

67



 
VERRA MOBILITY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

 
    For the Year Ended December 31,  
($ in thousands, except per share data)   2021     2020     2019  
Service revenue   $ 492,846     $ 336,274     $ 416,723  
Product sales     57,744       57,319       32,014  
Total revenue     550,590       393,593       448,737  

Cost of service revenue     5,337       3,967       5,561  
Cost of product sales     29,809       29,573       13,919  
Operating expenses     163,370       115,729       125,640  
Selling, general and administrative expenses     123,407       89,664       85,493  
Depreciation, amortization and (gain) loss on disposal of assets, net     116,801       116,844       115,771  
Impairment of property and equipment     —       —       5,898  
Total costs and expenses     438,724       355,777       352,282  
Income from operations     111,866       37,816       96,455  

Interest expense, net     44,942       40,865       60,729  
Change in fair value of private placement warrants     7,600       1,133       16,267  
Tax receivable agreement liability adjustment     (1,016 )     6,850       (106 )
Loss on extinguishment of debt     5,334       —       —  
Other income, net     (12,895 )     (11,885 )     (11,092 )
Total other expenses     43,965       36,963       65,798  

Income before income taxes     67,901       853       30,657  
Income tax provision     26,452       5,431       13,581  
Net income (loss)   $ 41,449     $ (4,578 )   $ 17,076  

Other comprehensive (loss) income:                  
Change in foreign currency translation adjustment     (5,305 )     2,788       3,244  
Total comprehensive income (loss)   $ 36,144     $ (1,790 )   $ 20,320  

Net income (loss) per share:                  
Basic   $ 0.26     $ (0.03 )   $ 0.11  
Diluted   $ 0.25     $ (0.03 )   $ 0.11  
Weighted average shares outstanding:                  
Basic     159,983       161,632       157,890  
Diluted     163,778       161,632       160,080  
 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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VERRA MOBILITY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
 

 

 
Common


Stock    

Common

Stock


Contingent    
Additional


Paid-in     Accumulated    

Accumulated

Other


Comprehensive    
Total


Stockholders'  
(In thousands)   Shares     Amount     Consideration     Capital     Deficit     (Loss) Income     Equity  
Balance as of December 31, 2018     156,057     $ 16     $ 73,150     $ 327,642     $ (106,397 )  $ (5,821 )  $ 288,590  
Net income     —       —       —       —       17,076       —       17,076  
Cumulative effect of adoption of the new 
revenue accounting standard     —       —       —       —       (257 )    —       (257 )
Adjustment to equity infusion from Gores     —       —       —       (7,001 )    —       —       (7,001 )
Adjustment to tax receivable agreement 
liability     —       —       —       2,940       —       —       2,940  
Earn-out shares issued to Platinum Stockholder     2,500       —       (18,288 )     18,288       —       —       —  
Vesting of restricted stock units ("RSUs")     593       —       —       —       —       —       —  
Payment of employee tax withholding related 
to RSUs vesting     —       —       —       (4,990 )    —       —       (4,990 )
Stock-based compensation     —       —       —       10,012       —       —       10,012  
Other comprehensive income     —       —       —       —       —       3,244       3,244  
Balance as of December 31, 2019     159,150     $ 16     $ 54,862     $ 346,891     $ (89,578 )  $ (2,577 )  $ 309,614  
Net loss     —       —       —       —       (4,578 )    —       (4,578 )
Cumulative effect of adoption of the credit loss 
accounting standard, net of tax     —       —       —       —       (694 )    —       (694 )
Earn-out shares issued to Platinum Stockholder     2,500       —       (18,287 )     18,287       —       —       —  
Vesting of RSUs     619       —       —       —       —       —       —  
Payment of employee tax withholding related 
to RSUs vesting     —       —       —       (4,147 )    —       —       (4,147 )
Stock-based compensation     —       —       —       12,589       —       —       12,589  
Other comprehensive income, net of tax     —       —       —       —       —       2,788       2,788  
Balance as of December 31, 2020     162,269     $ 16     $ 36,575     $ 373,620     $ (94,850 )  $ 211     $ 315,572  
Net income     —       —       —       —       41,449       —       41,449  
Share repurchase and retirement     (6,849 )     —       —       (71,985 )    (28,015 )    —       (100,000 )
Vesting of RSUs     647       —       —       —       —       —       —  
Exercise of stock options     12       —       —       155       —       —       155  
Payment of employee tax withholding related 
to RSUs vesting     —       —       —       (5,691 )    —       —       (5,691 )
Stock-based compensation     —       —       —       13,784       —       —       13,784  
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax     —       —       —       —       —       (5,305 )    (5,305 )
Balance as of December 31, 2021     156,079     $ 16     $ 36,575     $ 309,883     $ (81,416 )  $ (5,094 )  $ 259,964  

 
 
 

 
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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VERRA MOBILITY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
 

    For the Year Ended December 31,  
($ in thousands)   2021     2020     2019  
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:                  
Net income (loss)   $ 41,449     $ (4,578 )   $ 17,076  
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:                  

Depreciation and amortization     116,753       116,570       115,566  
Amortization of deferred financing costs and discounts     5,170       5,437       6,641  
Impairment of property and equipment     —       —       5,898  
Change in fair value of private placement warrants     7,600       1,133       16,267  
Tax receivable agreement liability adjustment     (1,016 )     6,850       (106 )
Loss on extinguishment of debt     5,334       —       —  
Credit loss expense     9,588       14,391       8,100  
Deferred income taxes     (10,640 )     (4,746 )     (10,894 )
Stock-based compensation     13,784       12,589       10,012  
Other     308       1,210       1,721  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:                  
Accounts receivable, net     14,946       (90,592 )     (12,662 )
Unbilled receivables     (7,753 )     5,964       (6,428 )
Inventory, net     2,798       —       —  
Prepaid expenses and other assets     (5,097 )     3,829       (7,150 )
Deferred revenue     (3,966 )     58       316  
Accounts payable and other current liabilities     8,296       (16,925 )     (8,510 )
Other liabilities     (4,383 )     (4,281 )     (2,045 )

Net cash provided by operating activities     193,171       46,909       133,802  
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:                  

Acquisitions, net of cash and restricted cash acquired     (451,237 )     —       (25,519 )
Purchases of installation and service parts and property and equipment     (24,998 )     (24,260 )     (29,685 )
Cash proceeds from the sale of assets     265       107       231  

Net cash used in investing activities     (475,970 )     (24,153 )     (54,973 )
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:                  

Borrowings on revolver     25,000       —       —  
Borrowings of long-term debt     1,245,500       —       —  
Repayment of long-term debt     (884,530 )     (28,779 )     (9,104 )
Payment of debt issuance costs     (10,646 )     (1,078 )     (426 )
Payment of debt extinguishment costs     (1,066 )     —       —  
Share repurchase and retirement     (100,000 )     —       —  
Proceeds from exercise of stock options     155       —       —  
Payment of employee tax withholding related to RSUs vesting     (5,691 )     (4,147 )     (4,990 )

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities     268,722       (34,004 )     (14,520 )
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents     (2,383 )     (290 )     1,040  
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash     (16,460 )     (11,538 )     65,349  
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash - beginning of period     120,892       132,430       67,081  
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash - end of period   $ 104,432     $ 120,892     $ 132,430  
                   
Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash to the consolidated balance sheets                  
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 101,283     $ 120,259     $ 131,513  
Restricted cash     3,149       633       917  
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash   $ 104,432     $ 120,892     $ 132,430  

 
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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VERRA MOBILITY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
 

  For the Year Ended December 31,  
  2021     2020     2019  
Supplemental cash flow information:                

Interest paid $ 35,786     $ 35,822     $ 55,197  
Income taxes paid, net of refunds   35,774       12,638       24,357  

Supplemental non-cash investing and financing activities:                
Earn-out shares issued to Platinum Stockholder   —       18,287       18,288  
Additions related to asset retirement obligations, property and equipment, and other   1,397       133       230  
Purchases of installation and service parts and property and equipment in accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities at year-end   1,714       1,289       4,204  
Contingent consideration related to NuPark acquisition   1,450       —       —  
Tenant improvement allowance included in property and equipment   —       —       581  
Gores equity infusion working capital adjustment payable to related party   —       —       7,001  
Reduction to tax receivable agreement liability   —       —       2,940  

(a)   Asset retirement obligations of $3.9 million assumed as part of the Redflex acquisition are excluded from these additions.
 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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VERRA MOBILITY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

1. Description of Business

Verra Mobility Corporation (collectively with its subsidiaries, the “Company” or “Verra Mobility”), formerly known as Gores Holdings II, Inc. 
(“Gores”), was originally incorporated in Delaware on August 15, 2016, as a special purpose acquisition company formed for the purpose of effecting a 
merger, capital stock exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase, reorganization, or other similar business combination with one or more target businesses. 
On January 19, 2017, the Company consummated its initial public offering (the “IPO”), following which its shares began trading on the Nasdaq Capital 
Market (“Nasdaq”). On June 21, 2018, Gores entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (as amended, the “Merger Agreement”) with Greenlight 
Holding II Corporation (“Greenlight”), PE Greenlight Holdings, LLC, AM Merger Sub I, Inc., a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Gores and AM Merger 
Sub II, LLC, a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Gores. On October 17, 2018, the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement (the “Business 
Combination”) were consummated. In connection with the closing of the Business Combination, Gores changed its name to Verra Mobility Corporation. 
As a result of the Business Combination, Verra Mobility Corporation became the owner, directly or indirectly, of all of the equity interests of Verra 
Mobility Holdings, LLC and its subsidiaries.

Verra Mobility offers integrated technology solutions and services to its customers who are located throughout the world, primarily within the 
United States, Australia, Canada and Europe. The Company is organized into three operating segments: Commercial Services, Government Solutions and 
Parking Solutions (see Note 18).

The Commercial Services segment offers toll and violation management solutions for the commercial fleet and rental car industries by partnering 
with the leading fleet management and rental car companies in North America. Electronic toll payment services enable fleet drivers and rental car 
customers to use high-speed cashless toll lanes or all-electronic cashless toll roads. The service helps commercial fleets reduce toll management costs, 
while it provides rental car companies with a revenue-generating, value-added service for their customers. Electronic violation processing services reduce 
the cost and risk associated with vehicle-issued violations, such as toll, parking or camera-enforced tickets. Title and registration services offer title and 
registration processing for individuals, rental car companies and fleet management companies. In Europe, the Company provides violations processing 
through Euro Parking Collection plc (“EPC”) and consumer tolling services through Pagatelia S.L (“Pagatelia”).

The Government Solutions segment offers photo enforcement solutions and services to its customers. Through its acquisition of Redflex Holdings 
Limited (“Redflex”) on June 17, 2021, the Company expanded its current footprint in the United States and gained access to international markets (see 
Note 3. Acquisitions). The Government Solutions segment provides complete, end-to-end speed, red-light, school bus stop arm and bus lane enforcement 
solutions within the United States and Canada. These programs are designed to reduce traffic violations and resulting collisions, injuries, and fatalities. The 
Company implements and administers traffic safety programs for municipalities, counties, school districts and law enforcement agencies of all sizes. The 
international operations acquired through Redflex primarily involve the sale of traffic enforcement products and related maintenance services.

The Parking Solutions segment offers an integrated suite of parking software and hardware solutions to its customers which include universities, 
municipalities, parking operators, healthcare facilities and transportation hubs. The Company added this new operating segment as a result of the 
acquisition of T2 Systems Parent Corporation (“T2 Systems”) on December 7, 2021, which allows the Company to diversify its operations into the parking 
solutions space (see Note 3. Acquisitions). The Parking Solutions segment develops specialized hardware and parking management software which 
provides a platform for the issuance of parking permits, enforcement, gateless vehicle counting, event parking and citation services. T2 Systems also 
produces and markets its proprietary software as a service to its customers throughout the United States and Canada.

2. Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”). All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. In the 
opinion of the Company’s 
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management, the consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments, which are normal and recurring in nature, necessary for fair financial statement 
presentation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Significant estimates and assumptions include those related to the 
fair values assigned to net assets acquired (including identifiable intangibles) in business combinations, revenue recognition, inventory valuation, 
allowance for credit losses, fair value of the private placement warrant liabilities, valuation allowance on deferred tax assets, impairment assessments of 
goodwill, intangible assets and other long-lived assets, asset retirement obligations, contingent consideration and the recognition and measurement of loss 
contingencies.

Management believes that its estimates and assumptions are reasonable in the circumstances; however, actual results could differ materially from 
those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with a remaining maturity of three months or less when acquired to be cash 
equivalents.

Restricted Cash
The Company collects cash on behalf of customers under certain contracts which it deposits daily into Company bank accounts and transfers 

regularly to customer bank accounts. Restricted cash represents customer cash collected but not yet remitted to the customer. Restricted cash is classified as 
a current asset and the corresponding liability is classified in current liabilities. 

Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk are primarily cash and cash equivalents, accounts 

receivable and unbilled receivables. The Company limits cash and cash equivalents to highly rated financial institutions.  
 
Significant customers are those which represent more than 10% of the Company’s total revenue or accounts receivable, net. Revenue from the single 

Government Solutions customer exceeding 10% of total revenue is presented below:

    For the Year Ended December 31,  
    2021     2020     2019  
City of New York Department of Transportation     26.6 %     31.3 %     14.6 %

 
The City of New York Department of Transportation (“NYCDOT”) represented 39% and 59% of total accounts receivable, net as of December 31, 

2021 and 2020, respectively. The total outstanding receivables balance decreased $35.7 million at December 31, 2021 compared to the outstanding balance 
at December 31, 2020 as the Company collected approximately $182 million during 2021 from the customer. There is no material reserve related to 
NYCDOT open receivables as amounts are deemed collectible based on current conditions and expectations. No other Government Solutions customer 
exceeded 10% of total accounts receivable, net as of any period presented.

 
Significant customer revenue concentrations generated through the Company’s Commercial Services partners as a percent of total revenue are 

presented below:
 

    For the Year Ended December 31,  
    2021     2020     2019  
Hertz Corporation     12.6 %     12.0 %     18.7 %
Avis Budget Group, Inc.     12.3 %     9.5 %     14.5 %
Enterprise Holdings, Inc.     11.4 %     11.3 %     13.5 %
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No Commercial Services customer exceeded 10% of total accounts receivable, net as of any period presented. 

There were no significant customer concentrations that exceeded 10% of total revenue or accounts receivables, net for the Parking Solutions 
segment.

Allowance for Credit Losses
Accounts receivable and unbilled receivables are uncollateralized customer obligations arising from the sale of products or services. Accounts 

receivable and unbilled receivables have normal trade terms of less than one year and are initially stated at the amounts billed to the customers and 
subsequently measured at amortized cost net of allowance for credit losses. Unbilled receivables are recorded when revenues have been earned but have not 
been included on a customer invoice through the end of the current period. 

The Company reviews historical credit losses and customer payment trends on receivables and develops loss rate estimates as of the balance sheet 
date, which includes adjustments for current and future expectations using probability-weighted assumptions about potential outcomes. Receivables are 
written off against the allowance for credit losses when it is probable that amounts will not be collected based on the terms of the customer contracts, and 
subsequent recoveries reverse the previous write-off and apply to the receivable in the period recovered. No interest or late fees are charged on delinquent 
accounts.

The Company identified portfolio segments based on the type of business, industry in which the customer operates and historical credit loss patterns. 
The following presents the activity in the allowance for credit losses for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively:

 

($ in thousands)
Commercial Services 


(Driver-billed)  
Commercial Services 


(All other)   Government Solutions   Total  
Balance at January 1, 2020 $ 5,272   $ 1,406   $ 1,778   $ 8,456  
Credit loss expense   6,554     4,945     2,892     14,391  
Write-offs, net of recoveries   (8,616 )   (2,074 )   (686 )   (11,376 )
Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 3,210   $ 4,277   $ 3,984   $ 11,471  
Credit loss expense (income)   11,040     (1,138 )   (314 )   9,588  
Write-offs, net of recoveries   (8,853 )   (47 )   (21 )   (8,921 )
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 5,397   $ 3,092   $ 3,649   $ 12,138  

 
(1) Driver-billed consists of receivables from drivers of rental cars and fleet management companies for which the Company bills on behalf of its 

customers. Receivables not collected from drivers within a defined number of days are transferred to customers subject to applicable bad debt 
sharing agreements.

(2) This includes a $0.8 million increase to allowance for credit losses as a result of adopting the credit loss standard.

(3) The activity related to the Parking Solutions segment was not material since the date of acquisition.

The Company evaluates the adequacy of its allowance for expected credit losses by comparing its actual write-offs to its previously recorded 
estimates and adjusts appropriately.

The Company adjusted down its estimate for credit loss as of December 31, 2021 for the Commercial Services (All other) segment to reflect 
improved economic conditions based on customer payment trends in the last 12 months. The credit loss estimate as of December 31, 2020 was based on 
higher probabilities of loss given the uncertainty caused by COVID-19 on the travel industry. The Commercial Services (Driver-billed) portfolio segment’s 
credit loss estimate as of December 31, 2021 increased compared to the prior year due to increased revenue that impacted the volume of transactions as a 
result of recovery from COVID-19.

Inventory, net
Inventories consist of parts and electronic components used in the production of parking management related hardware sold to certain Parking 

Solutions customers and photo enforcement equipment sold to certain Government Solutions customers. Inventories are stated at cost on a first-in, first-out 
basis or net realizable value. The Company assesses the value of its inventories and writes down the cost to net realizable value upon evaluation of 
historical experience and assumptions regarding future usage, and any such write down establishes a new cost basis for the items.
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Installation and Service Parts
Installation and service parts consist of components used in the construction and maintenance of our photo enforcement systems. Installation and 

service parts are stated at cost and are reclassified to property and equipment upon initiation of construction. Installation and service parts used in repairs 
and maintenance are recorded as operating expenses. 

Property and Equipment 
Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. All repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. Depreciation is 

recorded on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the related assets as follows:

Building   39 years
Equipment installed at customer sites   3-7 years
Computer equipment   3-5 years
Furniture   3-10 years
Automobiles   3-7 years
Software   3-7 years
Leasehold improvements   Shorter of lease term or estimated useful life

 
Equipment installed at customer sites includes certain installation costs that qualify for capitalization. Software costs include certain internal and 

external costs associated with the development of software that are incurred during the application development stage. In addition, a modification or 
upgrade to existing software is capitalized only to the extent it results in additional functionality to existing software. Software maintenance and training 
costs are expensed as incurred. The Company capitalized internally developed software costs of $3.0 million, $5.1 million and $2.1 million during fiscal 
years 2021, 2020, and 2019 respectively.

Equity Investment
The Company holds an investment in privately held equity securities which is recorded at cost and adjusted for observable transactions for same or 

similar investments or for impairment. Investment gains and losses are recorded in other income, net.

Valuations of privately held securities require judgment due to the lack of readily available observable market data. The carrying value is not 
adjusted if there are no identified events that would indicate a need for upward or downward adjustments or changes in circumstances that may indicate 
impairment. In determining the estimated fair value of its investment, the Company utilizes the most recent data available. The Company assesses it 
investment for impairment quarterly using both qualitative and quantitative factors. If an investment is considered impaired, an impairment loss is 
recognized and a new carrying value is established for the investment. Our analysis did not indicate impairment as of December 31, 2021. See Note 16, 
Related Party Transactions for more information.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired in 

business combinations. Goodwill is assessed for impairment at least annually at the reporting unit level or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If, based on a qualitative analysis, it is determined more-likely-than-not that the fair 
value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, a one-step quantitative impairment test is performed. Reporting units are identified by assessing 
whether the components of the Company’s operating segments constitute businesses for which discrete financial information is available and if segment 
management regularly reviews the operating results of those components. Application of the goodwill impairment test requires judgment, including the 
identification of reporting units, the assignment of assets (including goodwill) to those reporting units and the determination of the fair value of each 
reporting unit. The date of the Company’s annual impairment analysis is October 1. The annual qualitative analysis did not indicate any impairment as of 
the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.
 

In June 2021, the Company acquired Redflex and determined that the Redflex international operations represent a new reporting unit for the 
purposes of assessing potential impairment of goodwill, and therefore the Government Solutions operating segment was divided into two reporting units. In 
December 2021, the Company created a new operating and reportable segment, Parking Solutions, as a result of the acquisition of T2 systems, which was 
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determined to be a separate reporting unit. As of December 31, 2021, the Company has four reporting units for the purposes of assessing potential 
impairment of goodwill. 

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets represent existing customer relationships, trademarks, developed technology (hardware and software) and non-compete 
agreements. Intangible assets are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis, which approximates the utilization of their 
expected future benefits. Amortization of intangible assets is included in depreciation, amortization and (gain) loss on disposal of assets, net in the 
consolidated statements of operations.

The Company annually evaluates the estimated remaining useful lives of its intangible assets to determine whether events or changes in 
circumstances warrant a revision to the remaining period of amortization.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews its long-lived assets (including intangible assets with finite useful lives and installation and service parts) for impairment
whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or an asset group may not be fully recoverable. The Company assesses 
recoverability by comparing the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset or asset group with its carrying value. If the 
carrying value of the asset or asset group exceeds the estimated undiscounted future cash flows, an impairment loss is recognized for the difference 
between the estimated fair value and the carrying value.

The state of Texas passed legislation as of June 1, 2019, to ban red-light photo enforcement programs across the state, with certain carve-outs for 
some existing programs. The Company considered this a triggering event for potential impairment and evaluated the recoverability of property and 
equipment used in the operations of red-light photo enforcement programs in Texas. As a result, the Company recognized an impairment charge in the 
Government Solutions segment of $5.9 million for fiscal year 2019, which was included in impairment of property and equipment in the consolidated 
statements of operations. We did not have any indicators of impairment related to long-lived assets for the years ended December 31, 2021 or 2020. 

Self-Insurance 

The Company is self-insured for medical costs and has stop-loss insurance policies to limit its exposure to individual and aggregate claims made. 
Liabilities for these programs are estimated based on outstanding claims and claims estimated to be incurred but not yet reported using historical loss 
experience. These estimates are subject to variability due to changes in trends of losses for outstanding claims and incurred but not reported claims, 
including external factors such as the number, and cost of, claims, benefit level changes and claim settlement patterns. 

Warrants

As of December 31, 2021, there were warrants outstanding to acquire 19,999,967 shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock including: (i) 
6,666,666 Private Placement Warrants and (ii) 13,333,301 warrants issued in connection with the IPO (the “Public Warrants” and, together with the 
Private Placement Warrants, the “Warrants”). The Warrants entitle the registered holder to purchase one share of our Class A Common Stock at a price of 
$11.50 per share, subject to certain adjustments.

 
The Warrants became exercisable on November 16, 2018, 30 days following the completion of the Business Combination, and expire five years 

after that date, or earlier upon redemption or liquidation. The Company may redeem the outstanding Warrants at a price of $0.01 per warrant, if the last sale 
price of its Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share for any 20 trading days within a 30 trading-day period ending on the third business 
day before it sends the notice of redemption to the Warrant holders. The Private Placement Warrants, however, are nonredeemable so long as they are held 
by Gores Sponsor II, LLC or its permitted transferees.

 
The Company accounts for warrants as either equity-classified or liability-classified instruments based on an assessment of the warrant’s specific 

terms and applicable authoritative guidance under FASB ASC 480, 

76



 
Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity (“ASC 480”) and ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”). The assessment considers whether the warrants 
are freestanding financial instruments pursuant to ASC 480, meet the definition of a liability pursuant to ASC 480, and whether the warrants meet all of the 
requirements for equity classification under ASC 815, including whether the warrants are indexed to the Company’s own common shares, among other 
conditions for equity classification. 

  
For warrants that meet all of the criteria for equity classification, the warrants are required to be recorded as a component of additional paid-in 

capital at the time of issuance. For warrants that do not meet all the criteria for equity classification, the warrants are required to be recorded at their initial 
fair value on the date of issuance, and each balance sheet date thereafter. Changes in the estimated fair value of the warrants are recognized as a non-cash 
gain or loss on the statements of operations. The Company’s Public Warrants meet the criteria for equity classification and accordingly, are reported as a 
component of shareholders’ equity while the Company’s Private Placement Warrants do not meet the criteria for equity classification because the holder of 
the instrument is not an input into the pricing of a fixed-for-fixed option on equity shares and are instead classified as a liability. The fair value of the 
Private Placement Warrants is estimated at period-end using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. Shares issuable under the Warrants were considered for 
inclusion in the diluted share count in accordance with GAAP. As the shares issuable under the Warrants are issuable shares when exercised by the holders, 
they are included when computing diluted income (loss) per share, if such exercise is dilutive to income (loss) per share.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement, includes a single definition of fair value to be used for financial reporting purposes, provides a framework 

for applying this definition and for measuring fair value under GAAP, and establishes a fair value hierarchy that categorizes into three levels the inputs to 
valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are summarized as follows:

Level 1 – Fair value is based on observable inputs such as quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2 – Fair value is determined using quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or 
liabilities in markets that are not active or inputs other than quoted prices that are directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 – Fair value is determined using one or more significant inputs that are unobservable in active markets at the measurement date, such as a 
pricing model, discounted cash flow, or similar technique.

The carrying amounts reported in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets for cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses and 
the PPP Loan approximate fair value due to the immediate to short-term maturity of these financial instruments. The estimated fair value of the Company’s 
long term debt was calculated based upon available market information. The carrying value and the estimated fair value are as follows:

 
    Level in   December 31, 2021     December 31, 2020  
    Fair Value   Carrying     Estimated     Carrying     Estimated  

($ in thousands)   Hierarchy   Amount     Fair Value     Amount     Fair Value  
2021 Term Loan   2   $ 871,467     $ 895,125     $ —     $ —  
Senior Notes   2     344,918       355,250       —       —  
2018 Term Loan   2     —       —       842,045       861,314  
Revolver   2     24,435       25,000       —       —  
 

The fair value of the private placement warrant liabilities is measured on a recurring basis and is estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model using significant unobservable inputs, primarily related to estimated volatility, and is therefore classified within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
The key assumptions used were as follows:
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    December 31, 2021     December 31, 2020  
Stock price   $ 15.43     $ 13.42  
Strike price   $ 11.50     $ 11.50  
Volatility     48.0 %     44.0 %
Remaining life (in years)     1.8       2.8  
Risk-free interest rate     0.66 %     0.16 %
Expected dividend yield     0.0 %     0.0 %
Estimated fair value   $ 5.77     $ 4.63  

 
The Company is exposed to valuation risk on its Level 3 financial instruments. The risk of exposure is estimated using a sensitivity analysis of 

potential changes in the significant unobservable inputs, primarily the volatility input that is the most susceptible to valuation risk. A 5% increase to the 
volatility input at December 31, 2021 would increase the estimated fair value by $0.30 per unit. A 5% decrease to the volatility input at December 31, 2021 
would decrease the estimate fair value by $0.30 per unit. The following summarizes the changes in the private placement warrant liabilities included in net 
income (loss) for the respective periods:

 
($ in thousands)   December 31, 2021     December 31, 2020  
Beginning balance   $ 30,866     $ 29,733  
Change in fair value of private placement warrants     7,600       1,133  
Ending balance   $ 38,466     $ 30,866  

 
The Company's equity investment is measured at cost of $3.7 million and only adjusted to fair value if there are identified events that would indicate 

a need for upward or downward adjustment or changes in circumstances that may indicate impairment. The estimation of fair value requires the use of 
significant unobservable inputs, such as voting rights and obligations in the securities held, and is therefore classified within level 3 of the fair value 
hierarchy.

 
The fair value of contingent consideration payable in connection with the NuPark acquisition is classified within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 

The valuation of the contingent consideration was measured using a discounted cash flow model. The significant unobservable inputs used in the 
measurement of consideration relate to forecasts of annualized revenue developed by the Company.  

Asset Retirement Obligation

The Company records obligations to perform certain retirement activities on camera and speed enforcement systems in the period that the related 
assets are placed in service. Asset retirement obligations are contractual obligations to restore property to its initial state. These obligations, which are 
initially estimated based on discounted cash flow estimates, are accreted to full value over time through charges to operating expenses in the consolidated 
statements of operations. The associated asset retirement obligation is capitalized as part of the related asset’s carrying value and is depreciated over the 
asset’s estimated remaining useful life. When events and circumstances indicate that the original estimates used for asset retirement obligations may need 
revision, the Company reassesses the assumptions used and adjusts the liability appropriately.

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs consist of the costs incurred to obtain long-term financing, including the Company’s credit facilities (See Note 9). These 
costs, which are a reduction to long-term debt on the consolidated balance sheets, are amortized over the term of the related debt, using the effective 
interest method for term debt and the straight-line method for revolving credit facilities. Amortization of deferred financing costs for fiscal years 2021, 
2020 and 2019 was $5.2 million, $5.4 million, and $6.6 million respectively. 

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method. This approach requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and 
liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of differences between the 
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tax basis of assets or liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets generally represent items that can be used as a tax 
deduction or credit in tax returns in future years, while deferred tax liabilities generally represent items that generate a future tax liability for items where 
deductions have been accelerated for tax purposes. The Company provides a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that 
some portion or all of the tax assets will not be realized. The Company calculates the valuation allowance in accordance with the authoritative guidance 
relating to income taxes, which requires an assessment of both positive and negative evidence regarding the realizability of these deferred tax assets when 
measuring the need for a valuation allowance. Significant judgment is required in determining any valuation allowance against deferred tax assets. The 
realization of deferred tax assets can be affected by, among other things, the nature, frequency, and severity of current and cumulative losses, forecasts of 
future profitability, the length of statutory carryforward periods, our experience with utilizing operating losses and tax credit carryforwards by jurisdiction, 
the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences and tax planning alternatives and strategies that may be available.

The Company’s effective tax rate is based on income, statutory tax rates, differences in the deductibility of certain expenses and inclusion of certain 
income items between financial statement and tax return purposes, and tax planning opportunities available to it in the various jurisdictions in which it 
operates. Under GAAP, if the Company determines that a tax position is more likely than not of being sustained upon audit, based solely on the technical 
merits of the position, the Company recognizes the benefit. Tax code and regulations require certain items to be included in the tax return at different times
than when those items are required to be recorded in the consolidated financial statements. As a result, the effective tax rate reflected in its consolidated 
financial statements is different from that reported in its tax returns. Some of these differences are permanent, such as meals and entertainment expenses 
that are not fully deductible on the Company’s tax returns, and some are temporary differences, such as depreciation expense. Temporary differences create 
deferred tax assets and liabilities.

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to the underpayment of income taxes as a component of income tax provision or 
benefit.

Stock-based Compensation
In October 2018, the Company established the Verra Mobility 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2018 Plan”) which provides for a variety of stock-

based awards for issuance to employees and directors. The Company grants restricted stock units (“RSUs”), stock options and performance share units 
(“PSUs”).

The Company recognizes the fair value of RSUs based on the Company’s common stock price at market close on the date of the grant. The 
Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options, and uses the Monte Carlo simulation model to 
determine the fair value of PSUs containing market conditions. The Black-Scholes model requires an assumption regarding the expected life of the stock
option, which the Company estimated to be 6.25 years by applying the short-cut method permitted under SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 110. The 
expected term of PSUs granted was three years, which matches the awards’ performance period. RSUs and stock options vest based on the continued 
service of the recipient. PSUs are issued upon continued service along with the relative satisfaction of a market condition that measures the Company’s 
total stockholder return relative to a comparably calculated return for a peer group during the performance period. In addition, the Black-Scholes and the 
Monte Carlo models require assumptions to be made regarding the expected volatility of the Company’s stock price. Stock price volatility is determined by 
averaging an implied volatility with a measure of historical volatility. Stock options granted in 2021 had a weighted average expected volatility of 47.7% 
and a weighted average risk-free rate of 0.94%. The weighted average expected volatility of PSUs granted in 2021 was 50.4% and the weighted average 
risk-free rate used was 0.33%. Stock options granted in 2020 had a weighted average expected volatility of 34.5% and a weighted average risk-free rate of 
0.73%. The expected volatility of PSUs granted in 2020 was 34.0% and the risk-free rate used was 0.61%. The Company did not have stock options or PSU 
grants in 2019.

 
Stock-based compensation expense for share-based awards is determined based on the grant date fair value. The Company recognizes these 

compensation costs on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award, which is generally the vesting term of the share-based award. The 
compensation expense for the PSUs is recognized over the requisite service period regardless of whether the market condition is satisfied. Forfeitures are 
accounted for as they occur. See Note 14, Equity Incentive Plan, for more information on the Company’s share-based awards. 
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Revenue Recognition and Deferred Revenue

Nature of Goods and Services

The following is a description of principal activities – separated by reportable segments – from which the Company generates revenue:

Commercial Services.    The Commercial Services segment offers toll and violation management solutions for the commercial fleet and rental car 
industries. The Company determined its performance obligation is a distinct stand-ready obligation, as there is an unspecified quantity of services provided 
that does not diminish, and the customer is being charged only when it uses the Company’s services, such as toll payment, title and registration, etc. 
Payment terms for contracts with commercial fleet and rental car companies vary, but are usually billed as services are performed. 

Government Solutions.    The Government Solutions segment principally generates revenue by providing complete, end-to-end speed, red-light, 
school bus stop arm, and bus lane enforcement solutions. Products, when sold, are typically sold together with the services in a bundle for a majority of 
customers. The average initial term of a contract is 3 to 5 years. Payment terms for contracts with government agencies vary depending on whether the 
consideration is fixed or variable. Payment terms for contracts with fixed consideration are usually based on equal installments over the duration of the 
contract. Payment terms for contracts with variable consideration are usually billed and collected as citations are issued or paid. In instances when the 
consideration expected from the customer is subject to variation, any variable consideration affecting revenue recognition is allocated to the distinct period 
(the monthly period) that it relates to. 

For bundled packages, the Company accounts for individual products and services separately if they are distinct – i.e., if a product or service is 
separately identifiable from other items in the bundle and if a customer can benefit from it as a stand-alone item. The consideration is allocated between 
separate products and services in a bundle based on their stand-alone selling prices (“SSP”). The Company estimates the SSP for its services based upon 
observable evidence, market conditions and other relevant inputs. If products are sold without the related services, no allocation is required.

• Product sales (sale of camera systems and installation) – the Company recognizes revenue when the installation process is completed and the 
camera system is ready to perform the services as expected by the customer. Generally, this occurs at site acceptance or first citation. The 
Company recognizes revenue for the sale of the camera system and installation services at a point in time. 

• Service revenue – the Company has determined its performance obligation is to provide a complete end-to-end safety and enforcement 
solution. Promises include providing a system to capture images, processing images taken by the camera, forwarding eligible images to the 
police department and processing payments on behalf of the municipality. The Company has determined that certain of the promises to its 
customers are capable of being distinct as they are capable of providing some measure of benefit to the customer either on their own or 
together with other resources that are readily available to the customer. However, the Company has determined the promises to its customers 
do not meet the criterion of being distinct within the context of its contracts. The Company would not be able to fulfill its promises 
individually as its customers could not obtain the intended benefit from the contract without the Company fulfilling all promises. 
Accordingly, the Company concluded that each contract represents one service offering and is a single performance obligation to the 
customer. Further, the Company accounts for all the services as a single continuous service. The Company applied the series guidance for 
those services as it stands ready to deliver those services over the contract period. The Company recognizes revenue from services over time, 
as they are performed.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2021, the Company had approximately $0.3 million and $8.9 million of deferred revenue in the Government 
Solutions segment. Deferred revenue represents amounts that have been invoiced in advance which are expected to be recognized as revenue in future 
periods. The majority of the remaining performance obligations as of December 31, 2021 are expected to be completed and recognized in 2022 and $3.2 
million is expected to be recognized ratably between 2023 through 2027. 

Parking Solutions.   The newly acquired T2 Systems business offers an integrated suite of parking software and hardware solutions to its customers. 
Revenue since the date of acquisition was derived primarily from the sale of software as a service (“SaaS”) and specialized hardware. For bundled 
packages, the Company accounts for individual products and services separately if they are distinct and allocate the transaction price based on the relative 
SSP. 
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• Revenue derived from the Company’s SaaS products is recognized ratably over the contractual service period beginning on the date the 
service is made available to the customer.

• Revenue from hardware product sales is recognized at a point in time when ownership is transferred to the customer.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had approximately $20.9 million of deferred revenue which represents amounts that have been invoiced in 
advance to the Parking Solutions customers and are expected to be recognized as revenue in 2022.

Significant Judgments
Significant judgment is required in order to identify contracts with customers and estimate transaction prices. Additional judgments are required for 

identifying the performance obligations and determining whether the services provided are able to be distinct, determining the transaction price as it relates 
to the different variable consideration structures identified in our contracts, the estimation of the SSP and the allocation of the transaction price by relative 
SSPs. Assumptions regarding timing of when control transfers to the customer also requires significant judgment in order to recognize revenue.

Credit Card Rebates

The Company earns volume rebates from total spend on purchasing cards and recognizes the income in other income, net in the consolidated 
statements of operations. For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded $11.3 million, $8.5 million, and $11.8 
million respectively, related to rebates.

Advertising Costs
The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising costs for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, were $0.7 

million, $0.8 million and $2.3 million, respectively and were included in selling, general, and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of 
operations. 

Foreign Currency

Certain assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that differ from their functional currencies are re-measured at the exchange rate on 
the balance sheet date. The foreign currency effect of the re-measurement is included in other income, net in the consolidated statements of operations. The 
impact of foreign currency re-measurement was (losses) gains of $(0.2) million, $0.4 million and $(0.6) million for the fiscal years ended December 31, 
2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The assets and liabilities of our foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar are translated into U.S. dollars at current 
exchange rates while revenue and expenses are translated from functional currencies at average monthly exchange rates. The resulting translation 
adjustments are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income in stockholders’ equity.  

Acquisitions
The Company applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The Company allocates the fair value of the purchase price 

consideration to assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. The excess of the purchase consideration over the fair value of 
the identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The Company includes the results of operations of businesses acquired from the date of the 
respective acquisition. Any transaction costs associated with acquisitions are expensed as incurred.

Measurement period adjustments to preliminary purchase price allocations are recognized in the period in which they are determined, with the effect 
on earnings of any changes in depreciation, amortization or other income resulting from such changes calculated as if the accounting had been completed at 
the acquisition date. If applicable, we estimate the fair value of contingent consideration payments in determining the purchase price. Contingent 
consideration is adjusted to fair value in subsequent periods as an increase or decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses. 
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The determination and allocation of fair values to the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed is based on various assumptions and 
valuation methodologies requiring considerable management judgment, and includes the use of independent valuation specialists to assist the Company in 
estimating fair values of acquired tangible and intangible assets. Although the Company believes that the assumptions applied in the determination are 
reasonable based on information available at the date of acquisition, actual results may differ from estimates.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Accounting Standards Adopted
 

In August 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2018-13, (Topic 820) 
Disclosure Framework—Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement. The amendments in this update modify the disclosure 
requirements for fair value measurements in Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement. The amendments on changes in unrealized gains and losses, the range and 
weighted average of significant unobservable inputs used to develop Level 3 fair value measurements, and the narrative description of measurement 
uncertainty should be applied prospectively for only the most recent interim or annual period presented in the initial fiscal year of adoption. All other
amendments should be applied retrospectively to all periods presented upon their effective date. The Company adopted this standard during the first quarter 
of 2021 and provided relevant disclosures for the private placement warrant liabilities, which are a Level 3 measurement that fall within the scope of the 
standard. See Fair Value of Financial Instruments section above.

 
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. The ASU removes 

specific exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740 in GAAP including the exception to the incremental approach for intra-period tax allocation, 
exceptions to accounting for basis differences when there are ownership changes in foreign investments, and the exception in interim period income tax 
accounting for year-to-date losses that exceed anticipated losses. The ASU also simplifies current guidance in relation to franchise taxes that are partially 
based on income, transactions with a government that result in a step-up in tax basis of goodwill, separate financial statements of legal entities that are not 
subject to tax, and enacted changes in tax laws in interim periods. The Company adopted the ASU as of January 1, 2021, which did not have a material 
impact on the Company’s financial statements or related disclosures.

 
In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging— 

Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity. This ASU simplifies 
accounting for convertible instruments by removing major separation models required under current GAAP. Consequently, more convertible debt 
instruments will be reported as a single liability instrument and more convertible preferred stock as a single equity instrument with no separate accounting 
for embedded conversion features. The ASU removes certain settlement conditions that are required for equity contracts to qualify for the derivative scope 
exception, which will permit more equity contracts to qualify for it. The ASU also simplifies the diluted earnings per share calculation in certain areas. The 
Company early adopted this standard as of January 1, 2021, which did not have an impact on the Company’s financial statements and related disclosures, as 
the Company had no instruments subject to the standard. If the Company were to issue instruments subject to the standard in the future, such guidance as 
early adopted by the Company would apply.

 
In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from 

Contracts with Customers, which requires entities to apply Topic 606 to recognize and measure contract assets and contract liabilities in a business 
combination. The amendments improve comparability after the business combination by providing consistent recognition and measurement guidance for 
revenue contracts with customers acquired in a business combination and revenue contracts with customers not acquired in a business combination. The 
amendments are effective for fiscal years, including interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2022. The Company early 
adopted the ASU during the fourth quarter of 2021 on a retrospective basis for all acquisitions completed in 2021 which did not have a material impact. As 
a result, it did not measure its deferred revenue at fair value for business combinations completed in fiscal year 2021. See Note 3. Acquisitions for 
additional information.
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Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted 

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on 
Financial Reporting. The ASU provides temporary optional guidance to ease the potential burden in accounting for reference rate reform. It provides 
optional expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to contract modifications, subject to meeting certain criteria, that reference LIBOR or another 
reference rate expected to be discontinued. In January 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-01, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Scope, which clarifies 
that certain optional expedients and exceptions in Topic 848 for contract modifications and hedge accounting apply to derivatives that are affected by the 
discounting transition. The amendments are effective as of March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022, to help stakeholders during the global market-wide 
reference rate transition period. 

Under the terms of the 2021 Term Loan discussed below, in the event there is a benchmark transition away from LIBOR, a benchmark replacement 
rate has been defined in the 2021 Term Loan along with the mechanism for such a transition to take place. The Company does not anticipate this transition 
will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In May 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-04, Earnings Per Share (Topic 260), Debt—Modifications and Extinguishments (Subtopic 470-50), 
Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718), and Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Issuer’s Accounting 
for Certain Modifications or Exchanges of Freestanding Equity-Classified Written Call Options. This ASU provides guidance for a modification or an 
exchange of a freestanding equity-classified written call option that is not within the scope of another topic. It specifically addresses the measurement and 
recognition of the effect of a modification of the terms or conditions or an exchange of a freestanding equity-classified written call option if it remains 
equity-classified after the modification or exchange. The amendments are effective for all entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021,
including interim periods within those fiscal years. An entity should apply the amendments prospectively to modifications or exchanges occurring on or 
after the effective date of the amendments. Early adoption is permitted. The impact of the implementation of this guidance is still being determined by the 
Company.

In November 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-10, Government Assistance (Topic 832): Disclosures by Business Entities about Government 
Assistance, to increase transparency in financial reporting by requiring business entities to disclose information about certain types of government 
assistance they receive. The amendments require annual disclosures regarding the nature of any transactions with a government accounted for by applying a 
grant or contribution accounting model by analogy and the related accounting policy used, the effect of the assistance on the entity’s financial statements, 
and the significant terms and conditions of the transactions. The ASU is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2021, and early 
application is permitted. The impact of the implementation of this guidance is still being determined by the Company.

3. Acquisitions

Redflex Acquisition 
 

On June 17, 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of Redflex, a public company limited by shares, incorporated in Australia and formerly 
listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. Redflex is a provider of intelligent traffic management products and services that are sold and managed in the 
Asia Pacific, North America, Europe, and Middle East regions. Redflex designs, manufactures, and operates a wide range of platform-based solutions, 
utilizing advanced sensor and image capture technologies that enable active management of state and local motorways. The Company has included the 
financial results of Redflex in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.
 

Pursuant to the Scheme Implementation Agreement (the “Agreement”) entered into by the Company and Redflex on January 21, 2021, as amended 
by the Deed of Amendment and Consent, dated April 30, 2021, VM Consolidated, Inc., an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, purchased 
one hundred percent of the outstanding equity of Redflex at A$0.96 per share at consideration of A$152.5 million, or approximately US$117.9 million. 
Transaction costs for Redflex were $9.7 million which primarily related to professional fees and other 
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expenses related to the acquisition, and were included within the selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. 
 

The allocation of the preliminary purchase consideration is summarized as follows:
  

($ in thousands)  
Reported At


June 30, 2021    
Measurement Period 


Adjustments    
At


December 31, 2021  
Assets acquired                  

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 8,760     $ —     $ 8,760  
Restricted cash     2,163       —       2,163  
Accounts receivable     6,870       —       6,870  
Unbilled receivables     7,744       (2,461 )     5,283  
Property and equipment     27,541       2,268       29,809  
Deferred tax assets     9,192       1,123       10,315  
Other assets     13,729       5,518       19,247  
Trademark     900       —       900  
Customer relationships     23,500       2,400       25,900  
Developed technology     18,200       —       18,200  

Total assets acquired     118,599       8,848       127,447  
                    
Liabilities assumed                  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities     30,137       1,799       31,936  
Deferred revenue     1,772       6,276       8,048  
Long-term debt     14,014       —       14,014  
Other long-term liabilities     9,948       1,788       11,736  

Total liabilities assumed     55,871       9,863       65,734  
Goodwill     55,199       1,015       56,214  
Total purchase consideration   $ 117,927     $ —     $ 117,927  
  

The Company recorded measurement period adjustments from the initial purchase price allocation presented as of June 30, 2021, to reflect new 
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the Redflex acquisition date. There was no material impact to the statement of 
operations as a result of these adjustments. 

 
As of December 31, 2021, the evaluation of historical Redflex tax positions and the impact on assumed uncertain tax positions and other tax 

attributes is preliminary and the Company expects to finalize it as soon as practicable, but not later than one year from the acquisition date.
 
Goodwill consists largely of the expected cash flows and future growth anticipated for the Company and was assigned to the Company’s 

Government Solutions segment. Management has determined that the Redflex international operations represent a new reporting unit for the purposes of 
assessing potential impairment of goodwill, and as a result of the acquisition, the Government Solutions segment has two reporting units. The goodwill is 
not expected to be deductible for tax purposes. The customer relationships value was based on the multi-period excess earnings methodology utilizing 
projected cash flows. The significant assumptions used to value customer relationships included, among others, customer churn rates, forecasted revenue 
growth rates attributable to existing customers, forecasted EBITDA margins and the discount rate. The values for the trademark and the developed 
technology related assets were based on a relief-from-royalty method. The significant assumptions used to value these intangible assets included, among 
others, forecasted revenue growth rates, royalty rates and the expected obsolescence curve. The trademark, customer relationships and the developed 
technology related assets were assigned useful lives of 5.0 years, 10.0 years, and 8.7 years, respectively.

 
T2 Systems Acquisition
 

On December 7, 2021, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of T2 Systems Parent Corporation (“T2 Systems”), which offers an 
integrated suite of parking software and hardware solutions to its customers. This acquisition supports our strategy to expand and diversify into new 
markets within the mobility sector. The Company 
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has included the financial results of T2 Systems in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition, and reported within the newly created 
Parking Solutions segment. 

 
The Company paid a purchase price of $353.2 million. Transaction costs for T2 Systems were $2.7 million which primarily related to professional 

fees and other expenses related to the acquisition, and were included within the selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements 
of operations. 
 

The allocation of the preliminary purchase consideration is summarized as follows:
 
($ in thousands)      
Assets acquired      

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 13,866  
Restricted cash     228  
Accounts receivable     9,673  
Unbilled receivables     2,153  
Inventory     7,467  
Property and equipment     3,336  
Prepaid and other assets     7,477  
Trademark     3,200  
Customer relationships     164,300  
Developed technology     19,300  

Total assets acquired     231,000  
        
Liabilities assumed      

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities     10,379  
Deferred revenue     21,253  
Deferred tax liability     37,129  
Other liabilities     4,228  

Total liabilities assumed     72,989  
Goodwill     195,226  
Total assets acquired and liabilities assumed   $ 353,237  
 

Goodwill consists largely of the expected cash flows and future growth anticipated for the Company and was assigned to the Company’s Parking 
Solutions segment. The goodwill is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes. The preliminary customer relationships value was based on the multi-
period excess earnings methodology utilizing projected cash flows. The significant assumptions used to value customer relationships included, among 
others, customer upsell and churn rates, forecasted revenue growth rates attributable to existing customers, forecasted EBITDA margins and the discount 
rate. The preliminary values for the trademark and the developed technology related assets were based on a relief-from-royalty method. The significant 
assumptions used to value these intangible assets included, among others, forecasted revenue growth rates, royalty rates and the expected obsolescence 
curve. The trademark, customer relationships and the developed technology related assets were assigned preliminary useful lives of 10.0 years, 10.0 years, 
and 6.1 years, respectively.

 
As of December 31, 2021, the valuation of assets acquired and liabilities assumed is preliminary. The primary areas that remain preliminary relate to 

the fair values of unbilled receivables, intangible assets acquired, deferred revenue, legal and other contingencies as of the acquisition date, income and 
non-income based taxes and residual goodwill. The Company expects to finalize the valuation as soon as practicable, but not later than one year from the 
acquisition date.

 
NuPark Acquisition

 
On December 13, 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of NuPark (“NuPark”), a provider of parking services and permit management 

which expanded the Company's presence in the United States in the Parking Solutions segment. The acquisition date fair value of the consideration 
transferred to NuPark was approximately $7.0 million, which consisted primarily of $5.0 million of cash paid at closing and $1.5 million of contingent 
consideration payable. The Company recorded $0.3 million of tangible assets, $4.9 million of customer relationships intangible 
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assets valued using a multi-period excess earnings methodology, with a preliminary estimated useful life of 10.0 years, and $1.3 million of assumed 
liabilities which was primarily deferred revenue. Goodwill recorded was $3.2 million for future growth anticipated for the Company and is expected to be 
deductible for tax purposes. The fair values assigned to tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed were preliminary estimates and the 
Company expects to finalize the valuation as soon as practicable, but not later than one year from the acquisition date. The Company has included the 
financial results of NuPark in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition, which were not material. The transaction costs for the 
acquisition were not material.
 
Pro Forma Financial Information (Unaudited)
 

The pro forma information below gives effect to the Redflex and T2 systems acquisitions as if they had been completed on the first day of each 
period presented. Pro forma information for NuPark was not provided as it was not material. The pro forma results of operations are presented for 
information purposes only. As such, they are not necessarily indicative of the Company’s results had the Redflex and T2 systems acquisitions been 
completed on the first day of each period presented, nor do they intend to represent the Company’s future results. The pro forma information does not 
reflect any cost savings from operating efficiencies or synergies that could result from the acquisitions and does not reflect additional revenue opportunities 
following the acquisition of Redflex and T2 Systems. The pro forma information includes adjustments to record the assets and liabilities associated with the 
Redflex and T2 Systems acquisitions at their respective preliminary fair values and to give effect to the financing of the acquisitions.
  

    For the Year Ended December 31,  
($ in thousands)   2021     2020  
Revenue   $ 650,567     $ 530,807  
Net income (loss)     30,099       (58,695 )
  

The pro forma results primarily include adjustments related to amortization of intangibles, depreciation expense, interest expense and related debt 
extinguishment costs from the debt refinancing transactions and exclusion of acquisition-related costs and certain capitalized costs related to operating 
leases and developed technology.

 
 

4. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following at December 31:
 
($ in thousands)   2021     2020  
Prepaid services   $ 8,643     $ 2,989  
Prepaid tolls     7,539       9,237  
Deposits     6,742       3,474  
Prepaid insurance     4,293       2,641  
Prepaid computer maintenance     3,742       2,732  
Prepaid income taxes     5,324       2,354  
Costs to fulfill a customer contract     3,364       —  
Other     1,809       777  
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets   $ 41,456     $ 24,204  
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5. Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net, consists of the following at December 31:
 
($ in thousands)   2021     2020  
Equipment installed at customer sites   $ 112,770     $ 79,039  
Software     24,207       19,202  
Leasehold improvements     9,255       9,938  
Computer equipment     14,215       10,974  
Furniture     2,662       2,079  
Automobiles     4,761       2,899  
Construction in progress     12,169       6,717  
Property and equipment     180,039       130,848  
Less: accumulated depreciation     (83,973 )     (60,564 )
Property and equipment, net   $ 96,066     $ 70,284  

Depreciation expense was $26.8 million, $23.1 million and $22.8 million for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively, including depreciation related to costs to develop or implement software for internal use of $4.4 million, $4.3 million and $3.8 million for the 
fiscal years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

6. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The following table presents the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by reportable segment:

 
    Commercial     Government     Parking        

($ in thousands)   Services     Solutions     Solutions     Total  
Balance at December 31, 2019   $ 424,404     $ 159,746     $ —     $ 584,150  
Foreign currency translation adjustment     2,285       —       —       2,285  
Balance at December 31, 2020     426,689       159,746       —       586,435  
Acquisition of Redflex     —       56,214       —       56,214  
Acquisition of T2 Systems     —       —       195,226       195,226  
Acquisition of NuPark     —       —       3,160       3,160  
Foreign currency translation adjustment     (1,608 )     (560 )     —       (2,168 )
Balance at December 31, 2021   $ 425,081     $ 215,400     $ 198,386     $ 838,867  

 
Intangible assets consist of the following as of the respective period-ends:
 

    Weighted   Weighted   At December 31, 2021  
    Average   Average   Gross        
    Remaining   Amortization   Carrying     Accumulated  
($ in thousands)   Useful Life   Period   Amount     Amortization  
Trademarks   0.5 years   3.7 years   $ 36,225     $ 31,429  
Non-compete agreements   1.0 years   5.0 years     62,555       49,982  
Customer relationships   6.5 years   9.3 years     561,767       167,255  
Developed technology   2.2 years   5.8 years     202,768       127,350  
Gross carrying value of intangible assets             863,315     $ 376,016  
Less: accumulated amortization             (376,016 )      
Intangible assets, net           $ 487,299        
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    Weighted   Weighted   At December 31, 2020  
    Average   Average   Gross        
    Remaining   Amortization   Carrying     Accumulated  

($ in thousands)   Useful Life   Period   Amount     Amortization  
Trademarks   0.3 years   3.0 years   $ 32,223     $ 29,358  
Non-compete agreements   2.0 years   5.0 years     62,589       37,412  
Customer relationships   5.9 years   8.9 years     367,512       123,784  
Developed technology   2.3 years   5.5 years     166,217       95,848  
Gross carrying value of intangible assets             628,541     $ 286,402  
Less: accumulated amortization             (286,402 )      
Intangible assets, net           $ 342,139        

 
Amortization expense was $89.9 million, $93.5 million and $92.8 million for fiscal years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
 
Estimated amortization expense in future years is expected to be:

 
($ in thousands)      
2022   $ 106,360  
2023     77,609  
2024     67,117  
2025     64,419  
2026     57,617  
Thereafter     114,177  
Total   $ 487,299  

 
 

7. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consist of the following at December 31:
 
($ in thousands)   2021     2020  
Accrued salaries and wages   $ 15,744     $ 4,432  
Current portion of operating lease liabilities     5,760       3,179  
Accrued interest payable     4,209       170  
Restricted cash due to customers     3,062       633  
Advanced deposits payable     2,554       2,922  
Income taxes payable     1,517       419  
Payroll liabilities     1,876       1,755  
Other     3,713       1,377  
Total accrued liabilities   $ 38,435     $ 14,887  
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8. Asset Retirement Obligation 

The following summarizes the changes in the Company’s asset retirement obligation for the years ended December 31:
 

             
($ in thousands)   2021     2020  
Asset retirement obligation, beginning balance   $ 6,409     $ 6,309  
Liabilities incurred     5,210       133  
Accretion expense     308       259  
Liabilities settled     (103 )     (292 )
Asset retirement obligation, ending balance   $ 11,824     $ 6,409  
 

(a) This includes $3.9 million of asset retirement obligations assumed as part of the Redflex acquisition, and a $1.2 million increase resulting from a 
change in estimate for the impact of inflation. 

9. Long-term Debt

The following table provides a summary of the Company’s long-term debt at December 31:
 
($ in thousands)   2021     2020  
2021 Term Loan, due 2028   $ 895,125     $ —  
Senior Notes, due 2029     350,000       —  
PPP Loan     2,933       —  
2018 Term Loan     —       865,642  
Revolver     25,000       —  
Less: original issue discounts     (6,753 )     (3,952 )
Less: unamortized deferred financing costs     (22,551 )     (19,645 )
Total long-term debt     1,243,754       842,045  
Less: current portion of long-term debt     (36,952 )     (9,104 )
Total long-term debt, net of current portion   $ 1,206,802     $ 832,941  

 
The following table presents the aggregate principal and interest payments in future years on long-term debt as of December 31, 2021:

 
($ in thousands)   Principal     Interest  
2022   $ 34,019     $ 51,859  
2023     9,019       51,508  
2024     9,019       51,266  
2025     9,019       50,849  
2026     9,019       50,519  
Thereafter     1,200,030       82,296  
Total   $ 1,270,125     $ 338,297  

(1) This excludes $2.9 million principal related to the PPP Loan that is expected to be forgiven, as discussed below. 

(2) The variable interest rates in effect as of December 31, 2021, was used to calculate interest payments for the 2021 Term Loan and the Revolver 
borrowings.
 
2021 Term Loan and Senior Notes
 

In March 2021, VM Consolidated, Inc., the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, entered into an Amendment and Restatement Agreement No.1 to 
the First Lien Term Loan Credit Agreement (the “2021 Term Loan”) with a syndicate of lenders. The 2021 Term Loan has an aggregate borrowing of $650 
million, maturing on March 26, 2028, and an accordion feature providing for an additional $250 million of term loans, subject to satisfaction of certain 
requirements. In connection with the 2021 Term Loan, the Company had an offering discount cost of $3.3 million and 
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$0.7 million of deferred financing costs, both of which were capitalized and are amortized over the remaining life of the 2021 Term Loan.

 
In addition, in March 2021, VM Consolidated, Inc. issued an aggregate principal amount of $350 million in Senior Unsecured Notes (the “Senior 

Notes”), due on April 15, 2029. In connection with the issuance of the Senior Notes, the Company incurred $5.7 million in lender and third-party costs, 
which were capitalized as deferred financing costs and are being amortized over the remaining life of the Senior Notes.

 
The net proceeds from both the 2021 Term Loan and the Senior Notes received in March 2021 were used to repay in full all outstanding debt which 

was represented by the First Lien Term Loan Credit Agreement (as amended, the “2018 Term Loan”) with a balance of $865.6 million. 
 

On December 7, 2021, VM Consolidated Inc, entered into an agreement to exercise the accordion feature under the 2021 Term Loan, borrowing 
$250 million in incremental term loans (“Incremental Term Loan”). The proceeds from the Incremental Term Loan were used, along with cash on hand, to 
fund the acquisition of T2 Systems, including repaying in full all outstanding debt for T2 Systems. In connection with the Incremental Term Loan, the 
Company had an offering discount cost of $1.3 million and $3.8 million of deferred financing costs, both of which were capitalized and are amortized over 
the remaining life of the 2021 Term Loan. The Incremental Term Loan accrued interest from the date of borrowing until December 31, 2021, at which time, 
it was combined with the 2021 Term Loan to be a single tranche of term loan borrowings. The total principal outstanding under the 2021 Term Loan, which 
includes the Incremental Term Loan, was $895.1 million at December 31, 2021.

 
The 2021 Term Loan is repayable at 1.0% per annum of the amount initially borrowed, paid in quarterly installments. It bears interest based, at the 

Company’s option, on either (1) LIBOR plus an applicable margin of 3.25% per annum, or (2) an alternate base rate plus an applicable margin of 2.25% per 
annum. As of December 31, 2021, the interest rate on the 2021 Term Loan was 3.6%.

In addition, the 2021 Term Loan requires mandatory prepayments equal to the product of the excess cash flows of the Company (as defined in the 
2021 Term Loan agreement) and the applicable prepayment percentages (calculated as of the last day of the fiscal year, beginning with the year ending 
December 31, 2022), as set forth in the following table:

Consolidated First Lien Net Leverage Ratio (As Defined by the 2021 Term Loan Agreement)  

Applicable

Prepayment

Percentage

> 3.70:1.00   50%
< 3.70:1.00 and > 3.20:1.00   25%

< 3.20:1.00   0%
 
Interest on the Senior Notes is fixed at 5.50% per annum and is payable on April 15 and October 15 of each year (beginning on October 15, 2021). 

On or after April 15, 2024, the Company may redeem all or a portion of the Senior Notes at the redemption prices set forth below in percentages by year, 
plus accrued and unpaid interest:
  

Year    Percentage
2024    102.750%
2025    101.375%

2026 and thereafter    100.000%
 
In addition, the Company may redeem up to 40% of the Senior Notes before April 15, 2024, with the net cash proceeds from certain equity 

offerings.
 
The Company evaluated the March 2021 refinancing transactions on a lender-by-lender basis and accounted for the portion of the transaction that 

did not meet the accounting criteria for debt extinguishment as a debt modification. Accordingly, the Company recognized a loss on extinguishment of debt 
of $5.3 million on the 2018 Term Loan during the year ended December 31, 2021, consisting of a $4.0 million write-off of pre-existing deferred financing 
costs and discounts and $1.3 million of lender and third-party costs associated with the issuance of the new 2021 Term Loan.
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PPP Loan
 

During fiscal year 2020, Redflex received a loan from the U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”) as part of the Paycheck Protection Program 
(“PPP Loan”) to offset certain employment and other allowable costs incurred as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. At December 31, 2021, the loan 
amount outstanding was $2.9 million and is payable within a year, and is included in the current portion of long-term debt. In early 2021, Redflex applied 
for forgiveness of this loan and, as of December 31, 2021, was still awaiting approval from the SBA.
 
The Revolver
 

The Company has a Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Revolver”) with a commitment of up to $75 million available for loans and letters of credit. 
The Revolver matures on December 20, 2026. Borrowing eligibility under the Revolver is subject to a monthly borrowing base calculation based on (i) 
certain percentages of eligible accounts receivable and inventory, less (ii) certain reserve items, including outstanding letters of credit and other reserves. 
The Revolver bears interest on either (1) LIBOR plus an applicable margin, or (2) an alternate base rate, plus an applicable margin. The margin percentage 
applied to (1) LIBOR is either 1.25%, 1.50%, or 1.75%, or (2) the base rate is either 0.25%, 0.50%, or 0.75%, depending on the Company’s average 
availability to borrow under the commitment. At December 31, 2021, the Company had $25.0 million in outstanding borrowings on the Revolver, which 
was repaid in full in January 2022.
 

Interest on the unused portion of the Revolver is payable quarterly at 0.375% and the Company is also required to pay participation and fronting fees 
at 1.38% on $6.2 million of outstanding letters of credit as of December 31, 2021.

 
All borrowings and other extensions of credits under the 2021 Term Loan, Senior Notes and the Revolver are subject to the satisfaction of customary 

conditions and restrictive covenants including absence of defaults and accuracy in material respects of representations and warranties. At December 31, 
2021, the Company was compliant with all debt covenants. Substantially all of the Company’s assets are pledged as collateral to secure the Company’s 
indebtedness under the 2021 Term Loan and the Revolver. 
 
Interest Expense
 

The Company recorded interest expense, including amortization of deferred financing costs and discounts, of $44.9 million, $40.9 million and $60.7 
million for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 respectively.
 

The weighted average effective interest rates on the Company’s outstanding borrowings were 4.1% and 3.4% at December 31, 2021 and December 
31, 2020, respectively.
 

10. Leases

The Company’s operating leases primarily consist of office and equipment leases expiring at various dates through April 2035. The Company has 
lease agreements with lease and non-lease components and has elected to account for such components as a single lease component. The Company 
recognizes and measures contracts containing a lease and determines lease classification at commencement. Right of use operating assets and lease 
liabilities are measured based on the estimated present value of lease payments over the lease term. In determining the present value of lease payments, the 
Company used its estimated incremental borrowing rate when the rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined. The estimated incremental 
borrowing rate is based upon information available at lease commencement including publicly available data for debt instruments. The lease term includes 
periods covered by options to extend when it is reasonably certain the Company will exercise such options as well as periods subsequent to an option to 
terminate the lease if it is reasonably certain the Company will not exercise the termination option. Certain of the lease agreements have rent abatement and 
escalating rental payment provisions. Operating lease costs are recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease costs are recognized as 
incurred. The Company’s lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or 
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material restrictive covenants. The Company does not have material short-term leases and does not engage in subleasing activities.

As of December 31, 2021, operating leases have a remaining weighted average lease term of 9.5 years and operating lease liabilities were measured 
using a weighted average discount rate of 4.9%. The total operating lease costs for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 were $7.5 
million, $5.3 million and $5.7 million, respectively. Variable lease costs for fiscal years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 were approximately $1.4 
million and $1.1 million, respectively. Finance leases for the Company are immaterial.

The following is a summary of the operating lease liabilities as of December 31:
 

($ in thousands)   2021     2020  
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion   $ 34,984     $ 27,986  
Current portion     5,760       3,179  
Total operating lease liabilities   $ 40,744     $ 31,165  

 
The following provides future maturities of operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2021:
 

($ in thousands)      
2022   $ 7,361  
2023     6,731  
2024     6,264  
2025     4,794  
2026     4,324  
Thereafter     23,498  
Total minimum payments     52,972  
Less: amount representing interest     (12,228 )
Total   $ 40,744  

 

11. Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic net income (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average shares outstanding during the period, without 
consideration of common stock equivalents. Diluted net income (loss) per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average shares outstanding for the 
dilutive effect of common stock equivalents outstanding for the period, determined using the treasury-stock method.
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The components of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share are as follows:
 

    For the Year Ended December 31,  
(In thousands, except per share data)   2021     2020     2019  
Numerator:                  

Net income (loss)   $ 41,449     $ (4,578 )   $ 17,076  
Denominator:                  

Weighted average shares - basic     159,983       161,632       157,890  
Common stock equivalents     3,795       —       2,190  
Weighted average shares - diluted     163,778       161,632       160,080  

Net income (loss) per share - basic   $ 0.26     $ (0.03 )   $ 0.11  
Net income (loss) per share - diluted   $ 0.25     $ (0.03 )   $ 0.11  
Antidilutive shares excluded from diluted net income (loss) per share:                  

Contingently issuable shares     5,000       5,000       7,500  
Public warrants     —       13,333       —  
Private placement warrants     6,667       6,667       6,667  
Non-qualified stock options     1,018       614       —  
Performance share units     130       106       —  
Restricted stock units     432       2,203       3,004  

Total antidilutive shares excluded     13,247       27,923       17,171  

(1)  Contingently issuable shares relate to the earn-out agreement as discussed in Note 16, Related Party Transactions.

12. Income Taxes

In December 2019, COVID-19 emerged and spread throughout the world causing severe disruption to the global economy. In March 2020, the 
Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) was signed into law after COVID-19 was declared a pandemic. There were several 
income tax provisions and other non-tax matters incorporated into law as a result of the enactment of the CARES Act. The Company applied certain 
articles of the CARES Act in the income tax provision, including the increased interest deduction allowed up to 50 percent of adjusted taxable income for 
tax years 2019 and 2020. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company deducted an additional $4.7 million in interest expense in the 2019 federal 
income tax return as a result of the increased adjusted taxable income limitation. In addition, the Company elected to delay the employer-side of the FICA 
payments until 2021 as provided under the CARES Act, which were paid on September 15, 2021.

Income before income taxes consisted of:

    For the Year Ended December 31,    
($ in thousands)   2021     2020     2019    
U.S.   $ 77,101     $ 6,429     $ 33,655    
Foreign     (9,200 )     (5,576 )     (2,998 )  

Total income before incomes taxes   $ 67,901     $ 853     $ 30,657    
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The income tax provision consisted of the following items:
 

    For the Year Ended December 31,  
($ in thousands)   2021     2020     2019  
Current                  
Federal   $ 25,361     $ 4,169     $ 16,901  
State     10,523       5,399       7,316  
Foreign     160       652       673  

Total current     36,044       10,220       24,890  
Deferred                  
Federal     (7,434 )     (1,308 )     (8,542 )
State     (1,627 )     (2,615 )     (2,092 )
Foreign     (531 )     (866 )     (675 )

Total deferred     (9,592 )     (4,789 )     (11,309 )
Income tax provision   $ 26,452     $ 5,431     $ 13,581  

 
A reconciliation to the income tax provision from the amounts computed by applying the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate is as follows:

    For the Year Ended December 31,  
($ in thousands)   2021     2020     2019  
Income tax provision at statutory rate   $ 14,259     $ 179     $ 6,438  
State income taxes, net of federal income tax effect     6,748       1,188       2,360  
Tax rate changes/ valuation of deferred tax items     586       1,353       998  
162(m) limitation     1,325       1,179       1,289  
Non-deductible expenses     174       1,786       450  
Stock-based compensation     (752 )     (38 )     (716 )
Unrecognized tax benefits     174       (929 )     (741 )
Tax impact for change in fair value of warrants     1,596       237       3,416  
Change in valuation allowance     1,435       924       317  
Non-deductible transaction costs     1,078       19       270  
Research and development credits     (125 )     (121 )     (232 )
Other     (46 )     (346 )     (268 )
Total income tax provision   $ 26,452     $ 5,431     $ 13,581  
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred income tax assets and liabilities consist of the following at December 31:

 
($ in thousands)   2021     2020  
Deferred tax assets:            
Accrued expenses and other   $ 7,334     $ 1,027  
Allowance for credit losses     4,927       4,838  
Net operating loss carryforward     18,193       3,626  
Interest expense limitation carryforward     5,935       1,070  
Federal and state income tax credits     5,295       1,132  
ASC 842 operating lease liabilities     9,578       8,679  
Transaction costs     446       319  
Other     1,042       1,210  

Gross deferred tax assets     52,750       21,901  
Valuation allowance     (3,785 )     (3,422 )

Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance     48,965       18,479  
Deferred tax liabilities:            
Intangible assets and transaction costs     (62,116 )     (16,358 )
Property and equipment     (13,562 )     (10,285 )
Financing costs     (3,077 )     (3,730 )
Prepaid assets     (1,235 )     (957 )
ASC 842 operating lease assets     (9,104 )     (8,297 )
481(a) adjustment, net     (857 )     —  

Gross deferred tax liabilities     (89,951 )     (39,627 )
Total deferred tax liabilities, net   $ (40,986 )   $ (21,148 )

 
In accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes, deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion 

or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The realization of deferred tax assets can be affected by, among other things, the nature, frequency and 
severity of current and cumulative losses, forecasts of future profitability, the length of statutory carryforward periods, the Company’s experience with 
utilizing operating losses and tax credit carryforwards by jurisdiction, and tax planning alternatives and strategies that may be available. 

The Company performed an analysis of the reversal of the deferred tax assets and considered the overall business environment, historical earnings 
and the outlook for future years. The Company determined that it is more likely than not that the benefit from certain state and foreign net operating loss 
carryforwards will not be realized as of the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, and as such provided a valuation allowance of $3.8 million and $3.4 
million, respectively. The valuation allowance could be adjusted in future periods if estimates of future taxable income during the carryforward period are 
increased or if objective negative evidence in the form of cumulative losses is no longer present.

The net operating loss carryforwards represent $158.7 million and $31.1 million of federal, state and foreign net operating losses at December 31, 
2021 and 2020, respectively. The federal net operating loss carryforward at December 31, 2021 consists of $12.1 million of losses that were generated prior 
to 2018 and will expire by 2036 if not previously utilized and $26.0 million of losses that were generated after 2017 with no expiration date. The Company 
also has certain tax credits of $6.4 million and $1.5 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, which if unused will begin to expire in 2025.
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The following table summarizes the activity related to the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31:
 

($ in thousands)   2021     2020  
Balance at the beginning of the year   $ 953     $ 1,735  
Increases/(decreases) related to current year tax positions     447       126  
Increases/(decreases) related to prior year tax positions     1,478       299  
Expiration due to statute of limitations     —       (1,207 )

Balance at the end of the year   $ 2,878     $ 953  

 
Included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2021 were $1.7 million of tax benefits that, if recognized, would impact the 

effective tax rate. The Company does not expect its unrecognized tax benefits to change significantly over the next 12 months.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. The Company recognized less than $0.1 
million for fiscal year 2021 and $1.0 million for fiscal year 2020, in interest and penalties. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had accrued 
interest and penalties of less than $0.1 million at the end of both periods. The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions by recognizing the financial 
statement effects of a tax position only when, based on technical merits, it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained under examination.

The Company is subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service and taxing authorities in various states. The Company files U.S. federal and 
various foreign income tax returns which are subject to examination by the taxing authorities in the respective jurisdictions, generally for three or four years 
after they are filed. The Company’s state income tax returns are generally no longer subject to income tax examination by tax authorities prior to 2017; 
however, the Company’s net operating loss carryforwards and research credit carryforwards arising prior to that year are subject to adjustment. The 
Company is currently under audit by various state tax jurisdictions for the years 2018 and 2019, however, no material adjustments are anticipated. The 
Company regularly assesses the likelihood of tax deficiencies in each of the tax jurisdictions and, accordingly, makes appropriate adjustments to the tax 
provision as deemed necessary.

13. Stockholders’ Equity 

The Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation authorizes the issuance of 261,000,000 shares of capital stock, consisting of (i) 
260,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock, and (ii) 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock, each at par value of $0.0001 per share. The outstanding shares 
of the Company’s common stock are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable. 

The Company authorized a share repurchase program during the third quarter of 2021 as discussed below in Note 16, Related Party Transactions. 
 

14. Equity Incentive Plan
In October 2018, the Company established the Verra Mobility 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2018 Plan”) which provides for a variety of stock-

based awards including restricted stock units (“RSUs”), performance share units (“PSUs”) and non-qualified stock options to employees and non-employee 
directors. The maximum number of shares of the Company’s common stock that may be subject to awards under the 2018 Plan was 10,864,000 as of 
December 31, 2021, subject to adjustment in accordance with the terms of the 2018 Plan. At December 31, 2021, the Company had an aggregate of 
4,809,837 shares of common stock available for future grants under the 2018 Plan.
 
RSUs and PSUs
 

The Company’s RSUs consist of a right to receive shares on one or more vesting dates in the future. RSUs granted to employees vest ratably over 
four years from their individual award dates, subject to continued employment on the applicable vesting dates. RSUs granted to non-employee directors 
vest on the earlier of (a) the first anniversary of the vesting start date, or (b) the date immediately prior to the next annual stockholders meeting held by the 
Company occurring after the date of grant.
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The Company grants PSUs to senior executives which consist of a right to receive shares at the end of a three-year period. PSUs are issued upon 

continued service along with the relative satisfaction of a market condition that measures the Company’s total stockholder return relative to a comparably 
calculated return for a peer group during the performance period. The level at which the performance condition is attained upon the completion of the 
performance period determines the actual number of shares of the Class A Common Stock into which the PSUs will be converted. The conversion 
percentage ranges from 0% up to 150% of the target level.

 
The following table summarizes the activity of the Company’s RSUs and PSUs:

 
    RSUs     PSUs  

   
Shares


(in thousands)    

Weighted Average

Grant Date


Fair Value    
Shares


(in thousands)    

Weighted Average

Grant Date


Fair Value  
Balance at December 31, 2018     4,437     $ 10.13       —     $ —  
Granted     400     $ 11.32       —     $ —  
Vested     (953 )   $ 10.13       —     $ —  
Forfeited     (880 )   $ 10.17       —     $ —  
Balance at December 31, 2019     3,004     $ 10.28       —     $ —  
Granted     576     $ 12.12       116     $ 13.88  
Vested     (986 )   $ 10.35       —     $ —  
Forfeited     (391 )   $ 10.74       (10 )   $ 13.88  
Balance at December 31, 2020     2,203     $ 10.64       106     $ 13.88  
Granted     736     $ 14.12       154     $ 16.28  
Vested     (1,018 )   $ 10.41       —     $ —  
Forfeited     (229 )   $ 13.40       (31 )   $ 16.97  
Balance at December 31, 2021     1,692     $ 11.92       229     $ 15.07  

 
The fair value of RSUs vested during fiscal years 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $10.6 million, $10.2 million and $9.7 million, respectively. There were 

no PSUs that vested to date. As of December 31, 2021, we had $15.6 million and $2.0 million of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related 
to unvested RSUs and PSUs, respectively, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.0 years. 

Stock Options
 

During fiscal years 2020 and 2021, the Company granted stock options that vest ratably over four years from their individual award dates, subject to 
continued employment on the applicable vesting dates, with a contractual term of ten years. The Company did not grant stock options during fiscal year 
2019. The following table summarizes the activity of the Company’s stock options:

 
    Stock Options Outstanding  

   
Shares


(in thousands)    

Weighted Average

Exercise Price 


Per Share    

Weighted Average 
Remaining Contractual 

Term  

Aggregate 

Intrinsic Value 


($ in thousands)  
Balance at December 31, 2019     —       —            
Granted     720     $ 12.56            
Exercised     —       —            
Forfeited     (106 )   $ 12.56            
Balance at December 31, 2020     614     $ 12.56            
Granted     731     $ 13.95            
Exercised     (12 )   $ 12.62         $ 36  
Forfeited     (170 )   $ 14.29            
Balance at December 31, 2021     1,163     $ 13.18     8.7 years   $ 2,636  
                       
Exercisable at December 31, 2021     141     $ 12.55     8.2 years   $ 407  
Unvested and expected to vest at December 31, 2021     1,022     $ 13.26     8.8 years   $ 2,229  
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The weighted average fair value of options granted in fiscal year 2020 and 2021 was $4.36 and $6.47, respectively. There were 141,218 stock 
options that vested in fiscal year 2021 with a total fair value of $0.6 million. There were no stock options that vested in fiscal year 2020. The Company 
received approximately $0.2 million related to stock options exercised during fiscal year 2021. As of December 31, 2021, we had $4.4 million of 
unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested stock options which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 
2.8 years.
 

The following details the components of stock-based compensation for the respective periods:
 
    For the Year Ended December 31,  
($ in thousands)   2021     2020     2019  
Operating expenses   $ 815     $ 837     $ 819  
Selling, general and administrative expenses     12,969       11,752       9,193  
Total stock-based compensation expense   $ 13,784     $ 12,589     $ 10,012  

 
Tax benefits attributable to stock-based compensation represented approximately $4.6 million, $2.9 million and $3.4 million, before limitations 

under section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code, during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
 

15. Employee Benefit Plan
The Company has a 401(k) plan that covers U.S. employees who meet certain eligibility requirements. Covered employees may elect to have a 

portion of their compensation withheld up to the statutory limit. The 401(k) plan includes a company match that vests immediately. The Company made 
employer contributions of $1.9 million, $1.7 million and $1.7 million during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The Company also makes superannuation contributions for eligible non-U.S. based employees in accordance with the employer contribution rate set 
by the applicable country. The expense related to these contributions was $1.1 million during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

16. Related Party Transactions

Tax Receivable Agreement
At the closing of the Business Combination, the Company entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement (“Tax Receivable Agreement”) with PE 

Greenlight Holdings, LLC (the “Platinum Stockholder”). The Tax Receivable Agreement generally provides for the payment to the Platinum Stockholder 
of 50% of the net cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state and local income tax that the Company actually realizes (or is deemed to realize in certain 
circumstances) in periods after the closing of the Business Combination as a result of the increased tax basis of certain acquired intangibles prior to the 
Business Combination. The Company generally retains the benefit of the remaining 50% of these cash savings. The Company estimated the potential 
maximum benefit to be paid will be approximately $70.0 million, and recorded an initial liability and corresponding charge to equity at the closing of the 
Business Combination. Subsequently, the Company made adjustments to this amount. 

At December 31, 2021, the Tax Receivable Agreement liability was approximately $61.7 million of which $5.1 million was the current portion and 
$56.6 million was the non-current portion, both of which are included in the respective payable to the related party pursuant to tax receivable agreement 
line items on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company made a $4.8 million payment during the first quarter of 2021 and a $5.1 million payment 
during the fourth quarter of 2021 related to tax years 2019 and 2020, respectively.
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The Company recorded a $1.0 million tax benefit in fiscal year 2021, a $6.8 million tax expense in fiscal year 2020 and a $0.1 million tax benefit in 
fiscal year 2019. The Tax Receivable Agreement liability adjustment in 2021 is a result of lower estimated state tax rates due to changes in apportionment, 
whereas in 2020 it is a result of higher state tax rates due to changes in apportionment.

Earn-Out Agreement

Under the Merger Agreement, the Platinum Stockholder is entitled to receive additional shares of Class A Common Stock (the “Earn-Out Shares”) 
if the volume weighted average closing sale price of one share of Class A Common Stock on the Nasdaq exceeds certain thresholds for a period of at least 
10 days out of 20 consecutive trading days at any time during the five-year period following the closing of the Business Combination (the “Common Stock 
Price”).

The Earn-Out Shares are issued by the Company to the Platinum Stockholder as follows:
  

Common Stock Price Thresholds   One-time Issuance of Shares
> $13.00   2,500,000
> $15.50   2,500,000
> $18.00   2,500,000
> $20.50   2,500,000

 
(a) The first and second tranches of Earn-Out Shares have been issued, as discussed below.

 
If any of the Common Stock Price thresholds above (each, a “Triggering Event”) are not achieved within the five-year period following the closing 

of the Business Combination, the Company will not be required to issue the Earn-Out Shares in respect of such Common Stock Price threshold. In no event 
shall the Platinum Stockholder be entitled to receive more than an aggregate of 10,000,000 Earn-Out Shares.

If, during the earn-out period, there is a change of control (as defined in the Merger Agreement) that will result in the holders of our Class A 
Common Stock receiving a per share price equal to or in excess of the applicable Common Stock Price required in connection with any Triggering Event 
(an “Acceleration Event”), then immediately prior to the consummation of such change of control: (a) any such Triggering Event that has not previously 
occurred shall be deemed to have occurred; and (b) the Company shall issue the applicable Earn-Out Shares to the cash consideration stockholders (as 
defined in the Merger Agreement) (in accordance with their respective pro rata cash share), and the recipients of the issued Earn-Out Shares shall be 
eligible to participate in such change of control.

 
The Company estimated the original fair value of the contingently issuable shares to be $73.15 million, of which $36.6 million remains contingently 

issuable as of December 31, 2021. The estimated value is not subject to future revisions during the five-year period discussed above. The Company used a 
Monte Carlo simulation option-pricing model to arrive at its original estimate. Each tranche was valued separately giving specific consideration to the 
tranche’s price target. The simulation considered volatility and risk-free rates utilizing a peer group based on a five-year term. This was initially recorded as 
a distribution to shareholders and was presented as common stock contingent consideration. Upon the occurrence of a Triggering Event, any issuable shares 
are transferred from common stock contingent consideration to common stock and additional paid-in capital accounts. Any contingently issuable shares not 
issued as a result of a Triggering Event not being attained by the end of earn-out period will be canceled.
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On April 26, 2019 and on January 27, 2020, the Triggering Events for the issuance of the first and second tranches of Earn-Out Shares occurred, as 

the volume weighted average closing sale price per share of the Company’s Class A Common Stock as of that date had been greater than $13.00 and 
$15.50, respectively, for 10 out of 20 consecutive trading days. These Triggering Events resulted in the issuance of an aggregate 5,000,000 shares of the 
Company’s Class A Common Stock to the Platinum Stockholder and an increase in the Company’s common stock and additional paid-in capital accounts 
of $36.6 million, with a corresponding decrease to the common stock contingent consideration account. At December 31, 2021, the potential future shares 
issuable pursuant to the earn-out are between zero and 5.0 million.

Platinum Stockholder Secondary Offering

On August 20, 2021, the Platinum Stockholder sold 8,000,000 shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock in a secondary offering. On August 
25, 2021, the underwriters of the secondary offering fully exercised the overallotment option granted at the time of the secondary offering to purchase an 
additional 1,200,000 shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock at the secondary offering price of $14.75 per share, less underwriting discounts and 
commissions, from the Platinum Stockholder. The Company received no proceeds from the secondary offering or the exercise of the overallotment option. 
The Company incurred $0.4 million in expenses related to the secondary offering consisting of professional services fees which were included in the 
selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. Specifically, pursuant to the Amended and Restated Registration 
Rights Agreement dated as of October 17, 2018, the Company was required to pay, among other things, all registration and filing fees, reasonable fees and 
expenses of legal counsel for the Platinum Stockholder, and road show and marketing expenses. After giving effect to the secondary offering, the exercise 
of the overallotment option and the sale of additional shares in connection with the Company's repurchase program (discussed below), the Platinum 
Stockholder held approximately 5.1% of the Company’s outstanding Class A Common Stock.

Share Repurchase and Retirement

On August 9, 2021, the Company announced that its Board authorized a share repurchase program for up to an aggregate amount of $100 million of 
its outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock. On August 20, 2021, the Company repurchased and retired 6,849,315 shares of its Class A Common 
Stock from the Platinum Stockholder at a price per share of $14.60, which was equal to the price at which the underwriter exercised the overallotment 
option for the secondary offering discussed above. The Company paid $100 million to fund the share repurchase using existing cash on hand. The 
Company accounted for the share repurchase and retirement under the cost method by deducting its par value from the common stock account, reducing 
$72.0 million in the additional paid-in-capital account using the share price when the stock was originally issued, and the remaining excess cost of $28.0 
million by increasing the accumulated deficit account.

Go Safe Investment

Redflex Irish Investments Pty Ltd, a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of the Company, owns a 16% non-voting equity interest in Road Safety 
Operations Holdings Unlimited, which has a subsidiary, Road Safety Operations Holdings T/A Go Safe Ireland ("Go Safe"), who provides speed and traffic 
enforcement services and related equipment to its customers in Ireland. This investment was approximately $3.7 million as of December 31, 2021, and is 
presented within other non-current assets on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company is engaged as a vendor to supply equipment and services to Go 
Safe and related revenues earned were approximately $0.5 million and dividend income was $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2021.

17. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company has issued various letters of credit under contractual arrangements with certain of its domestic vendors and customers. Outstanding 
letters of credit under these arrangements totaled $6.2 million and $6.3 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. In addition, the Company has 
$1.8 million of bank guarantees at December 31, 2021 required to support bids and contracts with certain international customers.
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The Company has non-cancelable purchase commitments to certain vendors. The aggregate non-cancelable purchase commitments outstanding at 
December 31, 2021 were $36.5 million. The majority of these outstanding commitments are expected to be incurred in 2022 and approximately $2.0 
million expected to be incurred in 2024. 

The Company is subject to tax audits in the normal course of business and does not have material contingencies recorded related to such audits.

The Company accrues for claims and contingencies when losses become probable and reasonably estimable. As of the end of each applicable 
reporting period, the Company reviews each of its matters and, where it is probable that a liability has been or will be incurred, the Company accrues for all 
probable and reasonably estimable losses. Where the Company can reasonably estimate a range of loss it may incur regarding such a matter, the Company 
records an accrual for the amount within the range that constitutes its best estimate. If the Company can reasonably estimate a range but no amount within 
the range appears to be a better estimate than any other, the Company uses the amount that is the low end of such range. 

Legal Proceedings

The Company is subject to legal and regulatory actions that arise from time to time in the ordinary course of business. The Company records a 
liability when it believes it is probable a loss will be incurred, and the amount of loss or range of loss can be reasonably estimated. The assessment as to 
whether a loss is probable, reasonably possible or remote, and as to whether a loss or a range of such loss is estimable, often involves significant judgment 
about future events. The Company has determined that resolution of pending matters is not probable to have a material adverse impact on its consolidated 
results of operations, cash flows, or financial position, and accordingly, no material contingency accruals are recorded. However, the outcome of litigation 
is inherently uncertain. As additional information becomes available, the Company reassesses the potential liability.
 

Brantley v. City of Gretna is a class action lawsuit filed in the 24th Judicial District Court of Jefferson Parish, Louisiana against the City of Gretna 
(“City”) and its safety camera vendor, Redflex Traffic Systems, Inc. in April 2016. The plaintiff class, which was certified on March 30, 2021, alleges that 
the City’s safety camera program was implemented and operated in violation of local ordinances and the state constitution, including that the City’s hearing 
process violated the plaintiffs’ due process rights for lack of a “neutral” arbiter of liability for traffic infractions. Plaintiffs seek recovery of traffic infraction 
fines paid. The City and Redflex Traffic Systems, Inc. have  appealed the trial court’s ruling granting class certification, which remains pending. Based on 
the information available to the Company at present, it cannot reasonably estimate a range of loss for this action and, accordingly, it has not accrued any 
liability associated with this action.
 
HTA Settlement Agreement
 

During the third quarter of 2020, we entered into a Settlement and Release Agreement with the former owners of Highway Toll Administration, 
LLC (the “HTA Settlement Agreement”) related to certain terms in dispute for which the Company sought indemnification. In connection with the HTA 
Settlement Agreement, the Company recognized a $1.4 million gain for the distribution of escrow funds and a $1.4 million gain for the receipt of additional 
proceeds from a third-party insurance carrier related to this matter, both of which were included in other income, net on the consolidated statements of 
operations for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.
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18. Segment Reporting

The Company has three operating and reportable segments, Commercial Services, Government Solutions and Parking Solutions. Commercial 
Services offers toll and violation management solutions and title and registration services to commercial fleet vehicle owners, rental car companies and 
violation-issuing authorities. Government Solutions implements and administers traffic safety programs and products for municipalities and local 
government agencies of all sizes. As a result of the acquisition of T2 Systems completed in December 2021, the Company added a new reportable segment 
determined based on the type of products and services offered. T2 Systems provides an integrated suite of parking software and hardware solutions to its 
customers. The Company’s Chief Operating Decision Maker function (“CODM”) is comprised of the Company’s CEO and certain defined representatives 
of the Company’s executive management team. The Company’s CODM monitors operating performance, allocates resources and deploys capital based on 
these three segments. 

Segment performance is based on revenues and income from operations before depreciation, amortization, gain (loss) on disposal of assets, net, 
impairment of property and equipment, and stock-based compensation. The measure also excludes interest expense, net, income taxes and certain other 
transactions and is inclusive of other income, net. The tables below refer to this measure as segment profit (loss). The aforementioned items are not 
indicative of operating performance, and, as a result are not included in the measures that are reviewed by the CODM for the segments. Other income, net 
consists primarily of credit card rebates earned on the prepayment of tolling transactions and is therefore included in segment profit (loss). 

The Company allocates certain corporate expenses to the three segments using several different factors depending on the item being allocated. These 
factors range from specific identification to headcount-based to allocate proportionately between the three segments. The corporate and other columns 
below include items that are not included in segment profit (loss), plus transaction expenses and other items designated by the CODM as corporate 
initiatives.

The Company does not disaggregate assets by segment other than equipment installed at customer sites and automobiles, which had carrying values 
of $61.8 million and $2.7 million, respectively, at December 31, 2021 and carrying values of $42.4 million and $1.8 million, respectively, at December 31, 
2020 all of which relate solely to the Government Solutions segment. Refer to Note 6, Goodwill and Intangible Assets for goodwill balances by segment.
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The following tables set forth financial information by segment for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019:

    For the Year Ended December 31, 2021  
    Commercial     Government     Parking     Corporate        
($ in thousands)   Services     Solutions     Solutions     and Other     Total  
Service revenue   $ 260,899     $ 227,992     $ 3,955     $ —     $ 492,846  
Product sales     —       55,163       2,581       —       57,744  
Total revenue     260,899       283,155       6,536       —       550,590  

Cost of service revenue     3,183       1,500       654       —       5,337  
Cost of product sales     —       28,381       1,428       —       29,809  
Operating expenses     65,718       96,284       553       —       162,555  
Selling, general and administrative expenses     42,873       52,380       1,488       13,697       110,438  
Other income, net     (10,837 )     (2,040 )     (18 )     —       (12,895 )
Segment profit (loss)   $ 159,962     $ 106,650     $ 2,431     $ (13,697 )   $ 255,346  

Segment profit (loss)   $ 159,962     $ 106,650     $ 2,431     $ (13,697 )   $ 255,346  
Depreciation and amortization     —       —       —       116,753       116,753  
Loss on disposal of assets, net     —       48       —       —       48  
Change in fair value of private placement warrants     —       —       —       7,600       7,600  
Tax receivable agreement liability adjustment     —       —       —       (1,016 )     (1,016 )
Stock-based compensation     —       —       —       13,784       13,784  
Loss on extinguishment of debt     —       —       —       5,334       5,334  
Interest expense, net     —       —       —       44,942       44,942  
Income (loss) before income taxes   $ 159,962     $ 106,602     $ 2,431     $ (201,094 )   $ 67,901  

 

    For the Year Ended December 31, 2020  
    Commercial     Government     Corporate        
($ in thousands)   Services     Solutions     and Other     Total  
Service revenue   $ 180,856     $ 155,418     $ —     $ 336,274  
Product sales     —       57,319       —       57,319  
Total revenue     180,856       212,737       —       393,593  

Cost of service revenue     2,562       1,405       —       3,967  
Cost of product sales     —       29,573       —       29,573  
Operating expenses     52,505       62,387       —       114,892  
Selling, general and administrative expenses     40,978       34,465       2,469       77,912  
Other income, net     (11,774 )     (111 )     —       (11,885 )
Segment profit (loss)   $ 96,585     $ 85,018     $ (2,469 )   $ 179,134  

Segment profit (loss)   $ 96,585     $ 85,018     $ (2,469 )   $ 179,134  
Depreciation and amortization     —       —       116,570       116,570  
Loss on disposal of assets, net     16       258       —       274  
Change in fair value of private placement warrants     —       —       1,133       1,133  
Tax receivable agreement liability adjustment     —       —       6,850       6,850  
Stock-based compensation     —       —       12,589       12,589  
Interest expense, net     —       —       40,865       40,865  
Income (loss) before income taxes   $ 96,569     $ 84,760     $ (180,476 )   $ 853  
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    For the Year Ended December 31, 2019  
    Commercial     Government     Corporate        
($ in thousands)   Services     Solutions     and Other     Total  
Service revenue   $ 276,479     $ 140,244     $ —     $ 416,723  
Product sales     —       32,014       —       32,014  
Total revenue     276,479       172,258       —       448,737  

Cost of service revenue     3,709       1,852       —       5,561  
Cost of product sales     —       13,919       —       13,919  
Operating expenses     66,916       57,905       —       124,821  
Selling, general and administrative expenses     41,384       32,696       2,220       76,300  
Other income, net     (10,814 )     (278 )     —       (11,092 )
Segment profit (loss)   $ 175,284     $ 66,164     $ (2,220 )   $ 239,228  

Segment profit (loss)   $ 175,284     $ 66,164     $ (2,220 )   $ 239,228  
Depreciation and amortization     —       —       115,566       115,566  
Loss on disposal of assets, net     145       60       —       205  
Change in fair value of private placement warrants     —       —       16,267       16,267  
Impairment of property and equipment     —       5,898       —       5,898  
Tax receivable agreement liability adjustment     —       —       (106 )     (106 )
Stock-based compensation     —       —       10,012       10,012  
Interest expense, net     —       —       60,729       60,729  
Income (loss) before income taxes   $ 175,139     $ 60,206     $ (204,688 )   $ 30,657  

 
The Company primarily operates within the United States, Australia, Canada, United Kingdom and in various other countries in Europe. Revenues 

from international customers for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 were $40.0 million, $13.3 million and $14.5 million, respectively. 
Revenues from Australia, United Kingdom and Canada represented $13.9 million, $16.3 million and $6.9 million, respectively for the year ended 
December 31, 2021. Revenues earned from goods transferred to customers at a point in time were approximately $57.7 million, $57.3 million and $32.0 
million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Property and equipment, net located in foreign countries was $14.8 million as 
of December 31, 2021, of which Canada represented $6.7 million and Australia represented $6.1 million. Property and equipment, net was $4.7 million as 
of December 31, 2020 and it was not material for any individual foreign country in which the Company operated.

19. Guarantor/Non-Guarantor Financial Information (Unaudited)

VM Consolidated, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, is the lead borrower of the 2021 Term Loan, Senior Notes and the Revolver. 
VM Consolidated, Inc. is owned by the Company through a series of holding companies that ultimately end with the Company. VM Consolidated, Inc. is 
wholly owned by Greenlight Acquisition Corporation, which is wholly owned by Greenlight Intermediate Holding Corporation, which is wholly owned by 
Greenlight Holding Corporation, which is wholly owned by Verra Mobility Holdings, LLC, which is wholly owned by Verra Mobility Corporation or the 
Company. The principal elimination entries relate to investments in subsidiaries and intercompany balances and transactions, including transactions with 
the Company’s wholly owned guarantor subsidiaries and non-guarantor subsidiaries.

During fiscal year 2021, the Company completed the acquisitions for Redflex and T2 Systems and as a result the composition of the guarantor and 
non-guarantor subsidiaries has been modified to appropriately include the respective entities. Subsidiaries with foreign operations are generally included in 
the combined non-guarantor subsidiaries column and subsidiaries with domestic operations are included in the combined guarantor subsidiaries column.

The following financial information presents the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2021 and the related consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive income and the consolidated statements of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2021 for the Company, combined 
guarantor subsidiaries and combined non-guarantor subsidiaries:
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Verra Mobility Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets
at December 31, 2021

                               
                               

($ in thousands)  

Verra Mobility

Corporation


(Ultimate Parent)    
Guarantor


Subsidiaries    

Non-

guarantor


Subsidiaries     Eliminations     Consolidated  
Assets                              

Current assets:                              
Cash and cash equivalents   $ —     $ 65,840     $ 35,443     $ —     $ 101,283  
Restricted cash     —       3,149       —       —       3,149  
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for credit losses of $12.1 million)     —       150,181       10,798       —       160,979  
Unbilled receivables     —       24,220       4,889       —       29,109  
Investment in subsidiary     90,705       157,016       —       (247,721 )     —  
Inventory, net     —       1,186       10,907       —       12,093  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     —       31,665       9,791       —       41,456  

Total current assets     90,705       433,257       71,828       (247,721 )     348,069  
Installation and service parts, net     —       13,332       —       —       13,332  
Property and equipment, net     —       81,294       14,772       —       96,066  
Operating lease assets     —       31,754       7,108       —       38,862  
Intangible assets, net     —       367,965       119,334       —       487,299  
Goodwill     —       684,914       153,953       —       838,867  
Due from affiliates     169,259       —       —       (169,259 )     —  
Other non-current assets     —       10,368       4,193       —       14,561  

Total assets   $ 259,964     $ 1,622,884     $ 371,188     $ (416,980 )   $ 1,837,056  
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity                              

Current liabilities:                              
Accounts payable   $ —     $ 48,175     $ 19,381     $ —     $ 67,556  
Deferred revenue     —       17,170       9,971       —       27,141  
Accrued liabilities     —       27,569       10,866       —       38,435  
Payable to related party pursuant to tax receivable agreement, current portion     —       5,107       —       —       5,107  
Current portion of long-term debt     —       36,952       —       —       36,952  

Total current liabilities     —       134,973       40,218       —       175,191  
Long-term debt, net of current portion     —       1,206,802       —       —       1,206,802  
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion     —       29,803       5,181       —       34,984  
Payable to related party pursuant to tax receivable agreement, net of current 
portion     —       56,615       —       —       56,615  
Private placement warrant liabilities     —       38,466       —       —       38,466  
Asset retirement obligation     —       11,799       25       —       11,824  
Due to affiliates     —       26,059       143,200       (169,259 )     —  
Deferred tax liabilities, net     —       22,470       25,054       —       47,524  
Other long-term liabilities     —       5,192       494       —       5,686  

Total liabilities     —       1,532,179       214,172       (169,259 )     1,577,092  
Total stockholders' equity     259,964       90,705       157,016       (247,721 )     259,964  
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity   $ 259,964     $ 1,622,884     $ 371,188     $ (416,980 )   $ 1,837,056  
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Verra Mobility Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income
Year Ended December 31, 2021

 
 

  

($ in thousands)  

Verra Mobility

Corporation


(Ultimate 

Parent)    

Guarantor

Subsidiaries    

Non-

guarantor


Subsidiaries     Eliminations     Consolidated  
Service revenue   $ —     $ 460,421     $ 32,425     $ —     $ 492,846  
Product sales     —       50,096       7,648       —       57,744  

Total revenue     —       510,517       40,073       —       550,590  
Cost of service revenue     —       2,167       3,170       —       5,337  
Cost of product sales     —       26,200       3,609       —       29,809  
Operating expenses     —       141,038       22,332       —       163,370  
Selling, general and administrative expenses     —       111,977       11,430       —       123,407  
Depreciation, amortization and (gain) loss on disposal of assets, net     —       107,881       8,920       —       116,801  

Total costs and expenses     —       389,263       49,461       —       438,724  
Income (loss) from operations     —       121,254       (9,388 )     —       111,866  

Income from equity investment     (41,449 )     8,459       —       32,990       —  
Interest expense, net     —       44,940       2       —       44,942  
Change in fair value of private placement warrants     —       7,600       —       —       7,600  
Tax receivable agreement liability adjustment     —       (1,016 )     —       —       (1,016 )
Loss on extinguishment of debt     —       5,334       —       —       5,334  
Other income, net     —       (11,919 )     (976 )     —       (12,895 )

Total other (income) expenses     (41,449 )     53,398       (974 )     32,990       43,965  
Income (loss) before income taxes     41,449       67,856       (8,414 )     (32,990 )     67,901  
Income tax provision     —       26,407       45       —       26,452  

Net income (loss)   $ 41,449     $ 41,449     $ (8,459 )   $ (32,990 )   $ 41,449  
Other comprehensive loss:                              
Change in foreign currency translation adjustment     —       —       (5,305 )     —       (5,305 )

Total comprehensive income (loss)   $ 41,449     $ 41,449     $ (13,764 )   $ (32,990 )   $ 36,144  
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Verra Mobility Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31, 2021

 

($ in thousands)  

Verra Mobility

Corporation


(Ultimate 
Parent)    

Guarantor

Subsidiaries    

Non-

guarantor


Subsidiaries     Eliminations     Consolidated  
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:                              
Net income (loss)   $ 41,449     $ 41,449     $ (8,459 )   $ (32,990 )   $ 41,449  
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating 
activities:                              

Depreciation and amortization     —       107,833       8,920       —       116,753  
Amortization of deferred financing costs and discounts     —       5,170       —       —       5,170  
Change in fair value of private placement warrants     —       7,600       —       —       7,600  
Tax receivable agreement liability adjustment     —       (1,016 )     —       —       (1,016 )
Loss on extinguishment of debt     —       5,334       —       —       5,334  
Credit loss expense     —       9,454       134       —       9,588  
Deferred income taxes     —       (11,161 )     521       —       (10,640 )
Stock-based compensation     —       13,784       —       —       13,784  
Other     —       308       —       —       308  
Income from equity investment     (41,449 )     8,459       —       32,990       —  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:                              
Accounts receivable, net     —       13,605       1,341       —       14,946  
Unbilled receivables     —       (6,503 )     (1,250 )     —       (7,753 )
Inventory, net     —       4,422       (1,624 )     —       2,798  
Prepaid expenses and other assets     —       (2,226 )     (2,871 )     —       (5,097 )
Deferred revenue     —       (4,761 )     795       —       (3,966 )
Accounts payable and other current liabilities     —       9,039       (743 )     —       8,296  
Due to affiliates     —       (29,913 )     29,913       —       —  
Other liabilities     —       (2,789 )     (1,594 )     —       (4,383 )

Net cash provided by operating activities     —       168,088       25,083       —       193,171  
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:                              

Acquisitions, net of cash and restricted cash acquired     —       (451,237 )     —       —       (451,237 )
Purchases of installation and service parts and property and equipment     —       (21,451 )     (3,547 )     —       (24,998 )
Cash proceeds from the sale of assets     —       265       —       —       265  

Net cash used in investing activities     —       (472,423 )     (3,547 )     —       (475,970 )
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:                              

Borrowings on revolver     —       25,000       —       —       25,000  
Borrowings of long-term debt     —       1,245,500       —       —       1,245,500  
Repayment of long-term debt     —       (884,530 )     —       —       (884,530 )
Payment of debt issuance costs     —       (10,646 )     —       —       (10,646 )
Payment of debt extinguishment costs     —       (1,066 )     —       —       (1,066 )
Share repurchase and retirement     —       (100,000 )     —       —       (100,000 )
Proceeds from exercise of stock options     —       155       —       —       155  
Payment of employee tax withholding related to RSUs vesting     —       (5,691 )     —       —       (5,691 )

Net cash provided by financing activities     —       268,722       —       —       268,722  
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents     —       —       (2,383 )     —       (2,383 )
Net decrease (increase) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash     —       (35,613 )     19,153       —       (16,460 )
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash - beginning of period     —       104,602       16,290       —       120,892  
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash - end of period   $ —     $ 68,989     $ 35,443     $ —     $ 104,432  
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Verra Mobility Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Continued)
Year Ended December 31, 2021

 
 

                               

   

Verra Mobility

Corporation


(Ultimate Parent)    
Guarantor


Subsidiaries    

Non-

guarantor


Subsidiaries     Eliminations     Consolidated  
Supplemental cash flow information:                              

Interest paid   $ —     $ 35,786     $ —     $ —     $ 35,786  
Income taxes paid, net of refunds     —       34,913       861       —       35,774  

Supplemental non-cash investing and financing activities:                              
Additions related to asset retirement obligations, property and equipment, and 
other     —       1,397       —       —       1,397  
Purchases of installation and service parts and property and equipment in 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities at year-end     —       1,714       —       —       1,714  
Contingent consideration related to NuPark acquisition     —       1,450       —       —       1,450  

(a)   Asset retirement obligations of $3.9 million assumed as part of the Redflex acquisition are excluded from these additions.

20.      Subsequent Event

On March 31, 2022, the Company notified its lenders that it was unable to file this Form 10-K within 90 days following the year ended December 
31, 2021, as is required under the 2021 Term Loan, Senior Notes, and the Revolver. While the Company was compliant with all debt covenants at 
December 31, 2021, this late filing created a technical default when the filing requirement was not met; however, this did not result in an Event of Default 
under the 2021 Term Loan, Senior Notes, and the Revolver as this Annual Report on Form 10-K was filed within the 30-day cure period allowed by these 
agreements for late filing of annual financial statements. Refer to Note 9, Long-term Debt for additional details of the Company’s outstanding debt.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
 
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure 
controls and procedures pursuant to Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and 
procedures, our management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable 
assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are 
resource constraints and that our management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to 
their costs.

Based upon their evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer concluded that, 
as of December 31, 2021, due to the material weaknesses described below, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 

15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP and includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that in 
reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded 
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of our management and directors and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of 
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we 
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated 
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, due to the material 
weaknesses described below, management concluded that our system of internal control over financial reporting was not effective.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Material Weakness

We identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021. The first material weakness related to 
the monitoring activities over the acquisition of Redflex Holdings Limited due to the lack of sufficient qualified accounting resources, including those with 
the appropriate level of technical revenue recognition knowledge, to timely identify and assess accounting implications of the revenue arrangements 
assumed as part of the acquisition which resulted in the incorrect application of generally accepted accounting principles, as well as insufficient oversight 
and review of certain related journal entries.

In addition, we identified a material weakness related to control activities over the acquisition of Redflex Holdings Limited due to the lack of 
sufficient qualified accounting resources to provide adequate controls over the 
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completeness and accuracy of inputs used in certain valuation and opening balance sheet adjustments recorded in connection with the business 
combination. 

 
In addition, we determined we had a material weakness related to certain revenue and reporting controls because we did not design and maintain 

effective controls specific to a third-party application. The third-party application was utilized in performing certain control activities and used in the 
preparation of our consolidated financial statements. Specifically, the third-party service organization, Vena Solutions, provided a SOC 1 Type II report that 
was prepared by Vena Solutions personnel who falsely asserted that it had been audited by an independent auditor. We were not made aware of this until 
after December 31, 2021 and were unable to design compensating controls that were contemporaneous with the relevant control activities.
 

The process of implementing an effective financial reporting system is a continuous effort that requires us to anticipate and react to changes in our 
business and the economic and regulatory environments and to expend significant resources to maintain a financial reporting system that is adequate to 
satisfy our reporting obligations. We continue to evaluate and take actions to improve our internal control over financial reporting, which includes but is not 
limited to formalizing a monitoring control of our acquisitions, hiring additional resources to address purchase accounting control deficiencies, and 
implementing additional review procedures within our financial reporting process.

 
To remediate the material weaknesses described above, we have and will continue to hire additional resources with the sufficient technical 

accounting knowledge necessary to timely identify and assess accounting implications due to acquisitions. Additionally, we are implementing a process, 
which includes relevant controls, to independently validate revenue and reporting data used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. The 
material weaknesses will not be considered remediated until the applicable remedial controls operate for a sufficient period of time and management has 
concluded, through testing, that these controls are operating effectively. We expect that the remediation of these material weaknesses will be completed 
prior to the end of 2022.  
 

Notwithstanding the material weaknesses, management has concluded that the financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report present 
fairly, in all material respects, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows in conformity with GAAP.

 
In accordance with guidance issued by the SEC, registrants are permitted to exclude material business combinations from their final assessment of 

internal control over financial reporting for the first fiscal year in which an acquisition occurred. Our management's evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting excluded the internal control activities of Redflex and T2 systems, which we acquired in June and December of 2021, respectively, as 
discussed in Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements. We have included the results of Redflex and T2 Systems in our consolidated financial 
statements from the date of acquisition. Total revenue excluded from our assessment of internal control over financial reporting represented approximately 
8.2% of our consolidated total revenue in 2021. Total assets excluded from our assessment of internal control over financial reporting represented 
approximately 7.4% of our consolidated total assets as of December 31, 2021.


 
 
The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent 

registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included below.



 
Changes in Internal Control over Financing Reporting

In June and December of 2021, we acquired Redflex and T2 Systems, respectively, both of which operated under their own set of systems and 
internal controls. We are working to transition Redflex’s internal control framework in 2022 and T2 Systems will continue to operate under its own set of 
systems and internal controls. 
 

For the quarter ended December 31, 2021, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the 
evaluation required by paragraph (d) of Rule 13a-15 or Rule 15d-15 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal 
control over financial reporting. 
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Subsequent to December 31, 2021 and in connection with the identification of the material weaknesses discussed above, we are taking remediation steps to 
improve our internal control over financial reporting. 

 
Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures

 
In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well 

designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and 
procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible 
controls and procedures relative to their costs.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

Not applicable.
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PART III 
 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with our 2022 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with our 2022 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with our 2022 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with our 2022 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with our 2022 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.
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PART IV 

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K: 

1. Consolidated Financial Statements

The financial statements filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are listed in the “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” 
under Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

2. Financial Statement Schedules 

• Appendix A, Schedule II – Consolidated Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Schedules not listed above are omitted as the required information is inapplicable or the information is presented in the consolidated financial 
statements or notes to the consolidated financial statements under Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

3. Exhibits.

The exhibits listed below are filed as part of this Annual Report. References under the caption “Incorporated by Reference” to exhibits or 
other filings indicate that the exhibit or other filing has been filed, that the indexed exhibit and the exhibit referred to are the same and that 
the exhibit referred to is incorporated by reference. 
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EXHIBIT INDEX

 
        Incorporated by Reference    

Exhibit
Number   Description   Form   File No.   Exhibit   Filing Date  

Filed
Herewith

                         

    2.1   Merger Agreement, dated as of June 21, 2018, by and 
among Gores Holdings II, Inc., AM Merger Sub I, 
Inc., AM Merger Sub II, LLC, Greenlight Holding II 
Corporation and PE Greenlight Holdings, LLC, in its 
capacity as the Stockholder Representative.

  8-K   001-37979   2.1   June 21, 2018    

                         

    2.2   Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Merger, 
dated as of August 23, 2018, by and among Gores 
Holdings II, Inc., AM Merger Sub I, Inc., AM Merger 
Sub II, LLC, Greenlight Holding II Corporation and 
PE Greenlight Holdings, LLC, in its capacity as the 
Stockholder Representative.

  8-K   001-37979   2.2   Aug. 24, 2018    

                         

    2.3   Scheme Implementation Agreement, dated as of 
January 21, 2021, by and between Verra Mobility 
Corporation and Redflex Holdings Limited.

  8-K   001-37979   2.1   Jan. 21, 2021    

                         

    2.4   Deed of Amendment and Consent, dated as of April 
30, 2021, by and between Verra Mobility Corporation 
and Redflex Holdings Limited.

  8-K   001-37979   2.1   April 30, 2021    

                         

    2.5   Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of November
1, 2021, by and between T2 Systems Parent 
Corporation, VM Consolidated, Inc., Project Titan 
Merger Sub, Inc. and Thoma Bravo Discover Fund, 
L.P.

  8-K   001-37979   2.1   Nov. 2, 2021    

                         

    3.1   Second Amended and Restated Certificate of 
Incorporation of Verra Mobility Corporation.

  8-K   001-37979   3.1   Oct. 22, 2018    

                         

    3.2   Amended and Restated Bylaws of Verra Mobility 
Corporation.

  8-K   001-37979   3.2   Oct. 22, 2018    

                         

    4.1   Specimen Class A Common Stock Certificate.   S-1   333-21503   4.2   Dec. 9, 2016    
                         

    4.2   Specimen Warrant Certificate.   S-1   333-21503   4.3   Dec. 9, 2016    
                         

    4.3   Warrant Agreement, dated January 12, 2017, between 
the Registrant and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust 
Company, as warrant agent.

  8-K   001-37979   4.1   Jan. 19, 2017    

                         

 

114

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1682745/000110465918041476/a18-15692_1ex2d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001682745/000104746918005773/a2236552zex-2_2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1682745/000156459021001806/vrrm-ex21_146.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1682745/000156459021022171/vrrm-ex21_27.htm
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    4.4   First Amendment to Warrant Agreement, dated 

January 15, 2020, by and among the Registrant, 
Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company and 
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company.

  10-K   001-37979   4.4   Mar. 2, 2020    

                         

    4.5   Description of Verra Mobility Corporation’s 
Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the 
Exchange Act.

  10-K   001-37979   4.5   Mar. 2, 2020    

                         

    4.6   Indenture, dated as of March 26, 2021, by and among 
VM Consolidated, Inc., the Guarantors party thereto 
and Wilmington Trust, National Association as 
Trustee.

  8-K   001-37979   4.1   Mar. 29, 2021    

                         

    4.7   Form of 5.5% Senior Note Due 2029 (included in 
Exhibit 4.6).

  8-K   001-37979   4.2   Mar. 29, 2021    

                         

  10.1   Form of Indemnity Agreement.   S-1   333-21503   10.7   Dec. 9, 2016    
                         

  10.2   Amended and Restated Registration Rights 
Agreement dated October 17, 2018, by and among 
Verra Mobility Corporation, Gores Sponsor II LLC, 
Randall Bort, William Patton, Jeffrey Rea and the 
stockholders of Greenlight Holding II Corporation.

  8-K   001-37979   10.2   Oct. 22, 2018    

                         

  10.3   Investor Rights Agreement dated October 17, 2018, 
by and among Verra Mobility Corporation and PE 
Greenlight Holdings, LLC.

  8-K   001-37979   10.3   Oct. 22, 2018    

                         

  10.4   Tax Receivable Agreement dated October 17, 2018, 
by and among Verra Mobility Corporation, the 
persons identified as “Stockholders” on Schedule 1 
thereto, and PE Greenlight Holdings, LLC, solely in 
its capacity as the stockholders’ representative 
thereunder.

  8-K   001-37979   10.4   Oct. 22, 2018    

                         

  10.5   Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of March 1, 
2018, among Greenlight Acquisition Corporation, 
ATS Consolidated Inc., each of the other borrowers 
party thereto, the lenders party thereto and Bank of 
America, N.A. as Administrative Agent and 
Collateral Agent.

  8-K   001-37979   10.5   Oct. 22, 2018    
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1682745/000156459021015880/vrrm-ex41_61.htm
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1682745/000156459018024644/vrrm-ex104_937.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1682745/000156459018024644/vrrm-ex105_340.htm


 
  10.6   Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit Agreement, 

dated as of July 24, 2018, among Greenlight 
Acquisition Corporation, VM Consolidated, Inc.  
(formerly known as ATS Consolidated Inc.), each of 
the other borrowers party thereto, the lenders party 
thereto and Bank of America, N.A. as Administrative 
Agent and Collateral Agent.

  8-K   001-37979   10.7   Oct. 22, 2018    

                         

  10.7   Amendment No. 2 to Revolving Credit Agreement, 
dated as of October 29, 2021, by and among 
Greenlight Acquisition Corporation, VM 
Consolidated, Inc., each of the other borrowers party 
thereto, the lenders party thereto and Bank of 
America, N.A. as Administrative Agent and 
Collateral Agent.

                  X

                         

  10.8   Amendment No. 3 to Revolving Credit Agreement, 
dated as of December 20, 2021, by and among 
Greenlight Acquisition Corporation, VM 
Consolidated, Inc., each of the other borrowers party 
thereto, the lenders party thereto and Bank of 
America, N.A. as Administrative Agent and 
Collateral Agent.

  8-K   001-37979   10.1   Dec. 20, 2021    

                         

  10.9   Amendment and Restatement Agreement No. 1 to 
First Lien Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of 
March 26, 2021, by and among Greenlight 
Acquisition Corporation, VM Consolidated, Inc., 
American Traffic Solutions, Inc., Lasercraft, Inc. the 
subsidiary guarantors party thereto, the lenders party 
thereto and Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative 
Agent and Collateral Agent.

  8-K   001-37979   10.1   Mar. 29, 2021    

                         

  10.10   Amendment No. 1 to Amendment and Restatement 
Agreement No. 1 to First Lien Term Loan Credit 
Agreement, dated as of March 26, 2021, by and 
among Greenlight Acquisition Corporation, VM
Consolidated, Inc., American Traffic Solutions, Inc., 
Lasercraft, Inc. the subsidiary guarantors party 
thereto, the lenders party thereto and Bank of 
America, N.A., as Administrative Agent and 
Collateral Agent.

  8-K   001-37979   10.1   Dec. 7, 2021    

                         

  10.11#   Amended and Restated Executive Employment 
Agreement, dated as of March 25, 2021, by and 
between VM Consolidated, Inc. and David Roberts.

  10-Q   001-37979   10.3   May 17, 2021    
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  10.12#   Amended and Restated Executive Employment 

Agreement, dated as of March 25, 2021, by and 
between VM Consolidated, Inc. and Patricia Chiodo.

  10-Q   001-37979   10.4   May 17, 2021    

                         

  10.13#   Amended and Restated Executive Employment 
Agreement, dated as of March 25, 2021, by and 
between VM Consolidated, Inc. and Rebecca Collins.

  10-Q   001-37979   10.5   May 17, 2021    

                         

  10.14#   Executive Employment Agreement by and between 
VM Consolidated, Inc. and Steven Lalla, dated as of 
January 31, 2021.

  10-K   001-37979   10.15   Mar. 1, 2021    

                         

  10.15#   Executive Employment Agreement by and between 
VM Consolidated, Inc. and Craig Conti, dated as of 
January 29, 2022.



 

                  X

                         

  10.16#   Verra Mobility Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive 
Plan.

  8-K   001-37979   10.17   Oct. 22, 2018    

                         

  10.17#   Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Unit and 
Agreement under the Verra Mobility Corporation 
2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

  8-K   001-37979   10.18   Oct. 22, 2018    

                         

  10.18#   Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Unit and 
Agreement for Non-U.S. Participants under the Verra 
Mobility Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

  8-K   001-37979   10.19   Oct. 22, 2018    

                         

  10.19#   Form of Greenlight Holding Corporation 2018 
Participation Plan Termination Agreement.

  8-K   001-37979   10.20   Oct. 22, 2018    

                         

  10.20#   Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Unit for 
Non-Employee Directors under the Verra Mobility 
Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

  10-K   001-37979   10.30   Mar. 18, 2019    

                         

  10.21#   Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option and 
Agreement under the Verra Mobility Corporation 
2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

  10-K   001-37979   10.24   Mar. 2, 2020    

                         

  10.22#   Form of Notice of Grant of Performance Share Unit 
and Agreement under the Verra Mobility Corporation 
2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

  10-K   001-37979   10.26   Mar. 2, 2020    

                         

  10.23#   2020 Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock 
Unit and Agreement for Non-U.S. Participants under 
the Verra Mobility Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive 
Plan.

  10-Q   001-37979   10.1   Nov. 5, 2020    

                         

  10.24#   Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option and 
Agreement for Non-U.S. Participants under the Verra 
Mobility Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

  10-Q   001-37979   10.2   Nov. 5, 2020    
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  10.25#   Verra Mobility Corporation Short-Term Incentive 

Plan.
  8-K   001-37979   10.1   Feb. 4, 2022    

                         

  10.26#   Verra Mobility Corporation Non-Employee Director 
Compensation Policy.

                  X

                         

  21.1   List of Subsidiaries                   X
                         

  23.1   Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent 
Registered Public Accounting Firm.

                  X

                         

  24.1   Power of Attorney (included on the signature pages
herein).

                  X

                         

  31.1   Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant 
to Rules 13a‑14(a) and 15d‑14(a) under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

                  X

                         

  31.2   Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant 
to Rules 13a‑14(a) and 15d‑14(a) under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

                  X

                         

  32.1*   Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant 
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

                  X

                         

  32.2*   Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant 
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

                  X

                         

101.INS   Inline XBRL Instance Document.                   X
                         

101.SCH   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema 
Document.

                  X

                         

101.CAL   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation 
Linkbase Document.

                  X

                         

101.DEF   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition 
Linkbase Document.

                  X

                         

101.LAB   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase 
Document.

                  X

                         

101.PRE   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation 
Linkbase document.

                  X

                         

104   Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline 
XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

                  X

 
# Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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* This certification is deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, nor shall it be 
deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.
 

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on 
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 
   VERRA MOBILITY CORPORATION
     
Date: April 22, 2022 By: /s/ David Roberts
      David Roberts
      President and Chief Executive Officer

     
(Principal Executive Officer)
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each individual whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints David M. Roberts 
and Patricia D. Chiodo, and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or 
her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the 
same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the SEC, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of 
them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all 
intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them, or 
his or her or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done or by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the 
Registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated:
 
 
  Signature    Capacity in Which Signed

 
  Date

           
 
  /s/ David Roberts   President, Chief Executive Officer and Director   April 22, 2022
 
  David Roberts (Principal Executive Officer)

 
       

  /s/ Patricia D. Chiodo   Chief Financial Officer   April 22, 2022
 
  Patricia D. Chiodo (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

 
 
    

 
   

 
    

  /s/ Patrick Byrne  
  Director

 
  April 22, 2022

  Patrick Byrne  
   

   

    
 
   

 
    

 
  /s/ Douglas Davis  

  Director
 
  April 22, 2022

 
  Douglas Davis     
 
    

 
   

 
    

 
  /s/ Sarah Farrell  

  Director
 
  April 22, 2022

 
  Sarah Farrell     
           
  /s/ Michael Huerta   Director   April 22, 2022
  Michael Huerta        
 
    

 
   

 
    

 
  /s/ John Rexford  

  Director
 
  April 22, 2022

 
  John Rexford     
 
    

 
   

 
    

 
  /s/ Cynthia Russo  

  Director
 
  April 22, 2022

 
  Cynthia Russo  
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Appendix A

Verra Mobility Corporation

Schedule II 

Consolidated Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019
 

    Beginning     Charged/Credited to     Charged to Other     Charges Utilized/     Ending  
($ in thousands)   Balance     Net Income (Loss)     Account     Write-offs     Balance  

Allowance for Credit Losses                                  
Year Ended December 31, 2021   $ 11,471     $ 9,588     $ —     $ (8,921 )   $ 12,138  
Year Ended December 31, 2020     8,456       14,391       —       (11,376 )     11,471  
Year Ended December 31, 2019     6,221       8,100       —       (6,684 )     7,637  

                                
Tax Valuation Allowance                                   

Year Ended December 31, 2021   $ 3,422     $ 363     $ —     $ —     $ 3,785  
Year Ended December 31, 2020     2,564       858       —       —       3,422  
Year Ended December 31, 2019     2,254       310       —       —       2,564  

 
(1) This includes a $0.8 million increase to the beginning balance of allowance for credit losses as a result of adopting the credit loss standard.
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Exhibit 10.7

Execution Version

AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT

This AMENDMENT NO. 2 (this “Amendment”) dated as of October 29, 2021 to the Revolving Credit Agreement dated 
as of March 1, 2018 (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date (as defined below)) (the 
“Credit Agreement”), among GREENLIGHT ACQUISITION CORPORATION (“Holdings”), VM CONSOLIDATED, INC. (f/k/a VERRA 
MOBILITY CORPORATION, f/k/a ATS CONSOLIDATED, INC.) (the “Lead Borrower”), each of the other borrowers party thereto from 
time to time (together with Lead Borrower, collectively, the “Borrowers”), the lenders party thereto from time to time and BANK OF 
AMERICA, N.A., as the Administrative Agent (the “Administrative Agent”) and as Collateral Agent, is entered into and among Holdings, 
the Borrowers, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders party hereto.  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 13.12 of the Credit Agreement, the Credit Parties have requested to amend the Credit 
Agreement with the consent of the Required Lenders in order to amend Section 10.04(i) of the Credit Agreement to permit certain additional 
Indebtedness to be incurred under the First Lien Term Loan Credit Agreement; and

WHEREAS, this Amendment will become effective on the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date on the terms and subject to 
the conditions set forth herein.

Accordingly, in consideration of the foregoing and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency 
of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

1.

DEFINITIONS

a. Definitions.  Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein have the meanings assigned to 
them in the Credit Agreement as amended by this Amendment (the “Amended Credit Agreement”).

2.



AMENDMENTS TO THE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

a. Amendments to Credit Agreement.  Effective as of the amendment No. 2 Effective Date, each of the 
parties hereto hereby agree to each of the following amendments:

(a)	 The following defined term shall be added to Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement:

“Amendment No. 2 Effective Date” shall mean October 29, 2021. 

(b)	 Clause (y) of Section 10.04(i) of the Credit Agreement shall be amended to replace each reference therein to the  
“Closing Date” with a reference to the “Amendment No. 2 Effective Date”. 

 



 

3.

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

a. Representations and Warranties.  To induce the other parties hereto to enter into this Amendment, 
each Credit Party represents and warrants to each other party hereto, on and as of the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date, that on and as of the 
Amendment No. 2 Effective Date:

i. each of the representations and warranties made by any Credit Party set forth in Section 8 of the Credit 
Agreement or in any other Credit Document shall be true and correct in all material respects (in each case, any representation or warranty that 
is qualified as to “materiality or similar language” shall be true and correct in all respects on and as of the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date) 
on and as of the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date, with the same effect as though made on and as of the Closing Date, except to the extent 
such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties shall be true and 
correct in all material respects as of such date (in each case, any representation or warranty that is qualified as to “materiality or similar 
language” shall be true and correct in all respects on and as of the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date); and 

ii. no Default or Event of Default exists immediately before or immediately after giving effect to this 
Amendment.

4.

CONDITIONS TO EFFECTIVENESS

a. Amendment No. 2 Effective Date.  The amendments pursuant to Section 2.01 above shall become 
effective on the first date (the “Amendment No. 2 Effective Date”) on which each of the following conditions shall have been satisfied:

i. Execution and Delivery of this Amendment.  On or prior to the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date, each 
Credit Party, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders constituting the Required Lenders shall have executed and delivered a counterpart of 
this Amendment (by electronic transmission or otherwise) to the Administrative Agent.

ii. Representations and Warranties.  The representations and warranties contained in Article III hereof 
shall be true and correct on and as of the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date, except to the extent that such representations and warranties 
specifically refer to an earlier date, in which case they shall be true and correct on and as of such earlier date, in each case subject to the 
qualifications set forth therein.

iii. Fees and Expenses.  The Borrowers shall have paid to the Administrative Agent all costs and expenses 
(including, without limitation, legal fees and expenses) to the extent invoiced at least two Business Days prior to the date of this Amendment 
(it being understood and agreed that if any such invoice is not received at least two Business Days prior to the date of this Amendment, such 
costs and expenses will be reimbursed after the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date in accordance with Section 13.01 of the Credit Agreement).

b. Effects of this Amendment.

i. Except as expressly set forth herein, this Amendment shall not by implication or otherwise limit, 
impair, constitute a waiver of or otherwise affect the rights and remedies of the Lenders, the Administrative Agent or the Collateral Agent 
under the Credit Agreement or any other Credit Document, and shall not alter, modify, amend or in any way affect any of the terms, 
conditions, obligations, covenants or agreements contained in the Credit Agreement or any other provision of the Credit Agreement or of any 
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other Credit Document, all of which are ratified and affirmed in all respects and shall continue in full force and effect.  This Amendment 
shall not constitute a novation of the Credit Agreement and the Amended Credit Agreement or any of the Credit Documents.  Except as 
expressly set forth herein, nothing herein shall be deemed to be a waiver, amendment, modification or other change of, any of the terms, 
conditions, obligations, covenants or agreements contained in the Credit Agreement or any other Credit Document in similar or different 
circumstances. 

ii. From and after the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date, each reference in the Credit Agreement to “this 
Agreement”, “hereunder”, “hereof”, “herein”, or words of like import, and each reference to the “Credit Agreement” in any other Credit 
Document shall in each case be deemed a reference to the Amended Credit Agreement as amended hereby. This Amendment shall constitute 
a “Credit Document” for all purposes of the Credit Agreement and the other Credit Documents.

5.

REAFFIRMATION

a. Reaffirmation.  As of the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date, each Credit Party hereby confirms that 
notwithstanding the effectiveness of this Amendment and the transactions contemplated hereby, (i) the obligations of such Credit Parties 
under the Amended Credit Agreement and the other Credit Documents are entitled to the benefits of the guarantees and the security interests 
set forth or created in the Amended Credit Agreement, the Security Agreement, the other Security Documents and the other Credit 
Documents and constitute “Relevant Guaranteed Obligations” (as defined in the Guaranty Agreement) and “Obligations” for purposes of the 
Amended Credit Agreement, the Security Agreement, the other Security Documents and all other Credit Documents, (ii) each Guarantor 
hereby confirms and ratifies its continuing unconditional obligations as Guarantor under the Credit Agreement as amended hereby with 
respect to all of the Relevant Guaranteed Obligations and (iii) each Credit Document to which such Credit Party is a party is, and shall 
continue to be, in full force and effect and is hereby ratified and confirmed in all respects and shall remain in full force and effect according 
to its terms (in the case of the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby).  Each Credit Party ratifies and confirms its prior grant and the validity 
of all Liens granted pursuant to the Credit Documents and that all Liens granted, conveyed, or assigned to any Agent by such Person pursuant 
to any Credit Document to which it is a party remain in full force and effect, are not released or reduced, and continue to secure full payment 
and performance of the Obligations.

6.

MISCELLANEOUS

a. Entire Agreement. This Amendment, the Credit Agreement and the other Credit Documents constitute 
the entire agreement among the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof and supersede all other prior agreements 
and understandings, both written and verbal, among the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof.  Except as expressly set forth 
herein, this Amendment shall not by implication or otherwise limit, impair, constitute a waiver of, or otherwise affect the rights and remedies 
of any party under, the Credit Agreement, nor alter, modify, amend or in any way affect any of the terms, conditions, obligations, covenants 
or agreements contained in the Credit Agreement, all of which are ratified and affirmed in all respects and shall continue in full force and 
effect.  It is understood and agreed that each reference in each Credit Document to the Credit Agreement, whether direct or indirect, shall 
hereafter be deemed to be a reference to the Credit Agreement as amended hereby and that this Amendment is a Credit Document.

b. Miscellaneous Provisions.  The provisions of Sections 13.01 and 13.08 of the Amended Credit 
Agreement are hereby incorporated by reference and apply mutatis mutandis hereto.
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c. Severability.  If any provision of this Amendment is held to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable, the 
legality, validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Amendment shall not be affected or impaired thereby.  The invalidity 
of a provision in a particular jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction.

d. Counterparts.  This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the different 
parties hereto on separate counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall constitute an original, but all of which, when 
taken together, shall constitute one and the same instrument.  The words “execution,” “signed,” “signature,” and words of like import in or 
related to this Amendment or any other document to be signed in connection with this Amendment shall be deemed to include electronic 
signatures, or the keeping of records in electronic form, each of which shall be of the same legal effect, validity or enforceability as a 
manually executed signature or the use of a paper-based recordkeeping system, as the case may be, to the extent and as provided for in any 
applicable Law, including the Federal Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, the New York State Electronic Signatures 
and Records Act, or any other similar state laws based on the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act; provided that notwithstanding anything 
contained herein to the contrary the Administrative Agent is under no obligation to agree to accept electronic signatures in any form or in any 
format unless expressly agreed to by the Administrative Agent pursuant to procedures approved by it. 

e. Headings.  The headings of this Amendment are for purposes of reference only and shall not limit or 
otherwise affect the meaning hereof.

 [Signature Pages Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed and delivered by their 
respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date first written above.

 

 

GREENLIGHT ACQUISITION CORPORATION,

as Holdings

By:	 	 	 	 	

	 Name:	


	 Title:	

VM CONSOLIDATED, INC. (f/k/a VERRA MOBILITY CORPORATION, f/k/a 
ATS CONSOLIDATED, INC.)
AMERICAN TRAFFIC SOLUTIONS, INC.,


LASERCRAFT, INC.,
AMERICAN TRAFFIC SOLUTIONS CONSOLIDATED, L.L.C.
PLATEPASS, L.L.C.
ATS PROCESSING SERVICES, L.L.C.
ATS TOLLING LLC
SUNSHINE STATE TAG AGENCY LLC
AUTO TAG OF AMERICA LLC
AUTO TITLES OF AMERICA LLC
AMERICAN TRAFFIC SOLUTIONS, L.L.C.
MULVIHILL ICS, INC.
MULVILHILL ELECTRICAL ENTERPRISES, INC.
HIGHWAY TOLL ADMINISTRATION, LLC
TOLL BUDDY, LLC
VIOLATION MANAGEMENT SOLUTIONS, LLC, 
 
each as a Borrower

By:	 	 	 	 	

	 Name:	


	 Title:	

 
[Signature page to Revolving Credit Agreement Amendment]



 

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,

as Administrative Agent and as Collateral Agent

By:	 	

	 Name:


	 Title:

 

 

 
[Signature page to Revolving Credit Agreement Amendment]



 

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,

as a Lender 

By:	 	

	 Name:


	 Title:

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
	  
	  

[Signature page to Revolving Credit Agreement Amendment]



 

The undersigned Lender hereby consents to the Amendment.

[_________________],

as a Lender 

By:	 	

	 Name:


	 Title:

 

If a second signature block is required

 

By:	 	

	 Name:


	 Title: 

 
[Signature page to Revolving Credit Agreement Amendment]

	  



Exhibit 10.15

EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into by and between VM 
Consolidated, Inc., a Delaware corporation having its principal offices in Mesa, Arizona and a wholly owned subsidiary of Verra 
Mobility Corporation (together with Verra Mobility Corporation, the “Company”), and Craig Conti (the “Executive”).  This 
Agreement shall become effective on the date of the last signatory hereto, provided, however, that the Agreement is fully 
executed by February 2, 2022. If the Agreement is not fully executed by February 2, 2022, it shall become null and void.

WHEREAS, the Company desires to employ Executive as its Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, and 
Executive desires to serve in such capacity on behalf of the Company, upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth; and

WHEREAS, Executive acknowledges that he has had an opportunity to consider this Agreement and to consult with an 
independent advisor of his choosing with regard to the terms of this Agreement and enters into this Agreement voluntarily and 
with a full understanding of its terms. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows: 
 

1. Employment.

 

1.1 Employment Period. Executive’s employment hereunder will commence on or before April 11, 2022 (the “Start 
Date”). Executive shall be employed by the Company (or a Company subsidiary or affiliate) on an “at will” basis, meaning either 
the Company or Executive may terminate Executive’s employment at any time, with or without cause or advance notice (such 
period of employment under this Agreement, the “Employment Period”). Any contrary representations that may have been made 
to Executive shall be superseded by this Agreement. This Agreement shall constitute the full and complete agreement between 
Executive and the Company on the “at will” nature of Executive’s employment with the Company, which may be changed only in 
an express written agreement signed by Executive and a duly authorized officer of the Company. Executive’s rights to any 
compensation following a termination shall be only as set forth in Section 3 herein.

 

1.2 Public Announcement. Prior to any public announcement made by the Company, Executive shall not make any 
public release, statement or communication concerning Executive’s acceptance of employment with the Company without the 
prior written approval of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) or its designee.  

 

1.3 Duties and Responsibilities. Commencing on the Start Date, Executive shall serve as the Executive Vice 
President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, reporting to the 
	 	 _______
	 	 Executive’s Initials



 

Company’s Chief Executive Officer, and shall perform all duties and accept all responsibilities incident to such position and such 
other duties as may be reasonably assigned to Executive by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer consistent with such position.

 

1.4 Extent of Services. Executive shall use his best efforts to carry out Executive’s duties and responsibilities under 
Section 1.3 hereof and, consistent with the other provisions of this Agreement, shall devote substantially all of Executive’s 
business time, attention and energy thereto. In the performance of his duties, Executive shall observe and adhere to all applicable 
Company policies and procedures as may be interpreted, adopted, revised or deleted from time to time in the Company’s sole
discretion. During the Employment Period, Executive may engage in volunteer services for or on behalf of such religious, 
educational, non-profit and/or other charitable organization as Executive may wish to serve, in all such cases not interfering with 
Executive’s responsibilities and performance of Executive’s duties hereunder. The foregoing shall not be construed as preventing 
Executive from owning less than one percent (1%) of the total outstanding shares of a publicly traded company.

 

1.5 Principal Location of Services. Executive shall perform his duties hereunder principally out of the Company’s 
corporate headquarters (presently located in Mesa, Arizona) and shall undertake travel within or outside of the United States as is 
necessary or advisable for the efficient operations of the Company and the performance of Executive’s duties hereunder. For the 
first 6 (six) months of Executive’s employment (the “Commuting Period”), Executive shall be permitted to telecommute from his 
current home location, with the expectation that Executive relocate to the greater Phoenix metropolitan area by the end of the 
Commuting Period (such relocation benefits to be governed by Section 2.8).  During the Commuting Period, Executive shall be 
reimbursed for his travel expenses when required to attend meetings in person at the Mesa Headquarters in accordance with the 
Company’s Travel & Expense Policy. 

  

1.6 Background Screening.  Executive’s employment is contingent upon completion of the Company’s Director & 
Officer Questionnaire to the Company’s satisfaction, verification of Executive’s eligibility to work in the United States, and the 
Company obtaining satisfactory results on a background investigation, reference check, and drug screening of Executive 
(collectively, the “Background Check”), which will be conducted at the Company’s expense and in compliance with applicable 
law.  If the results of Executive’s Background Check do not meet the Company’s satisfaction, the Agreement shall be null and 
void (even if executed by the Parties).

 

2. Compensation and Benefits.

 

2.1 Base Salary. For all the services rendered by Executive hereunder, the Company shall pay or cause to be paid to 
Executive a base salary (“Base Salary”) at the annualized rate of Four Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($450,000.00), subject to 
all required withholdings and authorized deductions and payable in installments at such times as the Company customarily pays 
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its other senior level executives.  Executive’s Base Salary is subject to annual review by the Compensation Committee of the 
Board (the “Compensation Committee”) consistent with other members of the Company’s executive team. 

 

2.2 Short-Term Discretionary Cash Bonus. For each fiscal year during the Employment Period, Executive shall be 
eligible to receive an annual discretionary cash bonus (the “STIP Bonus”) for the services rendered by Executive under this 
Agreement, subject to the terms and conditions as set forth in the Verra Mobility Short-Term Incentive Plan (or any successor 
plan) (the “STIP Plan”). Executive’s STIP Bonus target shall be seventy five percent (75%) of the Executive’s Base Salary paid 
during the applicable plan year. The payment and amount of the STIP Bonus, if any, will be determined in accordance with the 
STIP Plan by the Compensation Committee based on Executive’s performance and Company financial performance, in each case 
measured against performance goals and financial targets established by the Compensation Committee.    

 

2.3 Equity Compensation.  

 

(a) Equity Grants.  As soon as practical (but not more than two (2) business days) after the first 
Compensation Committee meeting immediately following Executive’s Start Date (or, if the Compensation Committee’s next such 
meeting occurs during a blackout period, then promptly after two (2) business days following the end of such blackout period), 
the Company will grant to Executive, pursuant to the terms of the Verra Mobility Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, as 
amended (the “Plan”), and applicable award agreements, the following equity grants:

 

(i) Time-Based Stock Option Grant. A grant of a non-statutory stock option 
award under the Plan for a number of shares of Verra Mobility Class A Common Stock with a total value, as measured by the 
closing price of Verra Mobility’s Class A Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on the date of grant, equal to four 
hundred thousand dollars ($400,000) (“Time-Based Option”), subject to the Plan and Executive Time-Based Option award 
agreement, which shall include an annual time-based vesting of twenty-five percent (25%) increments on each of the first four 
anniversaries of the grant date, including continued service through each applicable vesting date.  The Time-Based Option will 
have an exercise price per share equal to the Fair Market Value (as defined in the Plan) of a share of common stock of the 
Company on the date of grant.

 

(ii) Performance Share Unit Grant.  A grant of a performance share unit award 
under the Plan for a number of shares of Verra Mobility Class A Common Stock with a total value, as measured by the closing 
price of Verra Mobility’s Class A Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on the date of grant, equal to three hundred 
thousand dollars ($300,000) (“PSUs”), subject to the Plan and Executive’s PSU award agreement, which shall include the 
following vesting schedule: the PSUs shall vest based on Relative Total Stockholder Return 
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(“Relative TSR”), meaning the difference, measured in percentage points (rounded to the nearest 1/100 of 1%), for the three (3) 
year performance period between the Company Annualized TSR and the Comparator Group Median Annualized TSR, all as 
determined in accordance with Executive’s PSU award agreement, as well as Executive’s continued service through the end of 
the performance period.

 

(iii) Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit Grant.  A grant of a restricted stock unit 
award under the Plan for a number of shares of Verra Mobility Class A Common Stock with a total value, as measured by the 
closing price of Verra Mobility’s Class A Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on the date of grant, equal to three 
hundred thousand dollars ($300,000) (“RSUs”), subject to the Plan and Executive’s RSU award agreement, which shall include 
annual time-based vesting of twenty-five percent (25%) increments on each of the first four anniversaries of the grant date and 
the terms of the Plan and Executive’s RSU award agreement, including continued service through each applicable vesting date.

 

(iv) Make-Whole Restricted Stock Unit Grant.  A grant of a restricted stock unit 
award under the Plan for a number of shares of Verra Mobility Class A Common Stock with a total value, as measured by the 
closing price of Verra Mobility’s Class A Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on the date of grant, equal to one million 
eight hundred thousand dollars ($1,800,000) (“Make-Whole RSUs”), which shall include annual time-based vesting of fifty 
percent (50%) increments on each of the first two anniversaries of the grant date and the terms of the Plan and Executive’s RSU 
award agreement, including continued service through each applicable vesting date. 
 

(b) Future Equity Compensation.  During the Employment Period, Executive shall be eligible 
from time to time to participate in the Company’s equity incentive programs, subject to the discretion of the Board or its 
authorized designee(s). The terms and conditions of the vesting, forfeiture, and all other matters related to any equity 
compensation granted to Executive shall be subject to and governed by the Plan and the applicable award agreements and grant 
documents provided to Executive in connection with such equity compensation. 

 

2.4 Retirement and Welfare Plans. Executive shall be eligible to participate in employee retirement and welfare 
benefit plans of the Company (or a Company subsidiary or affiliate) made available to the Company’s (or its subsidiaries’ or 
affiliates’) senior level executives as a group or to its employees generally, as such retirement and welfare plans may be in effect 
from time to time and subject to the eligibility requirements of the plans. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent the Company 
from adopting, amending or terminating any retirement, welfare or other employee benefit plans or programs from time to time 
as the Company deems appropriate.
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2.5 Vacation. Executive shall be entitled to paid vacation pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Company’s 
vacation and paid time off policies, as may be in effect from time to time.

 

2.6 Reimbursement of Expenses. Executive shall be eligible to be reimbursed for all customary and appropriate 
business-related expenses actually incurred by Executive and documented in accordance with the Company’s policies applicable 
to senior level executives and as may be in effect from time to time.

 

2.7 Starting Bonus Incentive. 
 

(a) The Company shall provide a sign-on cash bonus of two hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000) (the “Sign-
On Bonus”), subject to all required and authorized withholdings. Such Sign-On Bonus shall be paid within 
thirty (30) days after the Start Date.  

 
(b) Executive anticipates being paid a cash bonus from his current employer on or before March 31, 2022 (the 

“Pending Bonus”), which Executive anticipates the amount of which may be negatively impacted by notice of 
his termination in connection with his acceptance of his employment with the Company.  In addition to the 
Sign-On Bonus, and as a further incentive to enter into this Agreement, the Executive shall be eligible for an 
additional cash bonus to compensate Executive in the event of a reduction in his Pending Bonus (the “Make-
Whole Bonus”). The gross amount of the Make Whole Bonus shall be calculated by deducting the total gross 
amount of the Pending Bonus actually paid to Executive from three hundred twenty-five thousand dollars 
($325,000), provided that the Make-Whole Bonus amount shall not exceed seventy-five thousand dollars 
($75,000). For example, if Executive’s Pending Bonus actually paid is $275,000, the Make-Whole Bonus shall 
be $50,000.  If Executive’s Pending Bonus actually paid is $200,000, the Make-Whole Bonus shall be capped at 
$75,000.  Executive shall be required to provide the Company with sufficient documentation evidencing the 
gross amount of the Pending Bonus actually paid to him. The Make-Whole Bonus, if paid, is subject to all 
required and authorized withholdings, and shall be paid on the later of thirty (30) days after the Start Date or 
thirty (30) days after the Company receives the documentation evidencing the amount of the Pending Bonus 
actually paid.  

(c) Executive shall be obligated to immediately repay 100% (one hundred percent) of the gross amount of the Sign-
On Bonus and the Make-Whole Bonus (collectively, the “Starting Bonus Incentive”) if Executive is terminated 
by the Company for Cause (as defined in Section 3.7) or if Executive voluntarily terminates his employment 
other than for Good Reason (as defined in Section 3.7), and other than due to Disability (as defined in Section 
3.2) or death, prior to the one-year anniversary of the Start Date. Executive shall be obligated to immediately 
repay 
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50% (fifty percent) of the gross amount of the Starting Bonus Incentive if Executive is terminated by the 
Company for Cause (as defined in Section 3.7) or if Executive voluntarily terminates his employment other than 
for Good Reason (as defined in Section 3.7), and other than due to Disability (as defined in Section 3.2) or 
death, after the one-year anniversary of the Start Date but prior to the two-year anniversary of the Start Date.

 

2.8 Relocation Assistance.  In connection with Executive’s relocation to the greater Phoenix metropolitan area at the 
end of the Commuting Period, Executive will be entitled to relocation assistance benefits, a summary of which is attached as 
Exhibit A hereto. Executive shall be obligated to repay the actual expenses incurred by the Company related to shipment of 
household goods and home purchase expenses in the event Executive is terminated by the Company for Cause (as defined in 
Section 3.7) or if Executive voluntarily terminates his employment other than for Good Reason (as defined in Section 3.7), and 
other than due to Disability (as defined in Section 3.2) or death, within twelve (12) months after Executive completes his 
relocation.

 

3. Termination. Notwithstanding Section 1, Executive’s employment shall terminate, and the Employment Period 
shall terminate concurrently therewith, upon the occurrence of any of the following events:

 

3.1 Termination By Company Without Cause or Resignation by Executive for Good Reason. 

 

(a) The Company may terminate Executive’s employment at any time without Cause during the 
Employment Period from the position in which Executive is employed hereunder upon not less than thirty (30) days’ prior 
written notice to Executive. The Company shall have the discretion to terminate Executive’s employment during the notice period 
and pay continued Base Salary in lieu of notice. In addition, Executive may initiate a termination of employment under this 
Section 3.1 by resigning for Good Reason (in accordance with the notice and other provisions set forth in Section 3.7(b)). 

 

(b) Upon termination under this Section 3.1, Executive shall receive (i) Executive’s accrued but 
unpaid Base Salary through the date of termination (payable on the Company’s first (1st) payroll processing date after Executive’s
date of termination or earlier if required by applicable law), (ii) any unreimbursed business expenses incurred by Executive and 
payable in accordance with the Company’s standard expense reimbursement policies and Section 20 of this Agreement, and (iii) 
benefits earned, accrued and due under any qualified retirement plan or health and welfare benefit plan in which Executive was a 
participant in accordance with applicable law and the provisions of such plan (collectively, the amounts in this Section 3.1(b) are 
“Guaranteed Payments”). 
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(c) If Executive’s employment terminates as described in Section 3.1(a) above and if, upon such
termination, Executive (i) executes within twenty-one (21) days (or forty-five (45) days to the extent required by applicable law) 
after presentation to the Executive of, that he does not timely revoke, a written general release in a form provided by the 
Company releasing the Company from any and all claims (including with respect to all matters arising out of or related to 
Executive’s employment by the Company or the termination thereof) (the “Release”), and (ii) complies with the terms and 
conditions of the Release, including, without limitation, the terms and conditions of Sections 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9 of this Agreement 
(which shall be incorporated in the Release by reference) below, Executive will be entitled to receive cash severance in an 
amount equal to twelve (12) months of Executive’s then-current Base Salary, plus a cash amount representing the total cost of the 
group healthcare premiums the Executive would have paid based on the coverages in effect at the time of Executive’s termination 
if the Executive elected continuation coverage under Title X of the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as 
amended, for a period of twelve (12) months (the “Severance”). The Severance amount, less all required withholdings and 
authorized deductions, shall be paid in substantially equal installments consistent with the Company’s regularly scheduled payroll 
procedures until the Severance has been paid in full, subject to Section 3.1(d) below. 

 

(d) Except as otherwise required by Section 3.8, the benefits described in Section 3.1(c) shall
begin within sixty (60) days after Executive’s termination date, provided Executive has timely executed and not revoked the 
Release within such sixty (60) day period; and provided that notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, in 
no event shall the timing of Executive’s execution of the Release, directly or indirectly, result in Executive’s designating the 
calendar year of payment, and if a payment that is “nonqualified deferred compensation” as defined under Section 409A of the 
Code (“Section 409A”) is subject to execution of the Release could be made in more than one taxable year of Executive, payment 
shall be made on the earliest date permitted under the terms of the Release in the later such taxable year. 

 

(e) Executive agrees and acknowledges that the Severance provided to Executive pursuant to 
Section 3.1(c) is in lieu of, and is not in addition to, any benefits to which Executive may otherwise be entitled under any 
Company severance plan, policy, or program, other than the Guaranteed Payments.

 

(f) Executive agrees and acknowledges that if Executive fails to comply with Section 5, 6, 7, 8 or 
9 below, or any obligation set forth in the Release, all payments under Section 3.1(c) shall immediately cease and Executive shall 
be required to immediately repay any cash Severance previously paid by the Company.

 

3.2 Termination by Reason of Disability. Subject to applicable state and federal law, the Company may terminate 
Executive’s employment if Executive has been unable to perform the 
	 	 _______
	 	 Executive’s Initials
 



 

material duties of Executive’s position for a period of ninety (90) consecutive days or one hundred eighty (180) days in the 
aggregate during any twelve (12) month period because of physical or mental injury or illness (“Disability”). Executive agrees, in 
the event of a dispute under this Section 3.2 relating to Executive’s Disability, to submit to a physical examination by a licensed 
physician jointly selected by the Board and Executive. If the Company terminates Executive’s employment for Disability, 
Executive shall be entitled to receive the Guaranteed Payments as set forth in Section 3.1(b). 

 

3.3 Termination by Reason of Death. If Executive dies while employed by the Company, all obligations of the 
parties hereunder shall terminate immediately. The Company shall pay to Executive’s executor, legal representative, 
administrator or designated beneficiary, as applicable, the Guaranteed Payments as set forth in Section 3.1(b). 

 

3.4 Termination by Company for Cause or Resignation by Executive without Good Reason.  The Company may 
terminate Executive’s employment at any time for Cause upon written notice to Executive and Executive may initiate a 
termination of employment by resigning without Good Reason upon not less than thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the 
Company, and in any such event all payments under this Agreement shall cease except that the Company shall pay to Executive 
the Guaranteed Payments.  In such event, Executive will not receive the Severance or any other severance compensation or 
benefits.

 

3.5 Notice of Termination. Any termination of Executive’s employment by either party shall be communicated by a 
written notice of termination to the other party hereto given in accordance with Section 13. The notice of termination shall (a) 
indicate the specific termination provision in this Agreement relied upon; (b) briefly summarize the facts and circumstances 
deemed to provide a basis for a termination of employment and the applicable provision hereof, provided, that no basis need be 
provided by the Company in connection with a termination without Cause by the Company or a termination without Good 
Reason by Executive; and (c) specify the termination date in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.

 

3.6 Cooperation with the Company After Termination. During any notice period preceding termination of 
Executive’s employment for any reason, Executive agrees to cooperate with the Company in all matters relating to the winding 
up of Executive’s pending work and the orderly transfer and transition of any such pending work to such other employees as may 
be designated by the Company.  Following termination of employment, Executive agrees to cooperate with the Company, at 
reasonable times and locales and upon reasonable prior notice, in (a) responding to requests by the Company for information 
concerning work performed by Executive during the period of Executive’s employment with the Company and with regard to any 
matters that relate to or arise out of the business of the Company during the period of his employment and about which Executive 
may have knowledge; and (b) any investigation or review that may be performed by the Company or any government authority or 
in connection with any litigation or 
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proceeding in which the Company may become involved. Executive’s obligations under this Section 3.6 include (without 
limitation) (i) making himself available to testify on behalf of the Company or any of its affiliates in any action, suit, or 
proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative; (ii) assisting the Company or any of its affiliates in any such 
action, suit, or proceeding, by providing truthful and accurate information; (iii) and meeting and consulting with the Board or its 
representatives or counsel, or representatives or counsel to any of the Company’s affiliates as may be reasonably requested and 
after taking into account the Executive’s post-termination responsibilities and obligations.  The Company will reimburse 
Executive for any reasonable travel and out of pocket expenses incurred by Executive in providing such cooperation.

 

3.7 Definitions. 

 
(a) “Cause” shall mean: (i) Executive being charged with a felony or misdemeanor criminal offense, other than a 

misdemeanor traffic offense; (ii) Executive’s engagement in any act involving gross misconduct or dishonesty that is materially 
injurious to the Company or any of its affiliates; (iii) Executive’s willful and continued breach of, or failure to substantially 
perform under or comply with any of the material terms and covenants of any written agreement with the Company or any of its 
affiliates; (iv) Executive’s willful and continued breach of, or refusal or failure substantially to perform under, any policy or 
reasonable performance goals set by the Company or any of its affiliates with respect to Executive’s job duties or responsibilities, 
the operation of the Company's or any of its affiliates’ business and affairs, or the management of the Company’s or any of its 
affiliates’ employees; or (v) Executive commits or has committed a breach of any laws or regulations which may affect or relate 
to the conduct of the Company’s or any of its affiliates’ business; provided, however, that with respect to (iii) and (iv) above, 
Executive will be provided notice of any misconduct and/or breach constituting Cause and be given a reasonable opportunity (not 
to exceed thirty (30) consecutive days) to cure the misconduct and/or breach (unless such misconduct and/or breach is determined 
by the Company not to be susceptible to cure, in which case the termination shall be deemed to be immediate), and provided 
further that such cure period shall only be available for the first such act of misconduct and/or breach of the same or substantially 
similar type, and subsequent acts of misconduct and/or breach of the same or substantially similar type shall constitute Cause 
without regard to Executive’s subsequent cure of same.

 
(b)  “Good Reason” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following events or conditions, unless Executive has 

expressly consented in writing thereto: 

 

(i) A material reduction in Executive’s Base Salary;

 

(ii) The material diminution of Executive’s duties, responsibilities, or authority, provided that 
Good Reason shall not exist under this clause (ii) if such diminution of authority, duties and responsibilities is a result of the 
hiring of additional subordinates to assume some of 
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Executive’s duties and responsibilities which are in fact, in the aggregate from time to time, not a material diminution of such 
authority, duties and responsibilities as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer;

 

(iii) The Company requires that Executive’s principal office location be moved to a location more 
than fifty (50) miles from Executive’s principal office location immediately before the change without Executive’s prior consent; 
or

 

(iv) A material breach by the Company of this Agreement or any other written agreement between 
the parties.

 
For purposes of this Agreement, Executive shall not have Good Reason for termination unless (i) Executive reasonably 
determines in good faith that a “Good Reason” condition has occurred; (ii) Executive notifies the Company in writing of the 
occurrence of the Good Reason condition within sixty (60) days of such occurrence; (iii) Executive cooperates in good faith with 
the Company’s efforts, for a period not less than thirty (30) days following such notice (the “Cure Period”), to cure the condition; 
(iv) notwithstanding such efforts, the Good Reason condition continues to exist following expiration of the Cure Period as 
determined by the Company; and (v) Executive terminates his employment within sixty (60) days after the end of the Cure 
Period. If the Company cures the Good Reason condition during the Cure Period, Good Reason shall be deemed not to have 
occurred.

 
3.8 Required Postponement for Specified Executives. If Executive is considered a “specified employee” (as defined

under Section 409A) and payment of any amounts under this Agreement is required to be delayed for a period of six (6) months 
after separation from service pursuant to Section 409A, payment of such amounts shall be delayed as required by Section 409A, 
and the accumulated postponed amounts shall be paid in a lump-sum payment within five (5) days after the end of the six (6) 
month period. If Executive dies during the postponement period prior to the payment of benefits, the amounts postponed on 
account of Section 409A shall be paid to the personal representative of Executive’s estate within thirty (30) days after the date of 
Executive’s death. 

 
4. Non-Exclusivity of Rights. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or limit Executive’s continuing or future 

participation in or rights under any benefit, bonus, incentive or other plan or program provided by the Company and for which 
Executive may qualify; provided, however, that if Executive becomes entitled to and receives the Severance provided for in 
Section 3 of this Agreement, Executive hereby waives Executive’s right to receive payments under any severance plan or similar 
program that would otherwise apply to Executive.  In the event of any inconsistency between this Agreement and any other plan, 
program or agreement in which Executive is a participant or a party, this Agreement shall control unless such other plan, program 
or agreement specifically refers to this Agreement as not so controlling.
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5. Confidentiality. Executive agrees that Executive’s services to the Company are of a special, unique and 
extraordinary character, and that Executive’s position places Executive in a position of confidence and trust with the Company’s 
customers, clients, vendors, suppliers, contractors, business partners and employees. Executive also recognizes that Executive’s 
position with the Company will give Executive substantial access to Confidential Information (as defined below), the 
unauthorized use or disclosure of which to competitors of the Company would cause the Company to suffer substantial and 
irreparable damage. Executive recognizes and agrees, therefore, that it is in the Company’s legitimate business interest to restrict 
Executive’s use of Confidential Information for any purposes other than the proper discharge of Executive’s employment duties 
for the Company, and to limit any potential appropriation of Confidential Information by Executive for the benefit of the 
Company’s competitors and/or to the detriment of the Company. Accordingly, Executive agrees as follows: 

 

(a) Executive shall not at any time, whether during or after the termination of Executive’s employment with the 
Company for any reason, reveal or disclose to any person or entity any of the trade secrets or confidential information of the 
Company, or the trade secrets or confidential information of any third party which the Company is under an obligation to keep 
confidential, including but not limited to trade secrets or confidential information respecting products, projects, designs, 
developmental or experimental work, computer programs, software, data bases, know-how, processes, formulas, customers, 
business partners, suppliers, business plans, marketing plans and strategies, finances, employee compensation, or personnel, 
information obtained from third parties under confidentiality agreements, and other business information (“Confidential 
Information”), except as may be required in the ordinary course of performing Executive’s duties as an employee of the 
Company, and Executive shall keep secret all Confidential Information entrusted to Executive and shall not use or attempt to use 
any such Confidential Information for personal gain or in any manner that may injure or cause loss, or could reasonably be 
expected to injure or cause loss, whether directly or indirectly, to the Company.

 

(b) The above restrictions shall not apply to: (i) information that at the time of disclosure is in the public domain 
through no fault of Executive; (ii) information received from a third party outside of the Company that was disclosed without a 
breach of any confidentiality obligation on the part of such third party; (iii) information released or disclosed by an authorized 
representative of the Company; or (iv) information that may be required by law or an order of any court, agency or proceeding to 
be disclosed; provided that Executive shall provide the Company prior written notice of any such required disclosure once 
Executive has knowledge of it and will help the Company to the extent reasonable to obtain an appropriate protective order. 
Moreover, the foregoing shall not limit Executive’s ability to (A) discuss the terms of Executive’s employment, wages and 
working conditions to the extent expressly protected by applicable law, (B) report possible violations of federal securities laws to 
the appropriate government enforcing agency and make such other disclosures that are expressly protected under federal or state 
“whistleblower” laws, or (C) respond to inquiries from, or otherwise cooperate with, any governmental or regulatory 
investigation or proceeding.
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(c) Executive agrees that during Executive’s employment with the Company Executive shall not take, use or permit 
to be used any records, data, notes, reports, proposals, lists, correspondence, computer code, specifications, drawings, blueprints, 
sketches, flow diagrams, materials, equipment, devices or any other documents or property (including photocopies or other 
reproductions of any of the aforesaid items) or other materials of any nature constituting Confidential Information or 
Developments (as defined below) otherwise than for the benefit of the Company. Executive further agrees that Executive shall 
not, after the termination of Executive’s employment for any reason, use or permit to be used any such records, data, notes, 
reports, proposals, lists, correspondence, computer code, specifications, drawings, blueprints, sketches, flow diagrams, materials,
equipment, devices or any other documents or property (including photocopies or other reproductions of any of the aforesaid 
items), it being agreed that all of the foregoing shall be and remain the sole and exclusive property of the Company and that, 
immediately upon the termination of Executive’s employment for any reason, Executive shall deliver all of the foregoing, and all 
copies thereof, to the Company, at its headquarters. 

 

(d) Executive agrees that upon the termination of Executive’s employment with the Company for any reason, 
Executive shall not take or retain without written authorization any documents, files or other property of the Company, and 
Executive will return promptly to the Company any such documents, files or property in Executive’s possession or custody, 
including any copies thereof maintained in any medium or format. Executive recognizes that all documents, files and property 
that Executive has received and will receive from the Company (with the exception of documents relating to benefits to which 
Executive might be entitled following the termination of Executive’s employment with the Company), are for the exclusive use 
of the Company and employees who are discharging their responsibilities on behalf of the Company, and that Executive has no 
claim or right to the continued use, possession or custody of such documents, files or property following the termination of 
Executive’s employment with the Company for any reason. 

 

(e) Pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016, Executive acknowledges that Executive will not have 
criminal or civil liability under any federal or state trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that (i) is made (A) in 
confidence to a federal, state, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney and (B) solely for the 
purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (ii) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a 
lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. 

 

6. Intellectual Property. 

 

(a) If at any time or times during Executive’s employment with the Company Executive shall (either alone or with 
others) make, conceive, discover or reduce to practice any invention, modification, discovery, design, development, 
improvement, process, software program, work of authorship, documentation, formula, data, technique, know-how, secret or 
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intellectual property right whatsoever or any interest therein (whether or not patentable or registrable under copyright or similar 
statutes or subject to analogous protection) (herein called “Developments”) that (i) relates to the business of the Company or any 
of the products or services being developed, manufactured or sold by the Company or which may be used in relation therewith, 
(ii) results from tasks assigned to Executive by the Company or (iii) results from the use of premises or personal property 
(whether tangible or intangible) owned, leased or contracted for by the Company, such Developments and the benefits thereof 
shall immediately become the sole and absolute property of the Company and its assigns, and Executive shall promptly disclose 
to the Company (or any persons designated by it) each such Development, and Executive hereby assigns any rights Executive 
may have or acquire in the Developments and benefits and/or rights resulting therefrom to the Company and its assigns without 
further compensation and shall communicate, without cost or delay, and without publishing the same, all available information 
relating thereto (with all necessary plans and models) to the Company.

 

(b) Upon disclosure of each Development to the Company, Executive will, during Executive’s employment and at 
any time thereafter, at the request and cost of the Company, sign, execute, make and do all such deeds, documents, acts and things 
as the Company and its duly authorized agents may reasonably require: 

 

(i) to apply for, obtain and vest in the name of the Company alone (unless the Company otherwise 
directs) letters patent, copyrights or other analogous protection in any country throughout the world and when so obtained or 
vested to renew and restore the same; and

 

(ii) to defend any opposition proceedings in respect of such applications and any opposition 
proceedings or petitions or applications for revocation of such letters patent, copyright or other analogous protection. 

 

(c) In the event the Company is unable, after reasonable effort, to secure Executive’s signature on any letters patent, 
copyright or other analogous protection relating to a Development, whether because of Executive’s physical or mental incapacity 
or for any other reason whatsoever, Executive hereby irrevocably designates and appoints the Company and its duly authorized 
officers and agents as Executive’s agent and attorney-in-fact for the sole purpose of acting for and on Executive’s behalf and in 
his stead to execute and file any such application or applications and to do all other lawfully permitted acts to further the 
prosecution and issuance of letters patent, copyright and other analogous protection thereon with the same legal force and effect 
as if executed by Executive. 

 

7. Non-Competition.  During Executive’s employment with the Company and for a period of twelve (12) months 
after termination of Executive’s employment (for any reason whatsoever, whether voluntary or involuntary) (the “Non-
Competition Period”), Executive shall not, without 
	 	 _______
	 	 Executive’s Initials
 



 

the prior written approval of the Board, whether alone or as a partner, officer, director, consultant, agent, employee, representative 
or stockholder of any company, entity, or other commercial enterprise, or in any other capacity, directly or indirectly engage in 
the business of developing, manufacturing, marketing, selling and otherwise providing products, hardware, software, materials 
and support services relating to traffic control solutions, which include without limitation, photo, speed and red light automated 
enforcement technologies, parking systems, parking enforcement, electronic toll collection, toll and traffic violation enforcement 
management, automated revenue collection processing systems and software, related transaction processing operations for any of 
the foregoing, and any other products or services offered, conducted, authorized or provided by the Company during the last 
twelve (12) months of Executive’s employment (the “Business”), in any geographic regions for which Executive was 
responsible, or performed duties, on behalf of the Company during the last twelve (12) months of Executive’s employment, or in 
any geographic region in which the Company engaged in such business, or had developed plans to engage in such business, 
during the last twelve (12) months of Executive’s employment . 

 

The foregoing Non-Competition prohibition shall not prevent Executive’s employment or engagement after termination of 
Executive’s employment by any company or business organization, so long as the activities of any such employment or 
engagement, in any capacity, do not involve work on matters related to the Business. Executive shall be permitted to own 
securities of a public company not in excess of five percent (5%) of any class of such securities and to own stock, partnership 
interests or other securities of any entity not in excess of five percent (5%) of any class of such securities and such ownership 
shall not be considered to be in competition with the Company. 

 

8. Non-Solicitation. During Executive’s employment with the Company and for a period of eighteen (18) months 
after termination of such employment (for any reason, whether voluntary or involuntary), Executive agrees that Executive will 
not: 

 

(a) directly or indirectly (i) solicit, entice or induce, or attempt to solicit, entice or induce, any customer or client to 
become a customer or client of any other person, firm or corporation with respect to any products or services then sold, offered, 
or under development by the Company, or (ii) solicit, entice or induce, or attempt to solicit, entice or induce any customer, client, 
vendor, supplier, contractor, or business development partner to cease doing business with or any in way reduce or impair its 
business relationship with the Company, and Executive shall not approach or contact any such person, firm or corporation for 
such purpose or authorize or knowingly approve the taking of such actions by any other person; or

 

(b) directly or indirectly (i) solicit or recruit, or attempt to solicit or recruit, any employee, consultant or contractor 
of the Company to terminate employment or otherwise cease providing services to the Company or (ii) solicit or recruit, or 
attempt to solicit or recruit, any employee to work for or provide services to a third party other than the Company; and Executive 
	 	 _______
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shall not approach any such person for such purpose or authorize or knowingly approve the taking of such actions by any other 
person. 

 

9. Non-Disparagement.  During Executive’s employment and at all times following Executive’s termination of 
employment for any reason, Executive agrees not to make, or knowingly cause to be made, any public disparaging statement or 
public communication, written or oral, concerning the Company, or otherwise impugn the business or management of, damage 
the reputation of, or interfere with the normal operations of the Company or any of its respective past or present employees, 
executives, officers, directors, shareholders, members, managers, principals, or representatives.  The foregoing prohibitions 
include, without limitation, (i) non-verbal comments or statements made on the Internet, including without limitation, on blogs, 
forums, social media platforms, review or rating sites, or any Internet site or online message board (including but not limited to 
LinkedIn and GlassDoor); and (ii) comments or statements to any person or entity, including without limitation, to the press or 
media, the Company, or any entity, customer, client, vendor, supplier, consultant or contractor with whom the Company has, has 
had or may in the future have a business relationship, that would in any way adversely affect the conduct of the business of the 
Company (including but not limited to any business plans or prospects) or the reputation of the Company or the aforementioned 
persons (including without limitation former and present employees of the Company).  Nothing in this provision or elsewhere in 
this Agreement shall (a) affect the parties’ obligation to provide truthful information as may be required by law, rule, regulation 
or legal process, or as requested by any legal or regulatory authority, (b) unlawfully impair or interfere with Executive’s rights 
under Section 7 of the National Labor Relations Act, or (c) impair or in any way interfere with the Company’s ability to engage 
in intra-Company communications between or among officers, members of the Board, and/or their advisors related to Executive’s 
compensation, retention, and/or job performance.

 

10. General Provisions. 

 

(a) Executive acknowledges and agrees that, for purposes of Sections 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9 of this Agreement, the term 
“Company” shall include Verra Mobility Corporation, VM Consolidated, Inc., and their direct and indirect subsidiaries and 
affiliates. 

 

(b) Executive acknowledges and agrees that the type and periods of restrictions imposed in Sections 7 and 8 of this 
Agreement are fair, reasonable and no greater than necessary to protect the Company’s legitimate business interests, and that such 
restrictions are intended solely to protect the legitimate interests of the Company, including its Confidential Information, 
goodwill (client, customer, employee, and otherwise), and business interests, and shall not in any way prevent Executive from 
earning a livelihood or impose upon Executive undue hardship. Executive recognizes and agrees that the Company competes and 
provides its products and services in numerous jurisdictions throughout the word, and that Executive’s access to Confidential 
Information makes it both reasonable and necessary for the Company to restrict 
	 	 _______
	 	 Executive’s Initials
 



 

Executive’s post-employment activities in any geographic market in which the Company competes or is developing plans to 
compete, and in which Executive’s access to Confidential Information and other proprietary information could be used to the 
detriment of the Company and for which the Company would have no adequate remedy at law. In the event that any restriction 
set forth in this Agreement is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be overbroad or unenforceable with respect to 
scope, time (duration), or geographical coverage, Executive agrees that such restriction or restrictions shall be modified and 
narrowed, either by such court of competent jurisdiction, or by the Company, to the least extent possible under applicable law for 
such restriction or restrictions to be enforceable so as to preserve and protect the legitimate interests of the Company as described 
in this Agreement, and without negating or impairing any other restrictions or agreements set forth herein. 

 

(c) Executive acknowledges and agrees that should Executive breach any of the covenants, restrictions and 
agreements contained herein, irreparable loss and injury would result to the Company, monetary relief would not compensate for 
such breach, and damages arising out of such a breach would be difficult to fully ascertain. Executive therefore agrees that, in 
addition to any and all other remedies available at law or at equity, the Company shall be entitled to have the covenants, 
restrictions and agreements contained in Sections 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9 specifically enforced (including, without limitation, by 
temporary, preliminary, and permanent injunctions and restraining orders), without the need to post any bond or security, by any 
state or federal court in the State of Arizona having equity jurisdiction, and Executive agrees to be subject to the jurisdiction of 
such court and hereby waives any objection to the jurisdiction or venue thereof. 

 

(d) Executive agrees that if the Company fails to take action to remedy any breach by Executive of this Agreement 
or any portion of the Agreement, such inaction by the Company shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of such breach or of 
any subsequent or other breach by Executive of the same or any other provision, agreement or covenant.

 

(e) Executive acknowledges and agrees that the payments and benefits to be provided to Executive under this 
Agreement are provided as, and constitute sufficient and adequate, consideration for the covenants in Sections 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9 
hereof. 
 

(f) Executive’s obligations under Sections 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9 shall survive the termination of Executive’s employment 
in accordance with their terms and shall remain in effect despite any change in position, title, duties, compensation, or other terms 
and conditions of Executive’s employment. The existence of a claim by Executive against Company, whether predicated on this 
Agreement or otherwise, shall not relieve Executive of Executive’s obligations under Sections 5, 6, 7, 8 or 9 or make them 
unenforceable.
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11. Representations and Warranties. Executive represents and warrants the following to the Company, each of 
which Executive acknowledges is a material inducement to the Company’s willingness to enter into this Agreement and a 
material provision of this Agreement:

 

(a) Other than as previously disclosed in writing or provided to the Company, Executive is not a party to or bound 
by any employment agreements, restrictive covenants, non-compete restrictions, non-solicitation restrictions, and/or 
confidentiality or non-disclosure agreements with any other person, business or entity, or any agreement or contract requiring 
Executive to assign inventions to another party (each, a “Restrictive Agreement”), and Executive has conducted a thorough 
review of any and all agreements he may have entered into with any current or former employer or any other relevant party to
ensure that this representation and warranty is correct.

 

(b) No Restrictive Agreement prohibits, restricts, limits or otherwise affects Executive’s employment with the 
Company as an executive or ability to perform any of Executive’s duties or responsibilities for the Company as contemplated 
herein. 

 

(c) Executive has not made any material misrepresentation or omission in the course of his communications with 
the Company regarding the Restrictive Agreements or other obligations to any current or former employer or other third party.

 
(d) Executive has not, directly or indirectly, removed, downloaded, or copied any confidential or proprietary 

information or records of any current or former employer (or their subsidiaries and/or affiliates) without the express written 
consent of an authorized representative of such entity, and shall not use or possess, as of the date Executive begins employment 
and at all times during his employment with the Company, any confidential or proprietary information or records of any current 
or former employer (or their subsidiaries and/or affiliates), whether in hard copy or electronic form, including, but not limited to, 
documents, files, disks, or other materials, all of which Executive is prohibited from using in connection with his employment 
with the Company.

 

12. Survivorship. The respective rights and obligations of the parties under this Agreement, including but not 
limited to those rights and obligations set forth in Sections 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9, shall survive termination of Executive’s employment 
and any termination of this Agreement for any reason to the extent necessary to the intended preservation of such rights and 
obligations.

 

13. Notices. All notices and other communications required or permitted under this Agreement or necessary or 
convenient in connection herewith shall be in writing and shall be 
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deemed to have been given when hand-delivered or mailed by registered or certified mail, as follows (provided that notice of 
change of address shall be deemed given only when received): 

If to the Company, to: 

VM Consolidated, Inc. 
1150 North Alma School Road 
Mesa, AZ 85201 
Attn: General Counsel

If to Executive, to: 
 
The address of his principal residence most recently on file with the Company.

 
or to such other names or addresses as the Company or Executive, as the case may be, shall designate by notice to each other 
person entitled to receive notices in the manner specified in this Section. 
 

14. Contents of Agreement, Amendment, Interpretation and Assignment. 

 

(a) This Agreement sets forth the entire understanding between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter 
hereof and supersedes any and all prior agreements and understandings concerning Executive’s employment by the Company and 
cannot be changed or modified except upon written amendment approved by the Board and executed on its behalf by a duly 
authorized officer and by Executive.

 

(b) The headings in this Agreement are for convenience only, and both parties agree that they shall not be construed 
or interpreted to modify or affect the construction or interpretation of any provision of this Agreement. 

 

(c) All of the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of and be 
enforceable by the respective heirs, executors, administrators, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto, 
except that the duties and responsibilities of Executive under this Agreement are of a personal nature and shall not be assignable 
or delegable in whole or in part by Executive. 

 

15. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or application thereof to anyone or under any circumstances is 
adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such invalidity or 
unenforceability shall not affect any other provision or application of this Agreement that can be given effect without the invalid 
or unenforceable provision or application and shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision or application in any 
other jurisdiction. If any provision is held void, invalid or 
	 	 _______
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unenforceable with respect to particular circumstances, it shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect in all other 
circumstances.

 

16. Remedies Cumulative; No Waiver. No remedy conferred upon a party by this Agreement is intended to be 
exclusive of any other remedy, and each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to any other remedy 
given under this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity. No delay or omission by a party in exercising any 
right, remedy or power under this Agreement or existing at law or in equity shall operate or be construed as a waiver thereof, and 
any such right, remedy or power may be exercised by such party from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient or 
necessary by such party in its sole discretion. 

 

17. Withholding. All payments under this Agreement shall be made subject to applicable tax withholding, and the 
Company shall withhold from any payments under this Agreement all federal, state and local taxes as the Company is required to 
withhold pursuant to any law or governmental rule or regulation. Executive shall bear all expense of, and be solely responsible 
for, all federal, state and local taxes due with respect to any payment received under this Agreement other than such taxes that 
are, by their nature, obligations of the Company (for example, and without limitation, the employer portion of the Federal 
Insurance Contributions Act (FICA) taxes).

 

18. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which is an original. It shall not be 
necessary in making proof of this Agreement or any counterpart hereof to produce or account for any of the other counterparts. 
Facsimile signatures and signatures transmitted by PDF shall be equivalent to original signatures.

 

19. Governing Law; Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted under the laws of the 
State of Arizona without giving effect to (i) any conflicts-of-law provisions or choice of law provisions of the State of Arizona or 
of any other jurisdiction which provisions (if applied) would result in the application of the laws of any other jurisdiction other 
than of the State of Arizona, or (ii) canons of construction or principles of law that construe agreements against the draftsperson. 
Each party hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the United States District Court located in Arizona or any
state court located within such state, in respect of any claim, dispute, or controversy in any way arising out of or relating to this
Agreement or Executive’s employment with the Company or the termination thereof, and each party hereby waives, and agrees 
not to assert as a defense in any action, suit or proceeding in which any such claim is made, that such party is not subject thereto 
or that such action, suit or proceeding may not be brought or is not maintainable in such courts or that the venue thereof may not 
be appropriate or that this Agreement may not be enforced in or by such courts. Any appellate proceedings shall take place in the 
appropriate courts having appellate jurisdiction over the courts set forth in this Section.
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20. Section 409A. This Agreement is intended to comply with or otherwise be exempt from Section 409A and its 
corresponding regulations, to the extent applicable, and shall be so construed. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the 
contrary, payments of “nonqualified deferred compensation” subject to Section 409A may only be made under this Agreement 
upon an event and in a manner permitted by Section 409A, to the extent applicable. For purposes of Section 409A, all payments 
of “nonqualified deferred compensation” subject to Section 409A to be made upon the termination of Executive’s employment 
under this Agreement may only be made upon a “separation from service” under Section 409A. Each payment made under this 
Agreement shall be treated as a separate payment and the right to a series of installment payments under this Agreement is to be 
treated as a right to a series of separate payments. In no event shall Executive, directly or indirectly, designate the calendar year 
of payment with respect to any amount that is “nonqualified deferred compensation” subject to Section 409A. All 
reimbursements provided under this Agreement that are “nonqualified deferred compensation” that is subject to Section 409A 
shall be made or provided in accordance with Section 409A, including, where applicable, the requirements that (a) any 
reimbursement is for expenses incurred during the Employment Period (or during such other time period specified in this 
Agreement), (b) the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement during a calendar year may not affect the expenses eligible 
for reimbursement in any other calendar year, (c) the reimbursement of an eligible expense will be made on or before the last day 
of the taxable year following the year in which the expense is incurred, and (d) the right to reimbursement is not subject to 
liquidation or exchange for another benefit. Nothing herein shall be construed as having modified the time and form of payment 
of any amounts or payments of “nonqualified deferred compensation” within the meaning Section 409A that were otherwise 
payable pursuant to the terms of any agreement between Company and Executive in effect prior to the date of this Agreement.

 

21. Section 280G of the Code. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement or any other plan, 
arrangement or agreement to the contrary, if any of the payments or benefits provided or to be provided by the Company or any 
of its affiliates to Executive or for Executive’s benefit pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or otherwise (the “Covered 
Payments”) constitute parachute payments (the “Parachute Payments”) within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code and, 
but for this Section 21, would be subject to the excise tax imposed under Section 4999 of the Code (or any successor provision 
thereto) or any similar tax imposed by state or local law or any interest or penalties with respect to such taxes (collectively, the 
“Excise Tax”), then prior to making the Covered Payments, a calculation shall be made comparing (i) the Net Benefit (as defined 
below) to Executive of the Covered Payments after payment of the Excise Tax to (ii) the Net Benefit to Executive if the Covered 
Payments are limited to the extent necessary to avoid being subject to the Excise Tax. Only if the amount calculated under (i) 
above is less than the amount under (ii) above will the Covered Payments be reduced to the minimum extent necessary to ensure 
that no portion of the Covered Payments is subject to the Excise Tax (that amount, the “Reduced Amount”). “Net Benefit” shall 
mean the present value of the Covered Payments net of all federal, state, local, foreign income, employment and excise taxes. 

 
i. Any such reduction shall be made in accordance with Section 409A and the following:
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1. the Covered Payments consisting of cash severance benefits that do not constitute nonqualified 

deferred compensation subject to Section 409A shall be reduced first, in reverse chronological order; and
 

2. all other Covered Payments consisting of cash payments, and Covered Payments consisting of 
accelerated vesting of equity based awards to which Treas. Reg. §1.280G-1 Q/A-24(c) does not apply, and that in either case do 
not constitute nonqualified deferred compensation subject to Section 409A, shall be reduced second, in reverse chronological 
order;

 
3. all Covered Payments consisting of cash payments that constitute nonqualified deferred 

compensation subject to Section 409A shall be reduced third, in reverse chronological order; and
 

4. all Covered Payments consisting of accelerated vesting of equity-based awards to which Treas. 
Reg. § 1.280G-1 Q/A-24(c) applies shall be the last Covered Payments to be reduced.
 

ii. Any determination required under this Section 21 shall be made in writing in good faith by an independent 
accounting firm selected by the Company and reasonably acceptable to the Executive (the “Accountants”). The Company and 
Executive shall provide the Accountants with such information and documents as the Accountants may reasonably request in 
order to make a determination under this Section 21. For purposes of making the calculations and determinations required by this 
Section 21, the Accountants may rely on reasonable, good-faith assumptions and approximations concerning the application of 
Section 280G and Section 4999 of the Code. The Accountants’ determinations shall be final and binding on the Company and 
Executive. The Company shall be responsible for all fees and expenses incurred by the Accountants in connection with the 
calculations required by this Section 21.
 

iii. It is possible that after the determinations and selections made pursuant to this Section 21 Executive will receive 
Covered Payments that are in the aggregate more than the amount intended or required to be provided after application of this 
Section 21 (“Overpayment”) or less than the amount intended or required to be provided after application of this Section 21 
(“Underpayment”). 
 

1. In the event that: (A) the Accountants determine, based upon the assertion of a deficiency by 
the Internal Revenue Service against either the Company or Executive that the Accountants believe has a high probability of 
success, that an Overpayment has been made or (B) it is established pursuant to a final determination of a court or an Internal 
Revenue Service proceeding that has been finally and conclusively resolved that an Overpayment has been made, then Executive 
shall pay any such Overpayment to the Company together with interest at the applicable federal rate (as defined in Section 
7872(f)(2)(A) of the Code) from the date of Executive’s receipt of the Overpayment until the date of repayment.
 

2. In the event that: (A) the Accountants, based upon controlling precedent or substantial 
authority, determine that an Underpayment has occurred or (B) a court of competent jurisdiction determines that an 
Underpayment has occurred, any such Underpayment will be paid 
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promptly by the Company to or for the benefit of Executive together with interest at the applicable federal rate (as defined in 
Section 7872(f)(2)(A) of the Code) from the date the amount should have otherwise been paid to Executive until the payment 
date. 

 

 

[Signature Page Follows.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned, intending to be legally bound, have executed this Agreement as of the date 

first above written.  
 

 
     
VM CONSOLIDATED, INC.
   
By:     /s/ David Roberts_____
Name:    David Roberts
Title:    Chief Executive Officer
Date:     January 28, 2022         _
 
 
 
_/s/ Craig Conti     _______________
CRAIG CONTI
 
Date:	 _January 29, 2022__________
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EXHIBIT A

 
Executive Domestic Relocation Package Benefits

Summary of Coverage
 

Concierge Coordination
• Third-party Account Executive assigned as single point-of-contact for all relocation services

Home-finding Trip
• Lodging, up to 5 days/4 nights
• Round-trip Economy Airfare, for employee and partner
• $50 Meal Allowance per day, per person, up to 2 people

Home Sale
• Buyer Value Option (BVO): company pays commission and closing costs on a tax-free basis
• Home marketing assistance, up to 180 days

Shipment of Household Goods
• Packing, shipment, and partial unpack of household goods
• Storage, up to 60 days
• Shipment of 1 car, if transport distance is over 500 miles, up to $1,000
• Shipment of 2 cars, if transport distance is over 1,000 miles, up to $2,000

Move Trip
• Mileage reimbursement or Economy Airfare, for employee and immediate family dependents

Temporary Living (if required to move before establishing new residence)
• Lodging, up to 60 days
• Rental car until car(s) arrive, up to 14 days

Home Purchase
• Company pays closing costs, up to 1% of the purchase price
• Real Estate agent referral

Tax Assistance
• Gross-up of taxable relocation expenses
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Exhibit 10.26

VERRA MOBILITY CORPORATION
NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION POLICY

Last updated February 17, 2022

Each member of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Verra Mobility Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the 
“Company”) who is not an employee of the Company or subsidiary of the Company (each “Non-Employee Director”) shall be 
subject to, and eligible to receive cash and equity compensation for their service on the Board and any committee thereof 
(“Committee”) in accordance with this Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy (the “Policy”). For the avoidance of doubt, 
the Policy shall not apply to members of the Board who are employees of the Company or any subsidiary of the Company. This 
Policy shall remain in effect until it is amended or rescinded by further action of the Board.
General

This Policy shall be followed in connection with all compensation paid by the Company to Non-Employee Directors, 
including, without limitation, amounts paid or awards granted under The Verra Mobility 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). 
Non-Employee Directors shall not be entitled to any compensation for their service on the Board other than as described in this 
Policy and the Plan.
Cash Compensation

Each Non-Employee Director shall be entitled to the following cash compensation:
Annual Cash Retainers

Each Non-Employee Director shall receive an annual cash retainer of $60,000 for their service on the Board.

The Non-Executive Chairman of the Board shall receive an additional cash retainer of $60,000.
The Chairman of any Committee shall receive an additional annual cash retainer as follows:

· Chairman of the Audit Committee: $20,000.
· Chairman of the Compensation Committee: $15,000.
· Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee: $10,000.

Members of each Committee shall receive additional annual cash retainers as follows:
· Member of the Audit Committee (other than the Chairman): $10,000.

· Member of the Compensation Committee (other than the Chairman): $7,500.
· Member of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee (other than the Chairman): $4,000.
Each Non-Employee Director who serves on the Board or a Committee for less than a full quarterly period shall receive 

a prorated portion of the annual cash retainer for such quarterly period, determined based on the number of days served during 
the quarterly period.

 



 
The annual cash retainers, including any pro rata portion thereof, shall be paid either annually, in arrears, or quarterly in 

arrears at the election of the respective Non-Employee Director.
Equity Compensation

Annual Equity Grant
On the close of business on the date of each annual stockholders meeting of the Company, without further action by the

Board, each Non-Employee Director then in office shall receive an equity award (the “Annual Award”). The Annual Award will 
have an estimated fair value of $130,000 using valuation methodologies deemed appropriate by the Compensation Committee of 
the Board or the Board from time to time, in light of commercial considerations deemed necessary to fulfill the goals set forth in 
this Policy and to align directors with stockholder interests. The Annual Award will be comprised of Restricted Stock Units 
which will vest in full upon the earlier of (i) the first anniversary of the vesting start date or (ii) the date immediately prior to the 
Company’s next annual meeting of stockholders.

Each Non-Employee Director who is appointed to the Board during the year shall be entitled to a pro-rated annual equity 
award, determined based on the number of days between the date the Non-Employee Director joins the Board and the anticipated 
date of the next annual shareholders meeting.

All equity awards will be made in accordance with the Plan and other applicable equity plan documents, including forms 
of award agreements approved by the Board for grants to Non-Employee Directors consistent with this Policy.

Travel Expense Reimbursement
Each Non-Employee Director shall be reimbursed for reasonable travel expenses in connection with their attendance at 

Board and Committee meetings. Each Non-Employee Director shall provide the Company with such receipts and other records 
related to such reimbursable expenses as the Company may require. Reimbursements shall be paid in accordance with the 
payment requirements set out in the Plan.

Insider Trading
Non-Employee Directors are subject to the Company’s Insider Trading Policy.

Hedging Stock Ownership

Non-Employee Directors are prohibited from entering into hedging transactions or similar arrangements regarding their
Company securities pursuant to the Company’s Insider Trading Policy.

Interpretation
The Compensation Committee is authorized to interpret and construe this Policy and to make all determinations 

necessary, appropriate or advisable for the administration of this Policy. Any interpretation made by the Compensation 
Committee shall be final, conclusive and binding.
Review of Policy

The Compensation Committee shall review this Policy at least annually and may recommend any modifications to the 
Board. The Board will determine any changes to be made to this Policy based on the Compensation Committee’s 
recommendations.
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Adopted by the Board of Directors of Verra Mobility Corporation on February 17, 2022

3
	 	  



Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiaries of Verra Mobility Corporation

Entity   Jurisdiction of Formation
American Traffic Solutions Consolidated, L.L.C.   Delaware
American Traffic Solutions, Inc.   Kansas
American Traffic Solutions, L.L.C.   Delaware
ATS Processing Services, L.L.C.   Delaware
ATS Tolling LLC   Delaware
Auto Tag of America LLC   Delaware
Auto Titles of America LLC   Delaware
Canadian Highway Toll Administration Ltd.   British Columbia
Citation Collection Services, LLC   Indiana
Contractum Ltd   England & Wales
EPC Finance Limited   England & Wales
EPC Hungary Kft   Hungary
Euro Parking Collection PLC   England & Wales
Fourlev Limited   Israel
Greenlight Acquisition Corporation   Delaware
Greenlight Holding Corporation   Delaware
Greenlight Intermediate Holding Corporation   Delaware
Highway Toll Administration, LLC   New York
LaserCraft, Inc.   Georgia
Mulvihill ICS, Inc.   New York
Pagatelia, S.L.   Spain
PlatePass, L.L.C.   Delaware
Redflex Enforcement Services Pty Ltd   Victoria
Redflex Guardian, Inc.   Delaware
Redflex Holdings Pty Ltd   Victoria
Redflex Irish Investments Pty Ltd   Victoria
Redflex Pty Ltd   Victoria
Redflex Traffic Pty Ltd   Victoria
Redflex Traffic Systems (California), Inc.   California
Redflex Traffic Systems (Canada) Limited   British Columbia
Redflex Traffic Systems India Private Limited   India
Redflex Traffic Systems Limited   England & Wales
Redflex Traffic Systems Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.   Malaysia
Redflex Traffic Systems Pty Ltd   Victoria
Redflex Traffic Systems, Inc.   Delaware
Road Safety Operations Holdings Unlimited*   Ireland
RTS R&D Pty Ltd   Victoria
Sunshine State Tag Agency LLC   Delaware
T2 Holding Corp.   Delaware
T2 Systems Canada Inc.   British Columbia
T2 Systems Parent Corporation   Delaware
T2 Systems, Inc.   Indiana
Toll Buddy, LLC   Delaware

 
 



 
Traffic Operating Services (Saudi Arabia) LLC   Saudi Arabia
Transtoll Pty Ltd   Victoria
United Public Safety, Inc.   Pennsylvania
Verra Mobility B.V.   Netherlands
Verra Mobility Electrical Enterprises, Inc.   New York
Verra Mobility France SAS   France
Verra Mobility Holdings, LLC   Delaware
Verra Mobility Ireland Limited   Ireland
Violation Management Solutions, LLC   Delaware
VM Consolidated, Inc.   Delaware

 
* Where ownership of a subsidiary is less than 100% by Verra Mobility Corporation or a Verra Mobility Corporation subsidiary, such has been noted by an asterisk (*).
 



 
Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

(1)	 Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-230378) pertaining to the Verra Mobility Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive Plan,



(2)	 Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-260822);

of our reports dated April 22, 2022, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Verra Mobility Corporation, and the effectiveness 
of internal control over financial reporting of Verra Mobility Corporation, included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 
2021.



 

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP



Phoenix, Arizona



April 22, 2022

 

 
 



 
EXHIBIT 31.1

 
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, David Roberts, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Verra Mobility Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make 
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered 
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) 
and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; 
and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, 
to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.

 
Date: April 22, 2022 By:/s/ David Roberts
    David Roberts

   
President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

 
 
 



 
EXHIBIT 31.2

 
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Patricia Chiodo, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Verra Mobility Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make 
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered 
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) 
and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; 
and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, 
to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.

 
Date: April 22, 2022 By:/s/ Patricia Chiodo
    Patricia Chiodo

   
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

 
 
 



 
EXHIBIT 32.1

 
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, David Roberts, President, Chief Executive Officer and Director of Verra Mobility Corporation, do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as 
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Verra Mobility Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2021 (“Annual Report”), as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 
Verra Mobility Corporation.

 
 
Date: April 22, 2022 By:   /s/ David Roberts
      David Roberts
      President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director
      (Principal Executive Officer)
 
 



 
EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
I, Patricia Chiodo, Chief Financial Officer of Verra Mobility Corporation, do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Verra Mobility Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2021 (“Annual Report”), as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 
Verra Mobility Corporation.

 
 
Date: April 22, 2022 By:   /s/ Patricia Chiodo
      Patricia Chiodo
      Chief Financial Officer
      (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
 
 




